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AGL Resources serves 2.2 million natural gas customers in six states through its utility subsidiaries. We provide asset management

services to natural gas wholesale customers throughout the East and Midwest through our subsidiary, Sequent Energy Management.

We market natural gas to customers in Georgia under the Georgia Natural Gas brand through a 70% ownership in SouthStar Energy

Services. We own and operate other energy investments, among them Pivotal Jefferson Island Storage & Hub, a high-deliverability

natural gas storage facility near the Henry Hub in Louisiana.



Year after year, AGL Resources has impressed the skeptics. We’ve con-

tinually increased consolidated earnings and improved customer service

while operating within the regulated environment that governs our utilities.

And we’ve continued to decrease expenses through a combination of busi-

ness process improvements and discipline around capital spending. Our

commitment to business integrity is strong. Our goals are clear. We stick

to them. The result is an energy services holding company with a strong

record of long-term, sustained performance that clearly distinguishes us

from the pack.

5 years ago, we announced we were
going to radically transform our
company into a value-generating
institution for our shareholders.
Some were doubtful. But with the
hands we’ve played so far, we’ve
proven our ability to deliver.
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A strategic combination

(l to r)
Patrick Strange
Senior Vice President 
Commercial Operations
Sequent Energy Management

Justin Harris
Distribution Crew Member
Chattanooga Gas

Opal Shields
Region Manager
Atlanta Gas Light 
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Sales and distribution of natural gas to end-use customers. Wholesale

asset management. Energy investments. AGL Resources’ strategic

business triangle continues to benefit customers and shareholders.

We manage day-to-day operations of our six natural gas utilities, which span the Eastern Seaboard

from Florida to New Jersey, to generate annuity-like earnings and achieve our authorized rates 

of return. Our combined size has enabled us to achieve significant economies of scale that 

have provided considerable benefits for consumers and shareholders as well as a framework 

for future growth.

The asset management activities of Sequent Energy Management, our wholesale services sub-

sidiary, have returned money to ratepayers and strengthened our bottom line through efficient

management of our energy asset portfolio. Sequent’s extensive knowledge of the gas industry

also benefited our distribution operations and played a critical role in the aftermath of Hurricanes

Katrina and Rita last September. With gas supplies curtailed to Florida, Sequent maintained

supply requirements at Florida City Gas with no service loss to customers. 

Two years ago, we recognized that traditional supply options needed to adapt to changing

customer usage, and that peaking supplies would become critical to meeting customer demand.

We began work on energy investments that would meet peaking needs and provide us with

growth opportunities around our core businesses. In 2005, our Jefferson Island and peaking

propane facilities helped achieve these objectives. And SouthStar, our retail energy investment,

continues to be a leading Georgia marketer in both service and sales. 



of a kind

Consecutive dividend increases.
Our strong cash position and anticipated cash flow gave us the

opportunity to raise our dividend for the fourth time in three years,

bringing our yield in line with the utility peer group. At an indicated

annual dividend of $1.48 per share, our dividend is clearly supported

by earnings yet preserves adequate capacity for investment in new

projects. We have delivered on our promise to achieve returns in

line with our long-term value proposition through the combination

of a competitive dividend yield and consistent earnings growth.
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Another year of strong EPS growth.
We have produced more than five consecutive years of strong

earnings per share (EPS) growth through a combination of strate-

gic decisions and business improvements. Our track record incor-

porates the acquisition and efficient integration of assets such 

as Virginia Natural Gas, NUI Corporation and Jefferson Island; a

restructured SouthStar partnership and streamlined operations to

achieve consistent earnings contributions; Sequent’s growing

capabilities as an asset manager for both affiliates and nonaffili-

ates; and a consistent focus on strict adherence to regulatory

structures and relationships to ensure that both customers and

shareholders benefit from our rigorous drive toward operational

efficiencies and customer service improvements. 
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SouthStar Energy Services
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AGL Resources believes a successful company is one where

employees have a profound commitment to the success of the

business and to one another. Our people demonstrate this

commitment daily. Whether we service meters, schedule cus-

tomer appointments from the call center, move gas through

pipelines in the Midwest, manage a business division or evalu-

ate potential growth opportunities, we benchmark ourselves

against the best and pursue excellence in everything we do.

Then we try to do it even better. 

We value execution, imagination and productive innovation at

every level, from the front line to top management. Our people

are the source and driver of the ideas that make us better, and

we continue to invest in their development because they are our

future leaders. 

We’re clear about our commitments—to our customers, our

investors, our communities, and our regulators and public pol-

icy makers—and we keep those commitments. We live and

work by our core values: be honest, practice generosity of

spirit, seek value and consistently work inside the lines.

We dedicate ourselves to outstanding service, superior

business results, committed citizenship and the reli-

able, safe and transparent delivery of a high-quality

product. Good enough is not what we’re here for.

We aim to set the standard.

(standing l to r)
Kinechie Johnson
Customer Service Team Leader
AGL Resources

Randy Stern
Distribution Crew Member
Virginia Natural Gas

Ralph Cleveland
Senior Vice President
Engineering and Operations
AGL Resources

Dat Tran
Chief Counsel
Unregulated Businesses
AGL Resources

Jose Caballero
Field Service Representative
Florida City Gas



wild card

AGL Resources’ extensive crisis management plan is prepared

to handle natural disasters—including hurricanes, a common

threat in our service territories. Still, no one could have fore-

seen the level and breadth of destruction brought by the triple

impact of Katrina, Rita and Wilma in 2005. Nevertheless, our

company worked successfully with the hand nature dealt us.

As Rita headed for Houston, Sequent moved its trading and

scheduling operations out of the hurricane’s path. Working

closely with AGL Resources’ technology personnel in Georgia

and Texas, Sequent’s temporary offices—located 250 miles

north of Houston—were up and fully functioning the next

morning. We also brought along employees’ families and pets

so that our people could concentrate on doing their jobs

assured of their loved ones’ safety. 

Functioning from a hotel conference room, our schedulers

were able to track and confirm critical gas flows around the

clock. Natural gas was dispatched from Sequent’s managed

and controlled resources, allowing us to serve customers when

many of our competitors were unable to do so. To meet strong

gas-fired power plant demand for electricity, Sequent directed

gas from the Midwest and Northeast to the Southeast by

continually rerouting gas on each pipeline nomination cycle. In

spite of the challenges, we kept gas flowing to areas where it

was most needed in a devastated landscape.

Jefferson Island also stepped up contingency planning in

preparation for Katrina, helping interstate pipeline owners

safely secure gas supplies in the anticipated path of the storm.

Despite extensive flooding following Rita, Jefferson Island was

up and serving customers within a couple of days.



Customers per employee

Service orders worked per employee per day
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NUI Acquisition

We acquired NUI in November 2004 with a clear line of sight

for consolidating its operations into our own and achieving

the associated earnings benefit. We accomplished our goals

ahead of schedule and within our capital spending budget for

technology improvements.

We continue to apply the same operations model across our

organization to ensure that our six utilities operate under fully

integrated business processes and achieve the highest pos-

sible customer service standards. As a result of deploying new

technology companywide—part of our integration strategy—

we now have a scalable platform that supports future growth.

Our intense focus on providing the best customer service, 

the cornerstone of this strategy, will also serve us well from 

a regulatory standpoint as we seek to become the “operator

of choice” when consolidation opportunities arise. 

high card
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2our shareholders

Throughout 2005, AGL Resources continued to execute on our

proven strategy to provide value-oriented investors with a

superior investment proposition in the energy sector. Building

on our strategic 2004 acquisitions of NUI Corporation and

Jefferson Island Storage & Hub, we focused on generating

significant cost savings and efficiencies from a larger and

more geographically diverse portfolio. In addition, we contin-

ued implementation of a process improvement and technology

platform that enhances the scalability of our operations. This

will create an advantage as we pursue future growth and

long-term shareholder value. 

Financial Performance

The results of those efforts are clear. We grew earnings 9% to 

a record $2.50 per share in 2005. Our improved cash flow out-

look enabled our Board of Directors to raise our annual dividend

19% in November 2005, to an indicated annual dividend of

$1.48 per share. This increase marked the fourth raise in three

years, moving our payout ratio closer to the peer group average

and ensuring a competitive dividend yield relative to alternative

investments. Total return to shareholders for the year, including

reinvested dividends, was 8.6%, outperforming the S&P 500

(up 4.9%) and our peer group average (up 1.5%). Significantly,

this growth came from every business unit, not just one or two.

CEO Transition

Our strong performance in 2005, like that of the previous five

years, was achieved under the leadership of Paula Rosput

Reynolds. During her tenure as CEO, Paula’s steady hand and

thoughtful strategy guided AGL Resources through some

potentially dire straits and into our current position as one of

our industry’s most successful companies. On December 7,

2005, we announced Paula’s resignation from the company



effective December 31, 2005 to become president and chief

executive officer of a Seattle-based Fortune 500 company. 

The move represented a tremendous opportunity for Paula,

and one that clearly reflected her extraordinary leadership abil-

ity and the outstanding results she achieved while part of the

AGL Resources team. 

In early December, the Board formed a search committee and

engaged a well-known recruiting firm to identify a seasoned,

high-caliber executive to lead the company and build on the

great work accomplished to date. We anticipated the search

process would be completed in a timely manner and would

result in a new CEO with aspirations in line with current busi-

ness goals. We exceeded expectations—in more ways than

one—when we named John W. Somerhalder II the company’s

president, chief executive officer and newest member of the

Board as of March 2.

John Somerhalder’s 30 years of extensive regulated and non-

regulated energy experience, his business acumen and leader-

ship skills, his enthusiasm about the future of AGL Resources,

and his commitment to customer service improvement and

growing the bottom line are exactly the attributes we were

searching for in our next chief executive. Under John’s direction,

our leadership team of talented and dedicated professionals,

averaging nearly 20 years of business and regulatory experience,

will continue to carry the company forward. We are privileged to

have John on board.

2005 Milestones 

Each year, we establish goals that guide our strategic decisions

and provide the milestones to measure our progress along the

way. In 2005, we laid out four primary goals: (1) integrate our

acquisitions swiftly to meet the expectations of our investors;

(2) establish a national reputation for customer service excellence

by investing in systems, processes and people; (3) accelerate

the pace of technology implementation and business process

improvement; and (4) elevate our public policy profile with lead-

ing levels of transparency and collaboration. 

In 2005, we completed the integration of our NUI and Jefferson

Island acquisitions quickly and efficiently, achieving savings

and delivering on promised earnings accretion. As part of 

the integration process, we set out to dramatically improve the

customer experience in each of our utility service areas. The

results were evident. Late in the year, J.D. Power and Associ-

ates, in a ranking of gas utility residential service providers, 

recognized Virginia Natural Gas as one of the top five utilities in

the nation in customer satisfaction. The same ranking listed

Elizabethtown Gas, the New Jersey utility we acquired as 

part of the NUI acquisition in late 2004, as one of the most

improved utilities.

We continued to identify and implement technology and other

process improvements that have moved us closer to our vision:

a “one company” operational platform that eliminates duplicate

systems and disparate processes among our companies, and

establishes the possibilities of virtual workforce automation while

creating a platform for scalability. Those improved technology

capabilities proved themselves during Hurricane Rita, when we

temporarily relocated our Sequent trading floor from Houston to

Richardson, Texas with virtually no business interruption. While

service disruptions were prevalent throughout the disaster-

stricken region, we maintained a cohesive working environment.

This allowed us to communicate effectively with markets and

suppliers, providing critical assistance to those who needed it. 

D. Raymond Riddle

Chairman
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We also continued to make substantial progress on the public

policy front during 2005. By working cooperatively with our

regulators, we were able to negotiate a settlement in the

Atlanta Gas Light rate case providing customers with stabilized

rates for a five-year period. We are seeking a similar rate treat-

ment as part of our ongoing rate case in Virginia. Throughout

the year, we fully participated in critical industry dialogue on the

economic and operational viability of liquefied natural gas and

other supply and infrastructure options. We are continually

exploring ways to address current supply constraint and peak-

ing issues, and to reduce our reliance on natural gas from the

Gulf Coast region. 

2006 Goals

Our goals for 2006 have evolved from our achievements in

2005. Our philosophy is that we are never finished refining the

process, and there is always room for improvement.

First, we will operate each of our businesses to deliver on our

longstanding commitment to superior earnings and income

growth. As an owner of the company, you can expect us to be

good stewards of your investment by establishing threshold

returns before deploying significant capital. We’re proud of our

reputation for being a prudent investor and operator, and we

intend to leverage that reputation as we seek new opportunities.

Second, we will continue to build a process-driven culture that

supports scalability and includes global commerce. Imple-

menting enterprise technology was a first step. We must now

compete in a global marketplace of service providers. We have

already made significant headway in identifying routine opera-

tional and financial processes within our current businesses

that might benefit from either global sourcing or restructuring 

to shift and reduce our cost burden. 

Third, we will deliver exceptional retail and wholesale customer

service through superior logistics. In 2006, we will build on the

improved reputation and customer service processes of our

utilities by continuing to elevate the customer experience.

We intend to implement a wide array of improvements—such

as enhanced automated dispatch to ensure appointment times

are met—aimed at making a customer’s experience with any

of our six utilities as pleasant and efficient as possible.

Fourth, we will invest to make people our competitive edge in

sustaining enterprise excellence. Without a high-performance

culture and talented professionals who are trained and com-

pensated appropriately, and equipped with the resources they

need to succeed, we know that our first three goals cannot 

be accomplished. 

We look forward to updating you on our progress in the months

ahead. AGL Resources will continue to create value in every-

thing we do. We’re playing for keeps.

D. Raymond Riddle

Chairman 

March 2, 2006

Andrew W. Evans

Senior Vice President and CFO 

March 2, 2006

Andrew W. Evans

Senior Vice President and CFO 



we’re the one to watch

Provide superior growth in 
earnings and dividends. 

We will aim for flawless execution in our existing busi-

nesses. We will continually seek growth opportunities.

And we will exercise rigorous discipline in evaluating

those opportunities.

Build on our growing reputation
for customer service excellence

through enhanced logistics.

We will continue to implement improvements to make

our customers’ experience pleasant, efficient and

worthwhile. We will deliver exceptional retail and

wholesale customer service. We will benchmark our-

selves against the best.

Make our people the 
competitive edge.

We will invest in the ability of our people to apply

imagination and search for innovations. We wil l

equip them with the resources they need to succeed.

And we will clearly articulate our business goals

and aspirations.
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Be relentless in business 
process improvement.

We will always look for better ways of doing things.

We will demand real returns from investments in tech-

nology, systems and equipment. And we will identify

processes that may be better accomplished through

global sourcing or restructuring.



Distribution Operations

Atlanta Gas Light is the largest natural gas distributor in the

Southeast in terms of customers, serving 237 communities in

the state of Georgia. It provides gas delivery service to more than

1.5 million residential, commercial and industrial customers

and delivers approximately 232 million dekatherms (MMDth) 

of gas annually. It owns and operates more than 30,000 miles of

pipeline and three liquefied natural gas (LNG) plants.

Chattanooga Gas provides retail natural gas sales and 

transportation services to approximately 61,000 residential,

commercial and industrial customers in Hamilton County and

Bradley County, Tennessee. Chattanooga Gas delivers approx-

imately 16 MMDth of gas annually. It also owns and operates

more than 1,500 miles of pipeline and one LNG plant. 

Elizabethtown Gas provides natural gas service to approxi-

mately 266,000 residential, commercial and industrial cus-

tomers in northeastern and east central New Jersey. It delivers

approximately 59 MMDth of gas annually through more than

4,900 miles of pipeline. 

Elkton Gas provides natural gas service to approximately 5,800

residential, commercial and industrial customers in northeastern

Maryland. Elkton Gas delivers approximately 1 MMDth of gas

annually through more than 80 miles of pipeline. 

Florida City Gas provides natural gas service to approxi-

mately 103,000 residential, commercial and industrial cus-

tomers in southeastern and east central Florida. It delivers

approximately 10 MMDth of gas annually through more than

3,100 miles of pipeline. 

Virginia Natural Gas provides natural gas service to more 

than 261,000 residential, commercial and industrial customers

in southeastern Virginia. It delivers approximately 36 MMDth of

gas annually through more than 5,100 miles of pipeline. It also

owns and operates a 156-mile high-pressure, large-diameter

transmission pipeline serving major wholesale customers.  

Retail Energy Operations

SouthStar Energy Services is a joint venture operating in

Georgia under the trade name Georgia Natural Gas. The busi-

ness supplies natural gas to more than 531,000 retail and com-

mercial customers in Georgia and 300 industrial customers

throughout the Southeast.

Wholesale Services

Sequent Energy Management provides customers in the

Midwest and eastern half of the United States the ability to opti-

mize their natural gas asset portfolio and increase cost effec-

tiveness from wellhead to burner tip. Services include natural

gas asset management, producer and storage services, and

full-requirements supply, including peaking needs. 

Energy Investments

The company operates Pivotal Jefferson Island Storage

& Hub, a high-deliverability natural gas storage facility in

Louisiana. The facility consists of two salt dome storage

caverns with 10 billion cubic feet (Bcf) of total capacity and

about 7 Bcf of working gas capacity. In addition, the com-

pany manages the operation of Pivotal Propane of Virginia, 

a peaking facility in northern Virginia. 

AGL Networks is a carrier-neutral provider that leases telecom-

munications fiber to a variety of customers in the Atlanta, Geor-

gia and Phoenix, Arizona metropolitan areas. AGL Networks

provides conduit and dark fiber to its customers under long-

term lease arrangements, as well as telecommunications

construction services.

at a glance
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Service Territory

Sequent Energy Management

Pivotal Jefferson Island Storage & Hub

Major Interstate Pipelines

Columbia Pipeline

Transco Pipeline

Sonat Pipeline

East Tennessee Pipeline



financial charts

Dividend payout ratio 

Total shareholder return (as of 12/31/2005)

Capital expenditures (in millions)
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The peer group average includes seven natural 
gas utilities with characteristics similar to AGL
Resources.

AGL Resources remains focused on maintaining 
a competitive dividend yield and a payout ratio
near the average of our peer group of utilities. The
19% dividend increase announced in November
2005 raised our indicated annual dividend to $1.48
per share.

A disciplined approach to managing capital invest-
ments should provide significant opportunity 
for debt reduction, reinvestment in the business, or
returns to shareholders in the form of dividend
increases or stock repurchases.
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Glossary of Key Terms 18

AGL Capital AGL Capital Corporation

AGL Networks AGL Networks, LLC

Atlanta Gas Light Atlanta Gas Light Company

Chattanooga Gas Chattanooga Gas Company

Credit Facility Credit agreement supporting our commercial 
paper program

EBIT Earnings before interest and taxes, a non-GAAP measure
that includes operating income, other income, equity in SouthStar’s
income, minority interest in SouthStar’s earnings, donations and gain
on sales of assets and excludes interest and tax expense; as an indi-
cator of our operating performance, EBIT should not be considered
an alternative to, or more meaningful than, operating income or net
income as determined in accordance with GAAP

ERC Environmental remediation costs

FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board

Florida Commission Florida Public Service Commission

GAAP Accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America

Georgia Commission Georgia Public Service Commission

Henry Hub The Henry Hub, located in Louisiana, is the largest
centralized point for natural gas spot and futures trading in the United
States. NYMEX uses the Henry Hub as the point of delivery for its nat-
ural gas futures contracts. Many natural gas marketers also use the
Henry Hub as their physical contract delivery point or their price
benchmark for spot trades of natural gas.

LNG Liquefied natural gas

Marketers Marketers selling retail natural gas in Georgia and 
certificated by the Georgia Public Service Commission

Medium-term notes Notes issued by Atlanta Gas Light with
scheduled maturities between 2012 and 2027 bearing interest rates
ranging from 6.6% to 9.1%

NJBPU New Jersey Board of Public Utilities

NYMEX New York Mercantile Exchange, Inc.

OCI Other comprehensive income

Operating margin A measure of income, calculated as revenues
minus cost of gas, that excludes operation and maintenance
expense, depreciation and amortization, taxes other than income
taxes, and the gain on the sale of our Caroline Street campus; these
items are included in our calculation of operating income as reflected
in our statements of consolidated income. Operating margin should
not be considered an alternative to, or more meaningful than, operat-
ing income or net income as determined in accordance with GAAP

Pivotal Jefferson Island Pivotal Jefferson Island Storage & 
Hub, LLC

Pivotal Propane Pivotal Propane of Virginia, Inc.

Pivotal Utility Pivotal Utility Holdings, Inc., parent company of 
Elizabethtown Gas, Elkton Gas and Florida City Gas

PGA Purchased gas adjustment

PRP Pipeline replacement program

PUHCA Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended

Sequent Sequent Energy Management, L.P.

SFAS Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

SouthStar SouthStar Energy Services LLC

Virginia Commission Virginia State Corporation Commission

Virginia Natural Gas Virginia Natural Gas, Inc.

AGL Resources Inc.



Referenced Accounting Standards 19

APB 20 Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 20,
“Accounting Changes”

APB 25 APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued 
to Employees”

EITF 98-10 Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 98-10,
“Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk 
Management Activities”

EITF 99-02 EITF Issue No. 99-02, “Accounting for Weather 
Derivatives”

EITF 02-03 EITF Issue No. 02-03, “Issues Involved in Accounting
for Contracts under EITF Issue No. 98-10, ‘Accounting for Contracts
Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management Activities’”

FIN 46 & FIN 46R FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 46, “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities”

FIN 47 FIN 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143”

SFAS 5 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 
No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”

SFAS 13 SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases”

SFAS 71 SFAS No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects of Certain
Types of Regulation”

SFAS 109 SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”

SFAS 123 & SFAS 123R SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation”

SFAS 131 SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information”

SFAS 133 SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities”

SFAS 141 SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”

SFAS 142 SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”

SFAS 149 SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”

SFAS 154 SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error 
Corrections”

AGL Resources Inc.



Selected Financial Data 20

Selected financial data about us is set forth in the table below. We derived the data in the table from our audited financial statements. You should read the data in the table in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements

and related notes. On September 30, 2001, our Board of Directors elected to change our fiscal year end from September 30 to December 31, effective October 1, 2001. We refer to the three months ended December 31,

2001 as the “Transition period” in the table below.

Dollars and shares in millions, except per share amounts 2005 2004 2003 2002 Transition period 2001

Income statement data
Operating revenues $2,718 $1,832 $ 983 $ 877 $ 204 $ 946
Cost of gas 1,626 995 339 268 49 327
Operating margin 1,092 837 644 609 155 619
Operating expenses

Operation and maintenance 477 377 283 274 68 267
Depreciation and amortization 133 99 91 89 23 100
Taxes other than income taxes 40 29 28 29 6 33

Total operating expenses 650 505 402 392 97 400
Gain on sale of Caroline Street campus — — 16 — — —
Operating income 442 332 258 217 58 219
Equity in earnings of SouthStar Energy Services LLC — — 46 27 4 14
Other (loss) income (1) — (6) 3 1 4
Minority interest (22) (18) — — — —
Interest expense (109) (71) (75) (86) (24) (98)
Earnings before income taxes 310 243 223 161 39 139
Income taxes 117 90 87 58 14 50
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 193 153 136 103 25 89
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, 

net of $5 in income taxes — — (8) — — —
Net income $ 193 $ 153 $ 128 $ 103 $ 25 $ 89
Common stock data
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic 77.3 66.3 63.1 56.1 55.3 54.5
Weighted average shares outstanding—fully diluted 77.8 67.0 63.7 56.6 55.6 54.9
Total shares outstanding1 77.8 76.7 64.5 56.7 55.6 55.1
Earnings per share—basic $ 2.50 $ 2.30 $ 2.03 $ 1.84 $ 0.45 $ 1.63
Earnings per share—fully diluted $ 2.48 $ 2.28 $ 2.01 $ 1.82 $ 0.45 $ 1.62
Dividends per share $ 1.30 $ 1.15 $ 1.11 $ 1.08 $ 0.27 $ 1.08
Dividend payout ratio 52% 50% 55% 59% 60% 66%
Book value per share2 $19.27 $18.04 $14.66 $12.52 $12.41 $12.20
Market value per share3 $34.81 $33.24 $29.10 $24.30 $23.02 $19.97
Balance sheet data1

Total assets $6,251 $5,637 $3,972 $3,742 $3,454 $3,368
Long-term liabilities 737 682 647 702 671 711
Minority interest 38 36 — — — —
Capitalization

Long-term debt (excluding current portion) 1,615 1,623 956 994 1,015 1,065
Common shareholders’ equity 1,499 1,385 945 710 690 671

Total capitalization $3,114 $3,008 $1,901 $1,704 $1,705 $1,736
Financial ratios1

Capitalization
Long-term debt 52% 54% 50% 58% 60% 61%
Common shareholders’ equity 48 46 50 42 40 39

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Return on average common shareholders’ equity 13.4% 13.1% 15.5% 14.7% 14.6% 13.8%
1 As of the last day of the fiscal period.
2 Common shareholders’ equity divided by total outstanding common shares as of the last day of the fiscal period.
3 Closing price of common stock on the New York Stock Exchange as of the last trading day of the fiscal period.

AGL Resources Inc.
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Cautionary Statement Regarding 
Forward-looking Information

Certain expectations and projections regarding our future perform-
ance referenced in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations section and elsewhere
in this report, as well as in other reports and proxy statements we
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), are forward-
looking statements. Officers and other employees may also make 
verbal statements to analysts, investors, regulators, the media and
others that are forward-looking.

Forward-looking statements involve matters that are not histor-
ical facts, and because these statements involve anticipated events
or conditions, forward-looking statements often include words such
as “anticipate,” “assume,” “can,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” 
“forecast,” “future,” “indicate,” “intend,” “may,” “outlook,” “plan,” 
“predict,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would” or simi-
lar expressions. Our expectations are not guarantees and are based
on currently available competitive, financial and economic data along
with our operating plans. While we believe that our expectations are
reasonable in view of the currently available information, our expecta-
tions are subject to future events, risks and uncertainties, and there
are several factors—many beyond our control—that could cause
results to differ significantly from our expectations.

Such events, risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited
to, changes in price, supply and demand for natural gas and related
products; the impact of changes in state and federal legislation and
regulation; actions taken by government agencies on rates and other
matters; concentration of credit risk; utility and energy industry consol-
idation; the impact of acquisitions and divestitures; direct or indirect
effects on AGL Resources’ business, financial condition or liquidity
resulting from a change in our credit ratings or the credit ratings of our
counterparties or competitors; interest rate fluctuations; financial mar-
ket conditions and general economic conditions; uncertainties about
environmental issues and the related impact of such issues; the impact
of changes in weather on the temperature-sensitive portions of the
business; the impact of natural disasters such as hurricanes on the
supply and price of natural gas; acts of war or terrorism; and other fac-
tors that are described in detail in our filings with the SEC.

We caution readers that, in addition to the important factors
described elsewhere in this report, the factors set forth in the Risk
Factors on page 56, among others, could cause our business, results

of operations or financial condition in 2006 and thereafter to differ sig-
nificantly from those expressed in any forward-looking statements.
There also may be other factors that we cannot anticipate or that
are not described in this report that could cause results to differ sig-
nificantly from our expectations.

Forward-looking statements are only as of the date they are
made, and we do not undertake any obligation to update these state-
ments to reflect subsequent circumstances or events.

Overview

We are a Fortune 1000 energy services holding company whose
principal business is the distribution of natural gas in six states—
Florida, Georgia, Maryland, New Jersey, Tennessee and Virginia. Our
six utilities serve more than 2.2 million end-use customers, making
us the largest distributor of natural gas in the southeastern and mid-
Atlantic regions of the United States based on customer count. We
also are involved in various related businesses, including retail natu-
ral gas marketing to end-use customers primarily in Georgia; natural
gas asset management and related logistics activities for our own
utilities as well as for other nonaffiliated companies; natural gas stor-
age arbitrage and related activities; operation of high-deliverability
underground natural gas storage assets; and construction and oper-
ation of telecommunications conduit and fiber infrastructure within
selected metropolitan areas. We manage these businesses through
four operating segments—distribution operations, retail energy 
operations, wholesale services and energy investments—and a non-
operating corporate segment.

The distribution operations segment is the largest component
of our business and is regulated by regulatory agencies in six states.
These agencies approve rates designed to provide us the opportunity
to generate revenues to recover the cost of natural gas delivered to
our customers and our fixed and variable costs such as depreciation,
interest, maintenance and overhead costs, and to earn a reasonable
return for our shareholders. With the exception of Atlanta Gas Light
Company (Atlanta Gas Light), our largest utility, the earnings of our
regulated utilities are weather sensitive to varying degrees. Although
various regulatory mechanisms provide us a reasonable opportunity
to recover our fixed costs regardless of natural gas volumes sold, the
effect of weather manifests itself in terms of higher earnings during
periods of colder weather and lower earnings in warmer weather.
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Atlanta Gas Light charges rates to its customers primarily on monthly
fixed charges. Our retail energy operations segment, which consists
of SouthStar Energy Services LLC (SouthStar), also is weather sensi-
tive and uses a variety of hedging strategies to mitigate potential
weather impacts. Our Sequent Energy Management, L.P. (Sequent)
subsidiary within our wholesale services segment is weather sensi-
tive, with typically increased earnings opportunities during periods of
extreme weather conditions.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we derived approx-
imately 86% of our earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) from our
regulated natural gas distribution business and the sale of natural gas
to end-use customers primarily in Georgia through SouthStar. This 
statistic is significant because it represents the portion of our earnings
that directly results from the underlying business of supplying natural
gas to retail customers. Although SouthStar is not subject to the same
regulatory framework as our utilities, it is an integral part of the retail
framework for providing gas service to end-use customers in the state
of Georgia. For more information regarding our measurement of EBIT,
see Results of Operations—AGL Resources.

The remaining 14% of our EBIT was principally derived from
businesses that are complementary to our natural gas distribution
business. We engage in natural gas asset management and the oper-
ation of high-deliverability natural gas underground storage as ancil-
lary activities to our utility franchises. These businesses allow us to be
opportunistic in capturing incremental value at the wholesale level,
provide us with deepened business insight about natural gas market
dynamics and facilitate our ability, in the case of asset management,
to provide transparency to regulators as to how that value can be
captured to benefit our utility customers through profit-sharing
arrangements. Given the volatile and changing nature of the natural
gas resource base in North America and globally, we believe that par-
ticipation in these related businesses strengthens our business.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe our competitive strengths have enabled us to grow our
business profitably and create significant shareholder value. These
strengths include:

Regulated distribution assets located in growing geographic

regions Our operations are primarily concentrated along the east
coast of the United States, from Florida to New Jersey. We operate
primarily urban utility franchises in growing metropolitan areas where
we can more effectively deploy technology to improve service deliv-
ery and manage costs. We believe the population growth and result-
ing expansion in business and construction activity in many of the
areas we serve should result in increased demand for natural gas and
related infrastructure for the foreseeable future.

Demonstrated track record of performance through superior

execution We continue to focus our efforts on generating signifi-
cant incremental earnings improvements from each of our busi-
nesses. We have been successful in achieving this goal in the past
through a combination of business growth, opportunistic acquisitions
and controlling or reducing our operating expenses. We achieved
these improvements to our operations in part through the implemen-
tation of best practices in our businesses, including increased invest-
ments in enterprise technology, workforce automation and business
process modernization. Our goal is a single operational platform that
eliminates duplicate systems and disparate processes among our
various companies.

Demonstrated ability to acquire and integrate natural gas assets

that add significant incremental earnings We take a disciplined
approach to identifying strategic natural gas assets that support our
long-term business plan. For example, our 2004 acquisition of natu-
ral gas distribution operations in New Jersey, Florida and Maryland
provided us an opportunity to leverage and strengthen one of our
core competencies—the efficient, low-cost operation of natural gas
franchises. The disparity between these utilities’ pre-acquisition utility
operating metrics and cost structure and those of our other utilities
provided us an opportunity to achieve significant improvements in
these businesses, which we have been able to do. We will continue
to seek and implement better methods of operating in order to
improve our service delivery and reduce our costs. In addition, our
acquisition of a natural gas storage facility in Louisiana in 2004 added

22

AGL Resources Inc.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations

23

immediate incremental earnings to our business and, given the 
possibilities for expansion, has the potential to provide prospective
earnings growth.

Business Accomplishments in 2005

We believe the results of our efforts are clear. We not only delivered
solid results to our shareholders again in 2005 but also provided cus-
tomers with improved service.

In 2005, we increased net income 26% over the prior year to
$193 million and increased fully diluted earnings per share 9% to
$2.48 despite increased average outstanding debt of $549 million
and 11 million additional shares outstanding in 2005 due to our pub-
lic stock offering in November 2004, both of which were related to
acquisitions in the fourth quarter of 2004. Our Board of Directors
raised our annual dividend 19% in November 2005, to an annual rate
of $1.48 per share. The increase marked the fourth time in three years
our Board has raised the dividend, bringing our payout ratio more in
line with other publicly traded energy holding companies and local
distribution companies and ensuring a competitive dividend yield 
relative to alternative investments.

We have substantially completed the integration of our two
recent acquisitions: NUI Corporation (NUI), which we acquired 
on November 30, 2004, and Jefferson Island Storage & Hub, LLC
(Jefferson Island), which we acquired on October 1, 2004. Jefferson
Island became a wholly owned subsidiary and was renamed Pivotal
Jefferson Island Storage & Hub, LLC (Pivotal Jefferson Island). In
2005, we consolidated a number of NUI’s business technology plat-
forms into our enterprise-wide systems, including the accounting,
payroll, human resources and supply chain functions. We also con-
solidated the former NUI utility call center operations into our own
centralized call center. The combination of systems integration and
the application of our operational model to managing NUI has resulted
in significant improvements in its operations, as measured by the 
various metrics we use to manage our business. As a result of these
integration efforts, we believe that we have achieved our performance
goal of successfully integrating these acquisitions and making them
accretive to our consolidated earnings within one year of the acquisi-
tion closing date.

We continued business process improvement actions, includ-
ing the deployment of substantial technology resources, in each of
our business units. Additionally, through asset management, producer

services and storage arbitrage activities at Sequent, we captured and
recognized incremental net income from opportunities in the market-
place as we provided services during and after hurricanes Katrina 
and Rita. Our operational platform was tested when, during hurricane
Rita, Sequent relocated its trading floor from Houston to Richardson,
Texas with virtually no service interruptions, in order to keep our com-
mitments to customers and provide continuity in a market where 
service disruptions were prevalent.

Lastly, we worked cooperatively with our regulators during the
year. In Georgia, we negotiated a settlement in the Atlanta Gas Light
rate case whereby rates billed to customers will not change for a five-
year period but Atlanta Gas Light will recognize reduced operating
revenues of $5 million per year for a total of $25 million over the five-
year period.

2006 Goals

Our fundamental business goals do not significantly change from one
year to the next. However, we continue to refine our goals, taking into
consideration our prior financial and operational performance and
those external factors impacting not only us and the natural gas
industry, but also the global marketplace. We are focused on deliver-
ing earnings and income growth by effectively managing our gas 
distribution operations; selectively growing our gas distribution busi-
nesses through acquisitions; and developing our portfolio of closely
related unregulated businesses.

Impact of Hurricanes on AGL Resources 
and Our Industry

The natural gas production, processing and pipeline infrastructure in
the Gulf of Mexico was significantly affected by hurricanes Katrina and
Rita in August and September 2005. This resulted in higher prices
and increased price volatility for natural gas, which we and the Energy
Information Administration expected would significantly increase the
cost to heat a home during the current heating season. Natural gas
prices moderated by the end of 2005 and early 2006, and weather
has been warmer than normal thus far in 2006, but we still expect
home heating costs to be significantly higher in the first quarter of
2006 compared to prior years.

The impact of hurricanes Katrina and Rita on natural gas prices
and transportation costs created diverse offsetting effects on our
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business. Increased energy and transportation prices are expected to
consume a significantly larger portion of consumer household
incomes during the remaining winter heating season (first quarter of
2006), raising the possibility that we will experience some additional
bad debt expense, as well as some margin erosion from increased
consumer conservation. These higher prices have thus far been 
mitigated in part by significantly warmer-than-normal temperatures in
the eastern United States during the first half of the heating season.
While we expect these factors to have some impact on our financial
results, primarily in the first half of 2006, we expect the regulatory and
operational mechanisms in place in most of our jurisdictions will help
mitigate our exposures to high natural gas prices.

Natural gas price volatility during 2005 made it further evident
that we and our customers need to diversify our sources of natural
gas supply. We receive the majority of our natural gas supplies from
a production region in and around the Gulf of Mexico, and generally
demand for this natural gas is growing faster than supply. This
increased demand can often lead to higher natural gas prices and
greater price volatility. We believe a diversification of our supply port-
folio, in an effort to moderate prices, is in our customers’ best inter-
est. We may need, from time to time, to invest in new projects to
improve the viability of such portfolio diversification and would expect
to earn regulated returns on such investments. 

The market dynamics brought on by the two hurricanes 
presented opportunities for Sequent, and for our utilities through
Sequent’s affiliate asset management agreements. Sequent drew on
its knowledge of the natural gas grid to move gas from supply
sources and deliver it to its customers, which involved moving gas
over less traditional routes due to Gulf Coast infrastructure limitations.
For additional information regarding the impacts of these hurricanes
on our business, see Results of Operations—Distribution Operations
and Results of Operations—Wholesale Services.

Regulatory Environment

We continue to manage the ongoing challenge of operating in a 
regulatory environment that generally does not measure or reward
innovation and operational efficiency. In particular, traditional “cost of
service” regulation, which was originally designed to simulate the
actions of a competitive market, has not kept pace with the vast
changes taking place in the natural gas industry, in technology utiliza-
tion and in the global economy. These are factors that to various

degrees affect our company. The staffs of various state ratesetting
agencies have argued for significantly lower rates of return on regu-
lated investments without adequate attention to the effects those
lower returns might have on capital reinvestment in the company’s
regulated asset base; the “opportunity cost” to customers of not pro-
viding better and more efficient services; and the disincentive for
excellence in management and operations that such returns create.

Much of the ratesetting is done in adversarial proceedings
where rules of evidence and due process can vary greatly among the
states. As a result of these ongoing regulatory challenges, we will
continue to work cooperatively with our regulators, legislators and
others as we seek, through rate freezes and performance-based
rates, to create a framework in each jurisdiction that is conducive to
our business goals. Furthermore, we will continue to make strategic
investments in energy-related businesses that either are not subject
to traditional state and federal rate regulation or are subject to lim-
ited oversight in order to add value for our shareholders.

In August 2005, the Energy Policy Act of 2005 (Energy Act)
was enacted. The Energy Act authorized many broad energy policy
provisions including significant funding for consumers and businesses
for energy-related activities, energy-related tax credits, accelerated
depreciation for certain natural gas utility infrastructure investments
and the repeal of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, 
as amended (PUHCA). The effective date of the PUHCA repeal is Feb-
ruary 8, 2006. We continue to evaluate the Energy Act, but we expect
to benefit from provisions in the legislation that will support our efforts
to promote energy efficiency in a manner that benefits customers 
and shareholders.

The Energy Act gives the Federal Energy Regulatory Commis-
sion (FERC) increased authority over utility merger and acquisition
activity, removes many of the geographic and structural restrictions
on the ownership of public utilities and eliminates certain regula-
tory burdens. Some of the SEC reporting requirements, financing 
authorizations and affiliate relationship approvals that previously
applied to us under the PUHCA were replaced by the requirements
of the Energy Act.

In addition, the Energy Act requires a public utility holding com-
pany to maintain its books and records and make them available to
the FERC and to comply with certain reporting requirements. How-
ever, the FERC may exempt a class of entities or class of transactions
if the FERC finds that they are not relevant to the jurisdictional rate
of a public utility or natural gas company.
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In February 2006, we requested an exemption from Energy
Act oversight of our local distribution companies that were previously
exempt from regulation by the FERC. Our filing request will provide
us with a temporary exemption. If the FERC has not taken action
within 60 days of our request, the exemption shall be deemed to
have been granted. We expect to qualify for an exemption from these
reporting requirements.

For more information regarding pending federal and state reg-
ulatory matters, see Results of Operations—Distribution Operations
and Results of Operations—Wholesale Services.

Results of Operations

AGL Resources

Our results of operations for 2004 included three months of the
acquired operations of Jefferson Island and one month of the
acquired operations of NUI.

Pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” 
(FIN 46) as revised, which we adopted in January 2004, we consol-
idated SouthStar’s accounts with our subsidiaries’ accounts as of
January 1, 2004. For the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2004, we recorded the Piedmont Natural Gas Company, Inc. 
(Piedmont) portion of SouthStar’s earnings as a minority interest in
our statements of consolidated income and the Piedmont portion of
SouthStar’s contributed capital as a minority interest in our consoli-
dated balance sheets. We eliminated any intercompany profits
between segments.

In 2003, we accounted for our 70% noncontrolling financial
ownership interest in SouthStar using the equity method of accounting
because SouthStar did not meet the definition of a variable interest
entity under FIN 46. Under the equity method, we reported our 
ownership interest in SouthStar as an infestment in our consolidated
balance sheets, and we reported our share of SouthStar’s earnings
based on our ownership percentage in our statements of consoli-
dated income as a component of other income.

Seasonality The operating revenues and EBIT of our distribution
operations, retail energy operations and wholesale services segments
are seasonal. During the heating season (October–March), natural gas

usage and operating revenues are higher because generally more
customers are connected to our distribution systems and because
natural gas usage is higher in periods of colder weather than in peri-
ods of warmer weather. Approximately 70% of these segments’ oper-
ating revenues and EBIT for the year ended December 31, 2005 were
generated during the six-month heating season and are reflected in our
consolidated income statements for the quarters ended March 31,
2005 and December 31, 2005. Our base operating expenses, exclud-
ing cost of gas, interest expense and certain incentive compensation
costs, are incurred relatively equally over any given year. Thus our
operating results vary significantly from quarter to quarter as a result of
seasonality. Seasonality also affects the comparison of certain balance
sheet items such as receivables, unbilled revenue, inventories and
short-term debt across quarters.

Hedging Changes in commodity prices subject a significant por-
tion of our operations to variability. Commodity prices tend to be
higher in colder months. Our nonutility businesses principally use
physical and financial arrangements to economically hedge the risks
associated with both seasonal fluctuations and changing commodity
prices. In addition, because these economic hedges are generally not
designated for hedge accounting treatment, our reported earnings for
the wholesale services and retail energy operations segments reflect
changes in the fair values of certain derivatives; these values may
change significantly from period to period.

Elizabethtown Gas utilizes certain derivatives to hedge the
impact of market fluctuations in natural gas prices. These derivative
products are marked to market each reporting period. In accordance
with regulatory requirements, realized gains and losses related to
these derivatives are reflected in purchased gas costs and ultimately
included in billings to customers. Unrealized gains and losses are
reflected as a regulatory asset (loss) or liability (gain), as appropriate,
in our consolidated balance sheets.

Revenues We generate nearly all our operating revenues through
the sale, distribution and storage of natural gas. We include in our
consolidated revenues an estimate of revenues from natural gas dis-
tributed, but not yet billed, to residential and commercial customers
from the latest meter reading date to the end of the reporting period.
We record these estimated revenues as unbilled revenues in our con-
solidated balance sheets.
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Operating Margin and EBIT We evaluate the performance of our
operating segments using the measures of operating margin and
EBIT. We believe operating margin is a better indicator than revenues
for the contribution resulting from customer growth in our distribution
operations segment since the cost of gas can vary significantly and is
generally passed directly to our customers. We also consider operat-
ing margin to be a better indicator in our retail energy operations,
wholesale services and energy investments segments since it is a
direct measure of gross profit before overhead costs. We believe EBIT
is a useful measurement of our operating segments’ performance
because it provides information that can be used to evaluate the
effectiveness of our businesses from an operational perspective,
exclusive of the costs to finance those activities and exclusive of
income taxes, neither of which is directly relevant to the efficiency of
those operations.

Our operating margin and EBIT are not measures that are con-
sidered to be calculated in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). You
should not consider operating margin or EBIT an alternative to, or a
more meaningful indicator of our operating performance than, oper-
ating income or net income as determined in accordance with GAAP.
In addition, our operating margin or EBIT measure may not be com-
parable to similarly titled measures of other companies.

The following table sets forth a reconciliation of our operating
margin and EBIT to our operating income and net income, together
with other consolidated financial information for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004; and pro-forma results as if South-
Star’s accounts were consolidated with our subsidiaries’ accounts for
the year ended December 31, 2003. The unaudited pro-forma results
are presented for comparative purposes as a result of our consoli-
dation of SouthStar’s accounts with our subsidiaries’ accounts as of
January 1, 2004. This pro-forma basis is a non-GAAP presentation;
however, we believe it is useful to readers of our financial statements
since it presents our revenues and expenses for 2003 on the same
basis as 2005 and 2004.

Pro-forma 

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Operating revenues $2,718 $1,832 $1,557
Cost of gas 1,626 995 789
Operating margin 1,092 837 768
Operating expenses

Operation and maintenance 477 377 343
Depreciation and amortization 133 99 92
Taxes other than income 40 29 28

Total operating expenses 650 505 463
Gain on sale of Caroline 

Street campus — — 16
Operating income 442 332 321
Other losses (1) — (6)
Minority interest (22) (18) (17)
EBIT 419 314 298
Interest expense 109 71 75
Earnings before income taxes 310 243 223
Income taxes 117 90 87
Income before cumulative effect 

of change in accounting principle 193 153 136
Cumulative effect of change 

in accounting principle — — (8)
Net income $ 193 $ 153 $ 128
Basic earnings per common share:

Income before cumulative effect 
of change in accounting principle $ 2.50 $ 2.30 $ 2.15

Cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle — — (0.12)

Basic earnings per 
common share $ 2.50 $ 2.30 $ 2.03

Fully diluted earnings per common share:
Income before cumulative effect 

of change in accounting principle $ 2.48 $ 2.28 $ 2.13
Cumulative effect of change 

in accounting principle — — (0.12)
Fully diluted earnings per 

common share $ 2.48 $ 2.28 $ 2.01
Weighted average number 

of common shares outstanding:
Basic 77.3 66.3 63.1
Diluted 77.8 67.0 63.7

AGL Resources Inc.

MD&A



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations

27

Segment information Operating revenues, operating margin
and EBIT information for each of our segments are presented in the fol-
lowing table for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

Operating Operating 

In millions revenues margin EBIT

2005

Distribution operations $1,753 $ 814 $299

Retail energy operations 996 146 63

Wholesale services 95 92 49

Energy investments 56 40 19

Corporate1 (182) — (11)

Consolidated $2,718 $1,092 $419

2004

Distribution operations $1,111 $ 640 $247
Retail energy operations 827 132 52
Wholesale services 54 53 24
Energy investments 25 13 7
Corporate1 (185) (1) (16)

Consolidated $1,832 $ 837 $314
2003

Distribution operations $ 936 $ 599 $247
Retail energy operations2 743 124 46
Wholesale services 41 40 20
Energy investments 6 5 (3)
Corporate1,2 (169) — (12)

Consolidated $1,557 $ 768 $298
1 Includes the elimination of intercompany revenues.
2 Includes pro-forma results as if SouthStar’s accounts were consolidated with our subsidiaries’ accounts.

In the following table, our reported results in 2003 are reconciled
to the pro-forma presentation in the tables above. In 2003, we rec-
ognized our portion of SouthStar’s earnings of $46 million as equity
earnings. The amounts presented below for SouthStar represent
100% of its revenues and expenses for 2003 and include minority
interest, which adjusts our 80% share of SouthStar’s earnings to reflect
Piedmont’s and Dynegy Inc.’s share of SouthStar’s earnings.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2003

In millions As reported SouthStar Eliminations Pro-forma

Operating revenues $983 $743 $(169) $1,557
Cost of gas 339 619 (169) 789
Operating margin 644 124 — 768
Operating expenses

Operation and 
maintenance 283 60 — 343

Depreciation 
and amortization 91 1 — 92

Taxes other than income 28 — — 28
Total operating expenses 402 61 — 463
Gain on sale of 

Caroline Street campus 16 — — 16
Operating income 258 63 — 321
Equity earnings 

from SouthStar 46 — (46) —
Other losses (6) — — (6)
Minority interest — (17) — (17)
EBIT 298 46 (46) 298
Interest expense 75 — — 75
Earnings before income taxes 223 46 (46) 223
Income taxes 87 — — 87
Income before cumulative 

effect of change in 
accounting principle $136 $ 46 $ (46) $ 136
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Discussion of Consolidated Results

2005 compared to 2004 Our earnings per share and net income
for the year ended December 31, 2005 were higher than the prior
year due to the acquisitions of NUI and Jefferson Island combined
with strong contributions from our wholesale services and retail
energy operations businesses.

Consolidated EBIT for 2005 increased by $105 million or 33%
from the previous year, of which $56 million related to EBIT contribu-
tions from the 2004 acquisitions of NUI and Jefferson Island and from
Pivotal Propane of Virginia, Inc. (Pivotal Propane), which became oper-
ational in 2005. The increase further reflected increased contributions
of $8 million from Atlanta Gas Light in distribution operations, $11 mil-
lion from retail energy operations and $3 million from AGL Networks,
LLC (AGL Networks) in energy investments. Wholesale services’ EBIT
increased $25 million primarily due to increased operating margins par-
tially offset by higher operating expenses. The corporate segment
improved by $5 million as compared to last year primarily due to
merger- and acquisition-related costs incurred in 2004 but not in 2005.

Operating margin increased $255 million or 30%, primarily
reflecting the NUI and Jefferson Island acquisitions and completion of
the Pivotal Propane facility in Virginia, as well as improved margins
at SouthStar, Sequent and AGL Networks. Excluding the addition of
the NUI utilities, distribution operations’ margins improved by $8 mil-
lion mainly as a result of higher pipeline replacement revenues and
additional carrying costs charged to retail marketers in Georgia for gas
storage. Retail energy operations’ margins were up $14 million, due
primarily to higher commodity margins. Wholesale services’ operat-
ing margin increased $39 million year over year, primarily due to activ-
ity during the third and fourth quarters of 2005. Energy investments’
margins were also up $27 million, primarily as a result of the acquisi-
tion of Jefferson Island that contributed $13 million; contributions
from NUI’s nonutility businesses of $8 million; contribution from 
Pivotal Propane of $3 million; and improved operating margin at 
AGL Networks of $4 million.

Operating expenses increased $145 million or 29%, primarily as
a result of $124 million in higher expenses at distribution operations
due to the addition of NUI. In addition, operating expenses at energy
investments increased $15 million due to the addition of Jefferson
Island, the NUI nonutility assets and Pivotal Propane. Operating
expenses at wholesale services increased $13 million due to increased
payroll and employee incentive compensation costs resulting from 

its operational and financial growth and depreciation on a trading 
and risk management system placed in service during 2004. The
increased operating expenses were offset by lower corporate operat-
ing expenses primarily due to prior-year costs incurred with merger
and acquisition activities.

Interest expense for 2005 was $109 million, or $38 million
higher than in 2004. As indicated in the table below, higher short-term
interest rates and higher debt outstanding combined to increase our
interest expense in 2005 relative to the previous year. The increase of
$549 million in average debt outstanding for 2005 compared to 2004
was due to additional debt incurred as a result of the acquisitions of
NUI and Jefferson Island, and higher working capital requirements as
a result of higher natural gas prices.

Dollars in millions 2005 2004

Total interest expense $ 109 $ 71
Average debt outstanding1 1,823 1,274
Average interest rate 6.0% 5.6%
1 Daily average of all outstanding debt.

We anticipate our interest expense in 2006 will be higher than
in 2005 due to higher projected interest rates. Based on $728 mil-
lion of variable-rate debt, which includes $522 million of our short-
term debt, $100 million of variable-rate senior notes and $106 million
of variable-rate gas facility revenue bonds outstanding at Decem-
ber 31, 2005, a 100 basis point change in market interest rates from
4.7% to 5.7% would result in an increase in annual pretax interest
expense of $7 million.

The increase in income tax expense of $27 million or 30% for
2005 compared to 2004 reflected additional income taxes of $25 mil-
lion due to higher corporate earnings year over year and $2 million
due to a slightly higher effective tax rate of 38% for 2005 as compared
to 37% in 2004. We expect our effective tax rate for the year ending
December 31, 2006 to be similar to the effective rate for the year
ended December 31, 2005.

As a result of our 11 million share equity offering in November
2004, earnings results for the year are based on weighted average
shares outstanding of 77.3 million, while 2004 results were based
on weighted average shares outstanding of 66.3 million.
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2004 compared to 2003 Our EBIT for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2004 was higher than the prior year due to stronger contribu-
tions from our wholesale services business and retail energy
operations and from the acquisitions of NUI and Jefferson Island.

Consolidated EBIT for 2004 increased $16 million or 5% as
compared to 2003, of which $10 million related to EBIT contributions
from our acquisitions of NUI ($7 million) and Jefferson Island ($3 mil-
lion) during the fourth quarter of 2004. Distribution operations’ EBIT for
2004 remained relatively flat as compared to 2003. For comparison
purposes, however, distribution operations’ EBIT in 2004 increased by
$13 million after excluding the effect of a net $13 million pretax gain on
the sales of company property and a related charitable contribution
in 2003. The increase further reflected increased contributions from
SouthStar in retail energy operations of $6 million, AGL Networks in
energy investments of $3 million and Sequent in wholesale services of
$4 million. Additionally, our energy investments segment had a $4 mil-
lion increase in EBIT due to the 2004 sale of Heritage Propane and of
a residential development property in Savannah, Georgia. These
increases were partially offset by lower contributions of $4 million from
our corporate segment due to increased outside service costs 
associated with software maintenance, licensing and implementation
of our work management project, higher costs due to Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX 404) compliance efforts and
merger- and acquisition-related costs.

Our operating margin for 2004 increased $69 million or 9% 
as compared to 2003 pro-forma operating margin, primarily reflecting
the 2004 NUI and Jefferson Island acquisitions, which contributed
$29 million. Sequent, SouthStar and AGL Networks also had
improved 2004 operating margins of $13 million, $8 million (on a pro-
forma basis) and $2 million, respectively. Excluding the addition of the
NUI utilities, distribution operations’ margins improved by $17 mil-
lion mainly at Atlanta Gas Light and Virginia Natural Gas, Inc. (Virginia
Natural Gas). Atlanta Gas Light’s operating margin increased as a
result of higher pipeline replacement revenues, additional carrying
costs charged to retail marketers in Georgia for gas storage, customer
growth and higher customer usage. Virginia Natural Gas’ operating
margin increased primarily due to customer growth.

Operating expenses increased $42 million on a pro-forma basis
or 9% primarily as a result of $19 million in higher expenses due to the
additions of NUI and Jefferson Island. In addition, operating expenses
at wholesale services increased $9 million due to increased outside
service costs related to its energy trading and risk management 

system and SOX 404 compliance projects and an increase in the
number of employees, as well as increased depreciation. Excluding
the effects of our acquisition of NUI, distribution operations’ expenses
increased $10 million as a result of increased costs related to infor-
mation technology projects, SOX 404 compliance and depreciation
expense, offset by decreased bad debt expense.

Our corporate segment also had a $6 million increase in oper-
ating expenses primarily from increased outside service costs asso-
ciated with software maintenance, licensing and implementation
projects, as well as for SOX 404 compliance efforts and merger and
acquisition activities. These increased operating expenses were off-
set by a $2 million decrease at SouthStar on a pro-forma basis mainly
due to lower bad debt expense offset by higher corporate allocated
overhead and SOX 404 compliance costs.

Interest expense for 2004 was $71 million or $4 million lower
than in 2003. As shown in the following table, a favorable interest rate
environment and the issuance of lower-interest long-term debt com-
bined to lower the company’s interest expense in 2004 relative to the
previous year. The increase of $19 million in average debt outstand-
ing for 2004 compared to 2003 was due to additional debt incurred
as a result of the acquisitions of NUI and Jefferson Island.

Dollars in millions 2004 2003

Total interest expense $ 71 $ 75
Average debt outstanding1 1,274 1,255
Average interest rate 5.6% 6.0%
1 Daily average of all outstanding debt.

The increase in income tax expense of $3 million or 3% for
2004 compared to 2003 reflected $8 million of additional income
taxes due to higher corporate earnings year over year, offset by a 
$5 million decrease in income taxes due to a decrease in the effective
tax rate from 39% in 2003 to 37% in 2004. The decline in the effec-
tive tax rate was primarily the result of income tax adjustments
recorded in the third quarter of 2004 in connection with our annual
comparison of filed tax returns to related income tax accruals.

As a result of our 11 million share equity offering in November
2004, earnings results for the year are based on weighted average
shares outstanding of 66.3 million, while 2003 results were based
on weighted average shares outstanding of 63.1 million.
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Each utility operates subject to regulations provided by the state
regulatory agency in its service territories with respect to rates charged
to our customers, maintenance of accounting records, and various
other service and safety matters. Rates charged to our customers vary
according to customer class (residential, commercial or industrial) and
rate jurisdiction. Rates are set at levels that allow recovery of all pru-
dently incurred costs, including a return on rate base sufficient to pay
interest on debt and provide a reasonable return on common equity.
Rate base consists generally of the original cost of utility plant in serv-
ice, working capital, inventories and certain other assets; less accu-
mulated depreciation on utility plant in service, net deferred income tax
liabilities and certain other deductions. Our utilities are authorized to
use a purchased gas adjustment (PGA) mechanism that allows them

to automatically adjust their rates to reflect changes in the wholesale
cost of natural gas and to ensure the utilities recover 100% of the costs
incurred in purchasing gas for their customers. We continuously mon-
itor the performance of our utilities to determine whether rates need to
be further adjusted by making a rate case filing.

Increased Natural Gas Prices, Bad Debt and Conservation

Increased prices of natural gas are being driven by increased demand
that is exceeding the growth in available supply. The hurricanes in the
Gulf Coast region during the late summer and early fall of 2005
impacted the availability of natural gas supply, causing a dramatic 
rise in natural gas prices. These higher prices have thus far been mit-
igated in part by significantly warmer-than-normal temperatures in the
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Distribution Operations

Distribution operations includes our natural gas local distribution utility companies that construct, manage and maintain natural gas pipelines
and distribution facilities and serve more than 2.2 million end-use customers. The following table provides operational information for our larger
utilities. The daily capacity represents total system capability, and the storage capacity includes on-system liquefied natural gas (LNG) and
propane volumes.

Atlanta Gas Light Elizabethtown Gas Virginia Natural Gas Florida City Gas Chattanooga Gas

Operations

Average end-use customers (in thousands) 1,545 266 261 103 61
Daily capacity1 2.5 0.4 0.4 0.1 0.2
Storage capacity1 49.4 13.6 9.6 — 3.6
Annual distribution1 232 59 36 10 16
2005 peak day demand1 1.9 0.4 0.4 0.04 0.1
Peak storage capacity1 6.2 0.1 0.8 — 1.2
Average monthly throughput1 19.3 4.9 3.0 0.8 1.4
Miles of pipeline 30,427 4,948 5,106 3,162 1,521
Rates

Last decision on change in rates June 2005 Nov. 2002 Oct. 1996 Feb. 2004 Oct. 2004
Authorized return on rate base 8.53% 7.95% 9.24% 7.36% 7.43%
Estimated 2005 return on rate base2,3 8.68% 6.54% 8.71% 6.25% 7.88%
Authorized return on equity 10.9% 10.0% 10.9% 11.25% 10.2%
Estimated 2005 return on equity2,3 11.21% 6.37% 10.51% 8.32% 11.47%
Authorized rate base % of equity4 47.9% 53.0% 52.4% 36.8% 35.5%
Rate base included in 2005 return on equity (in millions)3,4 $1,181 $433 $321 $118 $96
1 In millions of dekatherms.
2 Estimate based on principles consistent with utility ratemaking in each jurisdiction. Returns are not consistent with GAAP returns.
3 Estimate based on 13-month average.
4 Rate base for Elizabethtown Gas based on amounts filed in a 2002 rate case; however, no specific rate base was authorized due to settlement by stipulation with the New Jersey Board of Public Utilities. A 53% rate base

of equity for Elizabethtown Gas was authorized in the most recent rate case; however, 50% is used for rate of return calculation purposes based on estimated current regulatory capital structure.
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eastern United States during the first half of the heating season. We
expect our customers will incur increases in their bills during the
remainder of the current winter heating season.

An increase in the cost of gas due to higher natural gas com-
modity costs generally has no direct effect on our utility’s net operat-
ing margin and net income due to the PGA mechanisms at our
utilities. However, net income may be reduced as a result of higher
expenses that may be incurred for bad debt, as well as lower volumes
of natural gas deliveries to customers due to customer conservation
and thus lower natural gas consumption.

These risks of increased bad debt expense and decreased
operating margins from conservation are minimized at our largest util-
ity, Atlanta Gas Light, as a result of its straight-fixed-variable rate
structure and because customers in Georgia buy gas from certificated
marketers rather than from Atlanta Gas Light. Our credit exposure at
Atlanta Gas Light is primarily related to the provision of services for
the certificated marketers, but that exposure is mitigated because we
obtain security support in an amount equal to a minimum of two times
a marketer’s highest month’s estimated bill.

As part of our integration strategy, we have implemented meas-
ures at our New Jersey and Florida utilities to collect delinquent
accounts; these measures are similar to our processes at Virginia 
Natural Gas and Chattanooga Gas Company (Chattanooga Gas).
Across our utility system, bad debt levels are lower year-to-date than
they have been in previous years, and we will continue to monitor and
mitigate the impact of uncollectible expenses.

We are partnering with regulators and state agencies in each of
our jurisdictions to educate customers about these issues, and partic-
ularly to ensure that those who qualify for Low Income Home Energy
Assistance funds and similar programs receive that assistance.

Competition Our distribution operations businesses face com-
petition based on customer preferences for natural gas compared
to other energy products and the comparative prices of those prod-
ucts. Our principal competition relates to electric utilities and oil and
propane providers serving the residential and small commercial mar-
kets throughout our service areas and the potential displacement or
replacement of natural gas appliances with electric appliances. The
primary competitive factors are the price of energy and the desirabil-
ity of natural gas heating versus alternative heating sources.

Competition for space heating and general household and small
commercial energy needs generally occurs at the initial installation
phase when the customer/builder makes decisions as to which types
of equipment to install. Customers generally continue to use the 
chosen energy source for the life of the equipment. Customer demand
for natural gas could be affected by numerous factors, including

▪ changes in the availability or price of natural gas and other forms
of energy

▪ general economic conditions
▪ energy conservation
▪ legislation and regulations
▪ the capability to convert from natural gas to alternative fuels
▪ weather

In some of our service areas, net growth continues to be slowed
due to the number of customers who leave our systems because of
higher natural gas prices and competition from alternative fuel
sources, including incentives offered by the local electric utilities to
switch to electric heat alternatives.

We expect customer growth to improve in the future through
our efforts in new business and retention. These efforts include work-
ing to add residential customers with three or more appliances, multi-
family complexes and high-value commercial customers that use
natural gas for purposes other than space heating. In addition, we
partner with numerous entities to market the benefits of gas appli-
ances and to identify potential retention options early in the process
for those customers who might consider leaving our franchise by con-
verting to alternative fuels.

Atlanta Gas Light This natural gas local distribution utility operates
distribution systems and related facilities throughout Georgia. Atlanta
Gas Light is regulated by the Georgia Public Service Commission
(Georgia Commission).

Prior to Georgia’s 1997 Natural Gas Competition and Deregu-
lation Act (Deregulation Act), which deregulated Georgia’s natural gas
market, Atlanta Gas Light was the supplier and seller of natural gas
to its customers. Today, Marketers—that is, marketers who are certifi-
cated by the Georgia Commission to sell retail natural gas in Georgia
at rates and on terms approved by the Georgia Commission—sell
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natural gas to end-use customers in Georgia and handle customer
billing functions. Atlanta Gas Light’s role includes

▪ distributing natural gas for Marketers
▪ constructing, operating and maintaining the gas system infrastruc-

ture, including responding to customer service calls and leaks
▪ reading meters and maintaining underlying customer premise infor-

mation for Marketers

Since 1998, a number of federal and state proceedings have
addressed the role of Atlanta Gas Light in administering and assign-
ing interstate assets to Marketers pursuant to the provisions of the
Deregulation Act. In this role, Atlanta Gas Light is authorized to offer
additional sales services pursuant to Georgia Commission–approved
tariffs and to acquire and continue managing the interstate transporta-
tion and storage contracts that underlie the sales services provided
to Marketers on its distribution system under Georgia Commission–
approved tariffs.

Rate Settlement Agreement In June 2005, the Georgia
Commission approved a Settlement Agreement with Atlanta Gas 
Light that froze Atlanta Gas Light’s base rates billed to customers as
of April 30, 2005 through April 30, 2010. The Settlement Agreement
also requires Atlanta Gas Light to recognize reduced revenues of 
$25 million over the same period, to spend $2 million annually on
energy conservation programs and to spend an additional $2 million
for social responsibility and education programs. The Settlement
Agreement was effective for rates as of May 1, 2005. Atlanta Gas
Light offset the impact of the Settlement Agreement on its 2005 
EBIT by identifying and implementing reductions in its operating costs
and by realizing increased operating margins from net customer
growth in 2005.

During the term of the Settlement Agreement, Atlanta Gas Light
will not seek a rate increase, nor will the Georgia Commission initiate
a new rate proceeding. Atlanta Gas Light will file information equiva-
lent to information that would be required for a general rate case on
November 1, 2009, with new rates to be effective on May 1, 2010.

The Settlement Agreement establishes an authorized return on
equity of 10.9% for Atlanta Gas Light, resulting in an overall rate of
return of 8.53%. Prior to the settlement, Atlanta Gas Light’s author-
ized return on equity was 11% and its overall return was set at 9.16%.

The Settlement Agreement extends Atlanta Gas Light’s pipe-
line replacement program (PRP) by five years to require that all

replacements be completed by December 2013 and sets the per-
customer PRP rate to be billed at $1.29 per customer per month from
May 2005 through September 2008 and at $1.95 from October 2008
through December 2013. Atlanta Gas Light will apply the five-year
total reduction in recognized base rate revenues of $25 million to the
amount of costs incurred to replace pipe, reducing the amount recov-
ered from customers under the PRP. The timing of replacements was
subsequently specified in an amendment to the PRP stipulation.

This amendment, which was approved by the Georgia Com-
mission on December 20, 2005, requires Atlanta Gas Light to replace
the remaining 152 miles of cast iron pipe and 70% of the remaining
687 miles of bare steel pipe by December 2010. The remaining 30%
of bare steel pipe is required to be replaced by December 2013. The
amendment requires an evaluation by Atlanta Gas Light and the 
Georgia Commission staff of 22 miles of 24-inch pipe in Atlanta by
December 2010 to determine if such pipe requires replacement. 
If replacement of this pipe is required, the pipe must be replaced by
December 2013. The additional cost to replace this pipe is projected
to be approximately $37 million.

The Settlement Agreement includes a provision that allows for
a true-up of any over- or under-recovery of PRP revenues that may
result from a difference between PRP charges collected through fixed
rates and actual PRP revenues recognized through the remainder of
the program.

Atlanta Gas Light will be allowed under the Settlement Agree-
ment to recover through the PRP $4 million of the $32 million in cap-
ital costs associated with its March 2005 purchase of 250 miles of
pipeline in central Georgia from Southern Natural Gas Company
(SNG), a subsidiary of El Paso Corporation. We expect the acquired
pipeline to improve deliverable capacity and reliability of the storage
capacity from our LNG facility in Macon to our markets in Atlanta. The
remaining capital costs are included in Atlanta Gas Light’s rate base
and collected through base rates.

Straight-Fixed-Variable Rates Atlanta Gas Light’s revenue
is recognized under a straight-fixed-variable rate design whereby
Atlanta Gas Light charges rates to its customers based primarily on
monthly fixed charges. This mechanism minimizes the seasonality of
revenues since the fixed charge is not volumetric and the monthly
charges are not set to be directly weather dependent. Weather indi-
rectly influences the number of customers that have active accounts
during the heating season, and this has a seasonal impact on Atlanta
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Gas Light’s revenues since generally more customers are connected
in periods of colder weather than in periods of warmer weather.

Elizabethtown Gas This natural gas local distribution utility oper-
ates distribution systems and related facilities in central and north-
western New Jersey. Most Elizabethtown Gas customers are located
in densely populated central New Jersey, where increases in the num-
ber of customers primarily result from conversions to gas heating 
from alternative forms of heating. In the northwestern region of the
state, customer additions are driven primarily by new construction.
Elizabethtown Gas is regulated by the New Jersey Board of Public
Utilities (NJBPU).

Weather Normalization The Elizabethtown Gas tariff con-
tains a weather normalization clause that is designed to help stabilize
Elizabethtown Gas results by increasing base rate amounts charged
to customers when weather is warmer than normal and decreasing
amounts charged when weather is colder than normal. The weather
normalization clause was renewed in October 2004 and is based on
a 20-year average of weather conditions.

Pipeline Replacement In April 2005, Elizabethtown Gas pre-
sented the NJBPU with a proposal to accelerate the replacement of
approximately 88 miles of 8˝ to 12˝ diameter elevated-pressure cast
iron pipe. Under the proposal, approximately $42 million in estimated
capital costs incurred over a three-year period would be recovered
through a pipeline replacement rider similar to the program in effect
at Atlanta Gas Light. If the program as proposed is approved, cost
recovery would occur on a one-year lag basis, with collections start-
ing on October 1, 2006 and extending through December 31, 2009,
after which time the program would be rolled into base rates. On
December 7, 2005, Elizabethtown Gas filed testimony in support of
its proposal. The proposal and related testimony will be considered in
the following timeframe:

▪ The New Jersey Rate Payer Advocate will file testimony on Febru-
ary 28, 2006.

▪ Elizabethtown Gas will file rebuttal testimony on March 17, 2006.
▪ Public hearings will convene on March 30, 2006.

Virginia Natural Gas This natural gas local distribution utility oper-
ates distribution systems and related facilities in southeastern Virginia.
Virginia Natural Gas is regulated by the Virginia State Corporation
Commission (Virginia Commission).

Performance-based Rates In March 2005, the Virginia
Commission staff issued a report alleging that Virginia Natural Gas
rates were excessive and that its rates should be adjusted to produce
a $15 million reduction in revenue. The staff also filed a motion
requesting that Virginia Natural Gas rates be declared interim and
subject to refund.

In April 2005, Virginia Natural Gas responded to the staff’s
report and motion, contesting the allegations in the report and object-
ing to the motion filed by the staff. On April 29, 2005, the Virginia
Commission ordered the staff’s motion to be held in abeyance and
directed Virginia Natural Gas to file a rate case by July 2005.

In July 2005, Virginia Natural Gas filed a performance-based
rate (PBR) plan with the Virginia Commission and included the sched-
ules required for a general rate case in support of its proposal. Under
the PBR plan, Virginia Natural Gas proposes to freeze base rates at
their 1996 levels for 5 additional years. This would provide Virginia
Natural Gas customers an additional 5 years of rate stability, for a total
of 14 years without a rate increase. If the Virginia Commission
approves the proposal, Virginia Natural Gas will become the first 
Virginia natural gas utility to operate under a 1996 state law that
authorized PBR plans for natural gas utilities. Consistent with state
law, Virginia Natural Gas has proposed two exceptions that allow for
adjustments to frozen base rates. Virginia Natural Gas could request
a rate adjustment in connection with (1) any changes in taxation of
gas utility revenues by the Commonwealth and (2) any financial dis-
tress of Virginia Natural Gas beyond its control.

Based on the Virginia Commission’s scheduling order issued on
July 14, 2005, current rates will stay in effect until the PBR is decided;
consequently, there was no impact on Virginia Natural Gas’ 2005 rev-
enues. Based on this scheduling order and the Virginia Commission’s
approval of requests for extension made by the Virginia Commission
staff in December 2005, the PBR proposal to freeze rates for another
five years will be considered on the following timeframe:

▪ Virginia Commission staff filed its testimony and exhibits on Janu-
ary 24, 2006 and requested a $10 million rate decrease.

▪ Virginia Natural Gas filed rebuttal testimony and exhibits on Febru-
ary 7, 2006.

▪ Public evidentiary hearings will convene on February 21, 2006.
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The Virginia state law authorizing PBR plans also allows a util-
ity to withdraw or modify its PBR application at any time prior to a final
ruling by the Virginia Commission. Virginia Natural Gas is currently
evaluating the withdrawal or modification of its PBR plan in light of
current market conditions including rising interest rates, tight natural
gas supplies, rising costs and material constraints caused by lower
oil supplies. If the PBR plan is not approved or is modified by the 
Virginia Commission in a manner that Virginia Natural Gas chooses
not to accept, the Virginia Commission can take action in the general
rate case filing. Virginia Natural Gas’ proposal would not affect its 
Virginia Commission–authorized purchased gas cost, which passes
gas commodity costs through to consumers.

On January 12, 2006, Virginia Natural Gas filed with the Virginia
Commission a proposed motion for approval of Virginia Natural Gas’
PBR plan. If the proposed motion is approved, the PBR plan would
be implemented as filed and Virginia Natural Gas would commit to
certain actions, primarily to construct a pipeline that would connect
Virginia Natural Gas’ northern system to its southern system. Partic-
ipants in and supporters of the proposed motion include Virginia 
Natural Gas; AGL Resources; the Virginia Office of the Attorney 
General—Division of Consumer Counsel; and the Virginia Industrial
Gas Users’ Association. On February 3, 2006, the Virginia Commis-
sion’s hearing examiner recommended that the Virginia Commission
approve the PBR plan. Accordingly, the rate case schedule remains
as previously stipulated.

Weather Normalization Adjustment (WNA) In September
2002, the Virginia Commission approved a WNA program as a two-
year experiment involving the use of special rates. The WNA pro-
gram’s purpose is to reduce the effect of weather on customer bills
by reducing bills when winter weather is colder than normal and
increasing bills when winter weather is warmer than normal. In Sep-
tember 2004, Virginia Natural Gas received approval from the Virginia
Commission to extend the WNA program for an additional two years
with certain modifications to the existing program. The significant
modifications include removal of the commercial class of customers
from the WNA program and the use of a rolling 30-year average to
calculate the weather factor that is updated annually.

Florida City Gas This natural gas local distribution utility operates
distribution systems and related facilities in central and southern
Florida. Florida City Gas customers purchase gas primarily for heat-
ing water, drying clothes and cooking. Some customers, mainly 
in central Florida, also purchase gas to provide space heating during
the winter season. Florida City Gas is regulated by the Florida Public
Service Commission.

Chattanooga Gas This natural gas local distribution utility oper-
ates distribution systems and related facilities in the Chattanooga and
Cleveland areas of southeastern Tennessee. Chattanooga Gas’ base
rates include a weather normalization clause that allows for revenue
to be recognized based on a factor derived from average tempera-
tures over a 30-year period, which offsets the impact of unusually cold
or warm weather on its operating income. Chattanooga Gas is regu-
lated by the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (Tennessee Authority).

Base Rate Increase In June 2005, the Tennessee Authority
upheld its previous October 2004 order denying Chattanooga Gas 
a $4 million rate increase. The October 2004 order approved an
increase of approximately $1 million based on a 10.2% return on
equity and a capital structure of 35.5% common equity.

Elkton Gas This natural gas local distribution utility operates distri-
bution systems and related facilities serving approximately 5,800 cus-
tomers in Cecil County, Maryland. Elkton Gas customers are
approximately 7% commercial and industrial and 93% residential. 
Elkton Gas is regulated by the Maryland Public Service Commission.
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Results of Operations The following table presents results of oper-
ations for distribution operations for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003.

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Operating revenues $1,753 $1,111 $936
Cost of gas 939 471 337
Operating margin 814 640 599
Operation and maintenance 372 286 261
Depreciation and amortization 114 85 81
Taxes other than income taxes 32 23 24

Total operating expenses 518 394 366
Gain on sale of Caroline Street campus — — 21
Operating income 296 246 254
Donation to private foundation — — (8)
Other income 3 1 1

EBIT $ 299 $ 247 $247

Metrics1

Average end-use customers 
(in thousands) 2,242 1,880 1,838

Operation and maintenance 
expenses per customer $166 $152 $142

EBIT per customer2 $133 $131 $127
Throughput (in millions of dekatherms)

Firm 234 194 190
Interruptible 120 105 109

Total 354 299 299
Heating degree days3:

Florida 698 239 —
Georgia 2,726 2,589 2,654
Maryland 5,004 860 —
New Jersey 5,017 873 —
Tennessee 3,115 3,010 3,168
Virginia 3,465 3,214 3,264

1 2004 metrics include only December for Florida City Gas, Elizabethtown Gas and Elkton Gas.
2 Excludes the gain on the sale of our Caroline Street campus in 2003.
3 We measure effects of weather on our businesses using “degree days.” The measure of degree days for

a given day is the difference between average daily actual temperature and a baseline temperature of

65 degrees Fahrenheit. Heating degree days result when the average daily actual temperature is less than

the 65-degree baseline. Generally, increased heating degree days result in greater demand for gas on our

distribution systems.

2005 compared to 2004 EBIT increased $52 million or 21%
reflecting an increase in operating margin of $174 million, partially off-
set by increased operating expenses of $124 million. The businesses
acquired from NUI on November 30, 2004 contributed approximately
$50 million of EBIT in 2005 compared to $7 million in 2004. This was
due to the full-year inclusion of the NUI results in 2005 compared
to one month in 2004.

The $174 million or 27% increase in operating margin was 
primarily due to the addition of NUI’s operations, which contributed
$167 million. The remainder was primarily due to $8 million of higher
operating margin at Atlanta Gas Light. The increase at Atlanta Gas
Light resulted primarily from higher PRP revenues of $6 million and
higher revenue of $3 million from additional carrying charges for gas
stored for Marketers primarily due to higher gas prices. Atlanta Gas
Light also had approximately $3 million of increased operating mar-
gin from net customer growth, which offset a $3 million decrease in
operating revenues that resulted from the June 2005 Settlement
Agreement with the Georgia Commission. Operating margin at 
Virginia Natural Gas and Chattanooga Gas remained relatively flat
compared to last year.

The $124 million or 31% increase in operating expenses primar-
ily reflected the addition of NUI’s operations that increased operating
expenses by $125 million.

2004 compared to 2003 There was no change in distribution
operations’ EBIT from 2003; however, the 2003 results included a 
pretax gain of $21 million on the sale of our Caroline Street campus,
offset by an $8 million donation to AGL Resources Private Foundation,
Inc. Exclusive of the gain and donation, EBIT in 2004 increased 
$13 million or 5% due to increased operating margin, partially offset by
increased operating expenses.

The $41 million or 7% increase in operating margin from 2003
included $17 million in combined increases at Atlanta Gas Light and
Virginia Natural Gas. The increase in Atlanta Gas Light’s operating mar-
gin was primarily due to higher PRP revenue as a result of continued
PRP capital spending, customer growth, higher customer usage and
additional carrying charges from gas stored for Marketers due to a
higher average cost of gas. The increase in operating margin at Virginia
Natural Gas was primarily due to customer growth. The acquisition
of NUI added $24 million of operating margin primarily from NUI’s
December operations of Elizabethtown Gas and Florida City Gas.

Operating expenses increased $28 million or 8% from 2003.
This was due primarily to the addition of NUI operations for the month
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of December of $17 million. The remaining increase of $11 million was
due to increases in the cost of outside services related to increased
information technology services as a result of our ongoing implemen-
tation of a work management system; increased legal services due
to increased regulatory activity; and increased accounting services
related to our implementation of SOX 404. Employee benefit and com-
pensation expenses also increased primarily as a result of higher health
care insurance costs and increased long-term compensation
expenses. In addition, depreciation expenses increased primarily due
to new depreciation rates implemented at Virginia Natural Gas and
increased assets at each utility. These increases were partially offset by
a reduction in bad debt expense, primarily due to a Tennessee Author-
ity ruling that allowed for recovery of the gas portion of accounts writ-
ten off as uncollectible at Chattanooga Gas and increased collection
efforts at both Chattanooga Gas and Virginia Natural Gas.

Retail Energy Operations

Our retail energy operations segment consists of SouthStar, a joint
venture owned 70% by our subsidiary, Georgia Natural Gas Com-
pany, and 30% by Piedmont. SouthStar markets natural gas and
related services to retail customers on an unregulated basis, prin-
cipally in Georgia.

The SouthStar executive committee, which acts as the govern-
ing board, comprises six members, with three representatives from
us and three from Piedmont. Under the joint venture agreement, all
significant management decisions require the unanimous approval of
the SouthStar executive committee; accordingly, our 70% financial
interest is considered to be noncontrolling. Although our ownership
interest in the SouthStar partnership is 70%, SouthStar’s earnings are
allocated 75% to us and 25% to Piedmont, under an amended and
restated joint venture agreement executed in March 2004.

Beginning January 1, 2004, we consolidated the accounts of
SouthStar and eliminated all intercompany balances in the consolida-
tion. We recorded the portion of SouthStar’s earnings that are attrib-
utable to our joint venture partner, Piedmont, as a minority interest in
our statements of consolidated income, and we recorded Piedmont’s
portion of SouthStar’s capital as a minority interest in our consolidated
balance sheets.

Competition SouthStar competes with other energy marketers,
including Marketers in Georgia, to provide natural gas and related
services to customers in Georgia and the Southeast. Based on 
its market share, SouthStar is the largest Marketer of natural gas 
in Georgia, with average customers in 2003 through 2005 in excess
of 530,000.

In addition, similar to distribution operations, SouthStar faces
competition based on customer preferences for natural gas com-
pared to other energy products and the comparative prices of those
products. SouthStar’s principal competition relates to electric utilities
and the potential displacement or replacement of natural gas appli-
ances with electric appliances. This competition with other energy
products has been exacerbated by price volatility in the wholesale
natural gas commodity market, which has resulted in significant
increases in the cost of natural gas billed to SouthStar’s customers.

Operating Margin SouthStar generates its operating margin pri-
marily in two ways. The first is through the sale of natural gas to retail
customers in the residential, commercial and industrial sectors, primar-
ily in Georgia. SouthStar captures a spread between wholesale and
retail natural gas prices and also realizes a portion of its operating mar-
gin through the collection of a monthly service fee and customer late
payment fees. SouthStar’s operating margins are impacted by weather
seasonality as well as by customer growth and SouthStar’s related
market share in Georgia, which traditionally ranges from 35% to 38%.
SouthStar employs a strategy to attract and retain a higher-quality cus-
tomer base through the application of stringent credit requirements.
This strategy results not only in higher operating margin contributions,
as customers tend to utilize higher volumes of natural gas, but also in
higher EBIT through a reduction in bad debt expenses.

The second way in which SouthStar generates margin is
through the optimization of storage and transportation assets.
Through its hedging transactions and derivative instruments aimed 
at managing exposures arising from changing commodity prices,
SouthStar utilizes natural gas storage transactions to profit from nat-
ural gas pricing differences that occur over time. SouthStar does not
hold speculative derivative instruments.

SouthStar is actively seeking to improve its margin-generating
capabilities by evaluating a number of growth opportunities, including
incremental customer growth in Georgia and expansion of its retail
model to other markets, through either organic growth or acquisition
of an existing customer portfolio.
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Impact of High Gas Prices SouthStar’s operating margin and
EBIT from the sales of natural gas to retail customers could be
affected by conservation and bad debt trends as a result of higher
natural gas prices in the 2005–2006 winter heating season. South-
Star’s bad debt expense as a percentage of operating revenues of
approximately 1% for 2005 remained consistent with 2004. We
believe SouthStar’s higher-quality customer base and the unregu-
lated pricing structure in Georgia mitigate our exposure to higher bad
debt expenses.

Results of Operations The following table presents results of
operations for retail energy operations for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2005 and 2004, and pro-forma results as if SouthStar’s
accounts were consolidated with our subsidiaries’ accounts for the
year ended December 31, 2003. The unaudited pro-forma results are
presented for comparative purposes as a result of our consolidation
of SouthStar in 2004. This pro-forma basis is a non-GAAP presen-
tation; however, we believe it is useful to readers of our financial state-
ments since it presents the revenues and expenses for 2003 on the
same basis as 2005 and 2004. In 2003, we recognized our portion of
SouthStar’s earnings of $46 million as equity earnings.

Pro-forma

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Operating revenues $996 $827 $743
Cost of gas 850 695 619
Operating margin 146 132 124
Operation and maintenance 58 60 60
Depreciation and amortization 2 2 1
Taxes other than income 1 — —

Total operating expenses 61 62 61
Operating income 85 70 63
Minority interest (22) (18) (17)
EBIT $ 63 $ 52 $ 46

Metrics

Average customers (in thousands) 531 533 558
Market share in Georgia 35% 36% 38%
Natural gas volumes (billion cubic feet) 44 45 49

2005 compared to 2004 The $11 million or 21% increase in
EBIT for the year ended December 31, 2005 was driven by a $14 mil-
lion increase in operating margin and a $1 million decrease in total
operating expenses, offset by a $4 million increase in minority interest
due to higher earnings.

The $14 million or 11% increase in operating margin was pri-
marily the result of higher commodity margins and positive margin
captured with SouthStar’s storage assets, offset by lower use per
customer and lower late payment fees relative to last year.

There was a slight decrease in operating expenses in 2005
compared to 2004. The decrease was due to lower bad debt
expense resulting from ongoing collection process improvements.

Minority interest increased $4 million or 22% as a direct result
of increased operating income in 2005 compared to 2004.

2004 compared to 2003 The increase in EBIT of $6 million
or 13% for the year ended December 31, 2004 was primarily the
result of higher commodity margins and decreased bad debt expense
during the year.

Operating margin for the year increased $8 million or 6%, 
primarily as a result of a $9 million increase due primarily to a lower
commodity cost structure resulting from continued refinement of
SouthStar’s hedging strategies and a $3 million increase due to a full
year of higher customer service charges from third-party providers.
These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $2 million
related to a one-time sale of stored gas in 2003 and a $2 million
decrease in late payment fees due to an improved customer base.

Operating expenses increased by $1 million or 2% primarily
due to a $5 million increase in costs related to SOX 404 implemen-
tation and corporate overhead allocations, partially offset by lower 
bad debt expense resulting from collection process improvements
and increased quality of customer base. There was also a $1 million
increase in minority interest as a result of higher SouthStar earnings
in 2004 compared to 2003.
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Wholesale Services

Wholesale services consists of Sequent, our subsidiary involved in
asset management, transportation, storage, producer and peaking
services and wholesale marketing. Our asset management business
focuses on capturing economic value from idle or underutilized nat-
ural gas assets, which are typically amassed by companies via invest-
ments in or contractual rights to natural gas transportation and
storage assets. Margin is typically created in this business by partic-
ipating in transactions that balance the needs of varying markets and
time horizons.

Sequent provides its customers in the eastern and mid-
continental United States with natural gas from the major producing
regions and market hubs in the country. Sequent also purchases
transportation and storage capacity to meet its delivery requirements
and customer obligations in the marketplace. Sequent’s customers
benefit from its logistics expertise and ability to deliver natural gas at
prices that are advantageous relative to other alternatives available to
its end-use customers.

Asset Management Transactions Our asset management 
customers include our own utilities, nonaffiliated utilities, municipal util-
ities and large industrial customers. These customers must independ-
ently contract for transportation and storage services to meet their
demands, and they typically contract for these services on a 365-day
basis even though they may only need a portion of these services to
meet their peak demands. Sequent enters into agreements with these
customers, through either contract assignment or agency arrange-
ment, whereby it uses their rights to transportation and storage serv-
ices during periods when they do not need them. Sequent captures
margin by optimizing the purchase, transportation, storage and sale
of natural gas, and Sequent typically either shares profits with cus-
tomers or pays them a fee for using their assets.

In April 2005, Sequent commenced asset management respon-
sibilities for Elizabethtown Gas, Florida City Gas and Elkton Gas. In
October 2005, the agreement between Sequent and Virginia Natural
Gas was renewed for an additional three years. The agreement was
scheduled to expire in October 2005. In January 2006, the Georgia
Commission extended the asset management agreement between
Sequent and Atlanta Gas Light for two additional years. The agree-
ment was scheduled to expire in March 2006. Under the terms of the
extended agreement, Sequent will increase its aggregate net sharing
percentage paid to Atlanta Gas Light from 50% to 60% on the major-
ity of transactions Sequent will initiate going forward in its role as asset
manager. The following table provides additional information on
Sequent’s asset management agreements with its affiliated utilities.

AGL Resources Inc.

MD&A

Duration of Type of fee % shared or Profit-sharing /fees payments

Dollars in millions contract (in years) Expiration date structure annual fee 2005 2004 2003

Elkton Gas 2 March 2007 Fixed-fee (A) $— $— $—
Chattanooga Gas 3 March 2007 Profit-sharing 50% 2 1 —
Atlanta Gas Light 2 March 2008 Profit-sharing 60% 4 4 3
Elizabethtown Gas 3 March 2008 Fixed-fee $4 — — —
Florida City Gas 3 March 2008 Profit-sharing 50% — — —
Virginia Natural Gas 3 March 2009 Profit-sharing (B) 5 3 5
(A) Annual fixed fee is less than $1 million.

(B) Sharing is based on a tiered sharing structure.
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Transportation and Storage Transactions In our wholesale mar-
keting and risk management business, Sequent also contracts for
natural gas transportation and storage services. We participate in
transactions to manage the natural gas commodity and transporta-
tion costs that result in the lowest cost to serve our various markets.
We seek to optimize this process on a daily basis, as market condi-
tions change, by evaluating all the natural gas supplies, transporta-
tion alternatives and markets to which we have access and identifying
the least-cost alternatives to serve our various markets. This enables
us to capture geographic pricing differences across these various
markets as delivered gas prices change.

In a similar manner, we participate in natural gas storage trans-
actions where we seek to identify pricing differences that occur over
time with regard to future delivery periods at multiple locations. We
capture margin by locking in the price differential between purchas-
ing natural gas at the lowest future price and, in a related transaction,
selling that gas at the highest future price, all within the constraints 
of our contracts. Through the use of transportation and storage 
services, we are able to capture margin through the arbitrage of geo-
graphical pricing differences that occur over time.

Producer Services Our producer services business primarily
focuses on aggregating natural gas supply from various small and
medium-sized producers located throughout the natural gas produc-
tion areas of the United States, principally in the Gulf Coast region.
We provide producers with certain logistical and risk management
services that offer them attractive options to move their supply into
the pipeline grid. Aggregating volumes of natural gas from these pro-
ducers allows us to provide markets to producers who seek a reliable
outlet for their natural gas production.

Peaking Services Sequent generates operating margin through,
among other things, the sale of peaking services, which includes
receiving a fee from affiliated and nonaffiliated customers that guar-
antees those customers will receive gas under peak conditions.
Sequent incurs costs to support our obligations under these agree-
ments, which are reduced in whole or in part as the matching obli-
gations expire. We will continue to seek new peaking transactions
as well as work toward extending those that are set to expire.

Competition Sequent competes for asset management business
with other energy wholesalers, often through a competitive bidding
process. There has been significant consolidation of energy whole-
sale operations, particularly among major gas producers. Financial
institutions have also entered the marketplace. As a result, energy
wholesalers have become increasingly willing to place bids for asset
management transactions that are priced to capture market share.
We expect this trend to continue in the near term, which could result
in downward pressure on the volume of transactions and the related
margins available in this portion of Sequent’s business.

Seasonality Fixed cost commitments are generally incurred evenly
over the year, while margins generated through the use of these assets
are generally greatest in the winter heating season and occasionally in
the summer due to peak usage by power generators in meeting air
conditioning load. This increases the seasonality of our business, gen-
erally resulting in higher margins in the first and fourth quarters.

Energy Marketing and Risk Management Activities We account
for derivative transactions in connection with our energy market-
ing activities on a fair value basis in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (SFAS 133). We record
derivative energy commodity contracts (including both physical trans-
actions and financial instruments) at fair value, with unrealized gains
or losses from changes in fair value reflected in our earnings in the
period of change.

Sequent’s energy-trading contracts are recorded on an accrual
basis as required under the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue
No. 02-03, “Issues Involved in Accounting for Contracts under EITF
Issue No. 98-10, ‘Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy 
Trading and Risk Management Activities’” (EITF 02-03) rescission of
EITF 98-10, unless they are derivatives that must be recorded at fair
value under SFAS 133.
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As shown in the table below, Sequent recorded net unrealized
losses related to changes in the fair value of derivative instruments 
utilized in its energy marketing and risk management activities of 
$30 million during 2005, and unrealized gains of $22 million during
2004 and $1 million during 2003. The tables below illustrate the change
in the net fair value of the derivative instruments and energy-trading
contracts during 2005, 2004 and 2003 and provide details of the net
fair value of contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2005.

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Net fair value of contracts outstanding 
at beginning of period $ 17 $ (5) $ 7

Cumulative effect of change 
in accounting principle — — (13)

Net fair value of contracts outstanding 
at beginning of period, as adjusted 17 (5) (6)

Contracts realized or otherwise 
settled during period (47) 11 2

Change in net fair value of 
contract gains (losses) 17 11 (1)

Net fair value of new contracts 
entered into during period — — —

Net fair value of contracts outstanding 
at end of period (13) 17 (5)

Less net fair value of contracts 
outstanding at beginning of period, 
as adjusted for cumulative effect 
of change in accounting principle 17 (5) (6)

Unrealized (loss) gain related 
to changes in the fair value 
of derivative instruments $(30) $22 $ 1

The sources of our net fair value at December 31, 2005 
are as follows. The “prices actively quoted” category represents
Sequent’s positions in natural gas, which are valued exclusively using
New York Mercantile Exchange, Inc. (NYMEX) futures prices. “Prices
provided by other external sources” are basis transactions that rep-
resent the cost to transport the commodity from a NYMEX delivery
point to the contract delivery point. Our basis spreads are primarily
based on quotes obtained either directly from brokers or through
electronic trading platforms.

Prices Prices provided by

In millions actively quoted other external sources

Mature through 2006 $ (3) $(14)
Mature 2007–2008 3 —
Mature 2009–2011 — 1

Total net fair value $— $(13)

Mark-to-market Versus Lower of Average Cost or Market

Sequent purchases natural gas for storage when the current market
price it pays plus the cost for transportation and storage is less than
the market price it could receive in the future. Sequent attempts to
mitigate substantially all the commodity price risk associated with its
storage portfolio. Sequent uses derivative instruments to reduce the
risk associated with future changes in the price of natural gas.
Sequent sells NYMEX futures contracts or other over-the-counter
derivatives in forward months to substantially lock in the profit margin
it will ultimately realize when the stored gas is actually sold.

Natural gas stored in inventory is accounted for differently than
the derivatives Sequent uses to mitigate the commodity price risk
associated with its storage portfolio. The natural gas that Sequent
purchases and injects into storage is accounted for at the lower of
average cost or market. The derivatives that Sequent uses to mitigate
commodity price risk are accounted for at fair value and marked 
to market each period. The difference in accounting can result in
volatility in Sequent’s reported results, even though the expected
profit margin is essentially unchanged from the date the transactions
were consummated.

Earnings Volatility and Price Sensitivity The market dynamics
created by the two Gulf Coast hurricanes significantly impacted 
natural gas prices, primarily in the last five months of 2005. From 
June 30, 2005 to September 30, 2005, the forward NYMEX prices
through March 2006 increased on average approximately $6.10, or
75%. From October 1, 2005 to December 31, 2005, the same prices
decreased on average approximately $3.10, or 21%. These market
dynamics created significant market opportunities for Sequent, as its
storage and transportation activities created increased economic
value compared to 2004.
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The accounting differences described above also impact the
comparability of Sequent’s period-over-period results, since changes
in forward NYMEX prices do not increase and decrease on a con-
sistent basis from year to year. During most of 2005, Sequent’s
reported results were negatively impacted by increases in forward
NYMEX prices, which resulted in the recognition of unrealized losses.
During 2004, the reported results were not as significantly impacted
by changes in forward NYMEX prices. As a result, a comparison of
the 2005 and 2004 reported results yielded an unfavorable variance
during the first nine months of 2005; however, the majority of these
unrealized losses were recovered during the fourth quarter of 2005. 

Storage Inventory Outlook The following table presents the
NYMEX forward natural gas prices as of September 30, 2005 and
December 31, 2005 for the period January 2006 through March
2006, and reflects the prices at which Sequent could buy natural gas
at the Henry Hub for delivery in the same time period. January 2006
futures expired on December 28, 2005; however, they are included in
the table below as they coincide with the January 2006 storage with-
drawals. The Henry Hub, located in Louisiana, is the largest central-
ized point for natural gas spot and futures trading in the United States.
NYMEX uses the Henry Hub as the point of delivery for its natural gas
futures contracts. Many natural gas marketers also use the Henry
Hub as their physical contract delivery point or their price benchmark
for spot trades of natural gas.

NYMEX forward natural gas prices as of

Sep. 2005 Dec. 2005 $ change % change

January 2006 $14.77 $11.43 $(3.34) (23)%
February 2006 14.51 11.23 (3.28) (23)%
March 2006 14.04 11.36 (2.68) (19)%

Average $14.44 $11.34 $(3.10) (21)%

The forward NYMEX prices decreased on average 21% in the
fourth quarter of 2005 due to warmer-than-normal weather in late
December 2005 and the diminishing effects of hurricanes Rita and
Katrina in the fall of 2005. Sequent’s original economic profit margin
was unaffected by these changes in the NYMEX forward natural gas
prices due to the hedging instruments that it has in place. However,
the decline in NYMEX prices during the fourth quarter of 2005
resulted in the recovery of previously reported unrealized losses asso-
ciated with Sequent’s NYMEX contracts.

Sequent’s expected withdrawals from physical salt dome and
reservoir storage are presented in the table below along with its
expected gross margin. Sequent’s expected gross margin is net of
the impact of regulatory sharing and reflects the amounts that we
would expect to realize in future periods based on the inventory with-
drawal schedule and forward natural gas prices at December 31,
2005. Sequent’s storage inventory is fully hedged with futures as its
NYMEX short positions are equal to the physical long positions, which
results in an overall locked-in margin, timing notwithstanding.
Sequent’s physical salt dome and reservoir volumes are presented
in increments of 10,000 million British thermal units (MMBtu).

Withdrawal schedule (in MMBtu) Expected gross

Physical salt dome Physical reservoir margin (in millions)1

January 2006 119 92 $ 5
February 2006 149 212 6
March 2006 16 252 5

Total 284 556 $16
1 After regulatory sharing.

The weighted average cost of natural gas in inventory was
$9.76 for physical salt dome storage and $8.98 for physical reser-
voir storage.

As noted above, Sequent’s inventory level and pricing as of
December 31, 2005 should result in a gross margin of approximately
$16 million through March 2006 if all factors remain the same, but
could change if Sequent adjusts its daily injection and withdrawal
plans in response to changes in market conditions in future months.

Credit Rating Sequent has certain trade and credit contracts that
have explicit credit rating trigger events in case of a credit rating
downgrade. These rating triggers typically give counterparties the
right to suspend or terminate credit if our credit ratings are down-
graded to non–investment grade status. Under such circumstances,
we would need to post collateral to continue transacting with some
of our counterparties. Posting collateral would have a negative effect
on our liquidity. If such collateral were not posted, our ability to con-
tinue transacting with these counterparties would be impaired. If at
December 31, 2005 our credit ratings had been downgraded to
non–investment grade, the required amounts to satisfy potential 
collateral demands under such agreements between Sequent and its
counterparties would have totaled $51 million.
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Results of Operations The following table presents results of
operations for wholesale services for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003.

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Operating revenues $95 $54 $41
Cost of sales 3 1 1
Operating margin 92 53 40
Operation and maintenance 39 27 20
Depreciation and amortization 2 1 —
Taxes other than income 1 1 —
Total operating expenses 42 29 20
Operating income 50 24 20
Other loss (1) — —
EBIT $49 $24 $20

Metrics

Physical sales volumes 
(billion cubic feet/day) 2.17 2.10 1.75

2005 compared to 2004 The increase in EBIT of $25 million
or 104% in 2005 compared to 2004 was due to an increase in oper-
ating margin of $39 million partially offset by an increase in operating
expenses of $13 million.

Sequent’s operating margin increased by $39 million or 74%
primarily due to the significant effects of the Gulf Coast hurricanes
during the third quarter of 2005 and lingering market disruptions and
price volatility throughout the fourth quarter. For the first nine months
of the year, reported operating margin was similar to that of the prior
year, with quarterly decreases being offset by quarterly increases.
However, during the third quarter of 2005, while we created substan-
tial economic value by serving our customers during the storms, our
reported operating margin was negatively impacted by accounting
losses associated with our storage hedges as a result of increases
in forward natural gas prices of approximately $6 per MMBtu. Dur-
ing the fourth quarter, natural gas prices continued to be volatile in the
aftermath of the hurricanes and we were able to further optimize our
storage and transportation positions at levels in excess of the prior
year. In addition, our previously reported hedge losses were partially
recovered during the fourth quarter as forward natural gas prices
decreased approximately $3 per MMBtu.

Operating expenses increased by $13 million or 45% due 
to additional payroll associated with increased headcount and
increased employee incentive compensation costs driven by
Sequent’s operational and financial growth and depreciation expense
in connection with Sequent’s new energy trading and risk manage-
ment (ETRM) system, which was implemented during the fourth quar-
ter of 2004.

2004 compared to 2003 EBIT increased $4 million or 20%
from 2003 to 2004 due to a $13 million increase in operating mar-
gin, partially offset by a $9 million increase in operating expenses.

Operating margin increased by $13 million or 33% primarily
due to increased volatility during the fourth quarter of 2004, which
provided Sequent with seasonal trading, marketing, origination and
asset management opportunities in excess of those experienced
during the prior year. Also contributing to the increase were advan-
tageous transportation values to the Northeast and new peaking and
third-party asset management transactions. Sequent’s sales volumes
for 2004 averaged 2.10 billion cubic feet per day, a 20% increase
from the prior year. This increase resulted primarily from the addi-
tion of new counterparties, increased presence in the midwestern
and northeastern markets and continued growth in origination and
asset management activities, as well as business generated due to
the market volatility experienced during the fourth quarter.

As a result of a decline in forward NYMEX prices, the 2004
results reflected the recognition of unrealized gains associated with the
financial instruments used to economically hedge Sequent’s inventory
held in storage. If the forward NYMEX price in effect at December 1,
2004 had also been in effect at December 31, 2004, based on
Sequent’s storage positions at December 31, 2004, Sequent’s
reported EBIT would have been $19 million. At December 31, 2003,
an increase in forward NYMEX prices resulted in the recognition of
modest unrealized losses associated with inventory hedges.

Partially offsetting the improved fourth-quarter results was
lower volatility during the second quarter of 2004 compared to the
same period in 2003, which compressed Sequent’s trading and mar-
keting activities and the related margins within its transportation port-
folio. In addition, Sequent’s weighted average cost of natural gas
stored in inventory was $5.06 per MMBtu during the first quarter of
2004 compared to $2.20 per MMBtu during the same period in 2003.
This significant difference in cost resulted in reduced operating mar-
gins period over period.
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Operating expenses increased by $9 million or 45% due primar-
ily to additional salary expense as a result of an increase in the num-
ber of employees; additional costs for outside services related to the
development and implementation of Sequent’s ETRM system; the
implementation of SOX 404; and increased corporate costs. In addi-
tion, 2004 operating expenses reflected depreciation associated with
the recently implemented ETRM system.

Energy Investments

Pivotal Jefferson Island This wholly owned subsidiary operates a
salt dome storage and hub facility in Louisiana, approximately eight
miles from the Henry Hub. The storage facility is regulated by the
Louisiana Public Service Commission and by the FERC, which 
has limited regulatory authority over the storage and transportation
services. The facility consists of two salt dome gas storage caverns
with 10 million dekatherms (MMDth) of total capacity and about 
7.2 MMDth of working gas capacity. The facility has approximately
720,000 Dth/day withdrawal capacity and 360,000 Dth/day injec-
tion capacity. Pivotal Jefferson Island provides for storage and hub
services through its direct connection to the Henry Hub via the Sabine
Pipeline and its interconnection with seven other pipelines in the area.
Our subsidiary Pivotal Energy Development (Pivotal Development) is
responsible for day-to-day operation of the facility. Pivotal Jefferson
Island is fully subscribed for the 2005–2006 winter period.

In October 2005, Pivotal Jefferson Island announced that it is
soliciting customer interest, in the form of nonbinding bids for capac-
ity, in a project that would expand Pivotal Jefferson Island’s salt dome
storage facility by 175% from its current capacity of 7.2 MMDth to as
much as 19.8 MMDth. The expansion under consideration includes
the development of a third and a fourth storage cavern at the facility,
with each cavern having a working gas capacity of 6 MMDth. If there
is sufficient customer interest in the project, construction would begin
in early 2006. We would expect to complete the third cavern by 2009
and would expect the fourth cavern to be operational by 2011. The
expansion project also includes expanding the number of pipeline
interconnections in order to enhance Pivotal Jefferson Island’s flexibil-
ity with regard to storage capacity and deliverability. In February 2006,
our Board of Directors approved the project and authorized it to go 
forward. We expect to spend up to approximately $160 million on the
expansion project. Pivotal Development’s engineering estimates and

the need to acquire equipment with appropriate specifications could
result in increased costs and delays in the completion of the project.

Pivotal Jefferson Island’s competition is limited to other salt
dome caverns in the Gulf Coast. We believe that Pivotal Jefferson
Island is uniquely situated with its direct connection to the Henry Hub
and its connection to seven other pipelines. For these reasons we
believe that Pivotal Jefferson Island will be subscribed ahead of most
of its competitors.

Pivotal Propane In 2005, this wholly owned subsidiary completed
the construction of a propane air facility in the Virginia Natural Gas
service area that provides up to 28,800 Dth of propane air per day on
a 10-day-per-year basis to serve Virginia Natural Gas’ peaking needs.

AGL Networks This wholly owned subsidiary is a provider of
telecommunications conduit and dark fiber. AGL Networks leases and
sells its fiber to a variety of customers in the Atlanta, Georgia and
Phoenix, Arizona metropolitan areas, with a small presence in other
cities in the United States. Its customers include local, regional and
national telecommunications companies, internet service providers,
educational institutions and other commercial entities. AGL Networks
typically provides underground conduit and dark fiber to its customers
under leasing arrangements with terms that vary from 1 to 20 years. In
addition, AGL Networks offers telecommunications construction serv-
ices to companies. AGL Networks’ competitors are any entities that
have or will lay conduit and fiber on the same route as AGL Networks
in the respective metropolitan areas.

Sale of Certain NUI Assets In August 2005, we sold our 50%
interest in Saltville Gas Storage Company, LLC (Saltville) and associ-
ated subsidiaries (Virginia Gas Pipeline and Virginia Gas Storage) to a
subsidiary of Duke Energy Corporation, the other 50% partner in the
Saltville joint venture. We acquired these nonutility assets as part of
our purchase of NUI in November 2004. We received $66 million in
cash at closing, which included $4 million in working capital adjust-
ments, and used the proceeds to repay short-term debt and for other
general corporate purposes.
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Results of Operations The following table presents results of
operations for energy investments for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003.

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Operating revenues $56 $25 $ 6
Cost of sales 16 12 1
Operating margin 40 13 5
Operation and maintenance 17 5 9
Depreciation and amortization 5 2 1
Taxes other than income 1 1 —
Total operating expenses 23 8 10
Operating income 17 5 (5)
Other income 2 2 2
EBIT $19 $ 7 $ (3)

2005 compared to 2004 The $12 million or 171% increase
in EBIT in 2005 was primarily the result of increased operating margin
of $27 million, offset by $15 million in higher operating expenses.

Of the $27 million or 208% increase in operating margin, $13 mil-
lion resulted from Pivotal Jefferson Island; $8 million from NUI’s non-
utility businesses; and $3 million from Pivotal Propane. AGL Networks
contributed $4 million primarily from growth both in recurring revenues
from fiber leasing activities of $1 million and in construction and new
business activities of $3 million.

Of the $15 million or 188% increase in operating expenses,
$8 million resulted from NUI’s nonutility businesses, $3 million resulted
from Pivotal Jefferson Island and $1 million resulted from Pivotal
Propane. AGL Networks’ operating expenses were relatively flat in
2005 as compared to 2004.

2004 compared to 2003 The increase in EBIT of $10 million
was primarily the result of $3 million from Pivotal Jefferson Island and
$3 million from AGL Networks. The remaining increase of $4 million
was from the sale of Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. and the sale of
a residential and retail development property in Savannah, Georgia in
the second quarter of 2004.

Operating margin for the year increased $8 million primarily as
a result of the addition of Pivotal Jefferson Island’s $4 million of oper-
ating margin and an operating margin increase at AGL Networks of
$4 million due to increased revenue from a variety of customers.

Operating expenses decreased by $2 million or 20% primarily
due to decreased headcount at AGL Networks.

Corporate

Our corporate segment includes our nonoperating business units,
including AGL Services Company (AGSC), AGL Capital Corporation
(AGL Capital) and Pivotal Development. AGSC is a service company
established in accordance with the PUHCA. AGL Capital provides for
our ongoing financing needs through a commercial paper program,
the issuance of various debt and hybrid securities, and other financ-
ing arrangements.

Pivotal Development coordinates, among our related operating
segments, the development, construction or acquisition of assets in
the southeastern, mid-Atlantic and northeastern regions in order to
extend our natural gas capabilities and improve system reliability 
while enhancing service to our customers in those areas. The focus
of Pivotal Development’s commercial activities is to improve the 
economics of system reliability and natural gas deliverability in these 
targeted regions.

We allocate substantially all of AGSC’s and AGL Capital’s oper-
ating expenses and interest costs to our operating segments in
accordance with the PUHCA and state regulations. Our corporate
segment also includes intercompany eliminations for transactions
between our operating business segments. Our EBIT results include
the impact of these allocations to the various operating segments.
The acquisition of additional assets, such as NUI and Pivotal Jeffer-
son Island, typically will enable us to allocate corporate costs across
a larger number of businesses and, as a result, lower the relative allo-
cations charged to those business units we owned prior to the acqui-
sition of the new businesses.

AGSC Restructuring As a result of the NUI acquisition, the asso-
ciated centralization of certain administrative and operational functions
and our ongoing desire to operate as efficiently as possible, we
began, during the first quarter of 2005, a review of certain functions
within our AGSC subsidiary. We expect this process to be part of an
ongoing effort to optimize staffing levels and work processes across
our entire company.

The effects of this effort were the restructuring of certain key
corporate functions and the elimination of filled and vacant positions
within AGSC. We recorded a charge of $3 million in 2005, primarily
as a result of severance-related costs associated with the restruc-
turing and elimination of the filled positions at AGSC. Based on efforts
performed to date, as well as actual costs incurred to date and 
our original basis for the earnings guidance previously provided, we
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estimate the annual savings from these efforts to be in the range of
$6 million to $10 million. 

Results of Operations The following table presents results of oper-
ations for our corporate segment for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003.

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Payroll $ 57 $ 48 $ 48
Benefits and incentives 34 32 32
Outside services 43 29 19
Taxes other than income 5 4 2
Other 52 46 44
Total operating expenses 

before allocations 191 159 145
Allocations to operating segments (185) (147) (139)
Operating expenses 6 12 6
Loss on asset disposed—

Caroline Street campus — — (5)
Operating loss (6) (12) (11)
Other losses (5) (4) (1)
EBIT $ (11) $ (16) $ (12)

The corporate segment is a nonoperating segment. As such,
changes in EBIT amounts for the indicated periods reflect the relative
changes in various general and administrative expenses, such as pay-
roll, benefits and incentives and outside services.

2005 compared to 2004 The $5 million or 31% increase in
EBIT for 2005 compared to 2004 was primarily due to decreased
operating expenses of $6 million. These decreased costs were primar-
ily due to merger- and acquisition-related costs incurred in 2004 but
not in 2005. With respect to total operating expenses before alloca-
tions, payroll expenses in 2005 increased due to headcount in the
corporate segment resulting from the acquisition of NUI in November
of 2004 and the realignment and transfer of certain corporate func-
tions to AGSC.

Outside services expenses increased primarily due to higher
costs associated with process improvement projects in the informa-
tion technology, finance and human resources areas.

Benefits and incentives increased primarily as a result of 
higher payroll-related expenses. In addition, severance expenses
increased as a result of the AGSC restructuring and process improve-
ment initiatives.

2004 compared to 2003 The decrease in EBIT of $4 mil-
lion or 33% for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to the
same period in 2003 primarily was due to an increase in operating
expenses of $6 million. The increase in operating expenses was 
primarily due to increased outside services costs associated with 
software maintenance; licensing and implementation of our work
management system project; higher costs due to our SOX 404 
compliance efforts; merger- and acquisition-related expenses; and
expenses related to Pivotal Development’s activities in 2004. The
increase in operating expenses was offset by a loss of $5 million on
the sale of our Caroline Street campus in 2003.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

To meet our capital and liquidity requirements we rely on operating
cash flow; short-term borrowings under our commercial paper pro-
gram, which is backed by our supporting credit agreement (Credit
Facility); borrowings under Sequent’s and SouthStar’s lines of credit;
and borrowings or stock issuances in the long-term capital markets.
Our issuance of various securities, including long-term and short-term
debt, is subject to customary approval or authorization by state and
federal regulatory bodies including state public service commissions
and, through February 8, 2006, the SEC. Furthermore, a substantial
portion of our consolidated assets, earnings and cash flow is derived
from the operation of our regulated utility subsidiaries, whose legal
authority to pay dividends or make other distributions to us is subject
to regulation. The availability of borrowings under our Credit Facility is
limited and subject to a total-debt-to-capital ratio financial covenant
specified within the Credit Facility, which we currently meet.

We believe these sources will be sufficient for our working cap-
ital needs, debt service obligations and scheduled capital expendi-
tures for the foreseeable future. The relatively stable operating cash
flows of our distribution operations businesses currently contribute
most of our cash flow from operations, and we anticipate this to con-
tinue in the future.

We will continue to evaluate our need to increase our available
liquidity based on our view of working capital requirements, including
the impact of changes in natural gas prices, liquidity requirements
established by the rating agencies and other factors. Additionally, our
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liquidity and capital resource requirements may change in the future
due to a number of other factors, some of which we cannot control.
These factors include

▪ the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our resulting
short-term borrowing requirements, which typically peak during
colder months

▪ increased gas supplies required to meet our customers’ needs 
during cold weather

▪ changes in wholesale prices and customer demand for our products
and services

▪ regulatory changes and changes in ratemaking policies of regula-
tory commissions

▪ contractual cash obligations and other commercial commitments
▪ interest rate changes
▪ pension and postretirement funding requirements
▪ changes in income tax laws

▪ margin requirements resulting from significant increases or decreases
in our commodity prices

▪ operational risks
▪ the impact of natural disasters, including weather

Contractual Obligations and Commitments We have incurred
various contractual obligations and financial commitments in the 
normal course of our operating and financing activities. Contractual
obligations include future cash payments required under existing 
contractual arrangements, such as debt and lease agreements.
These obligations may result both from general financing activities and
from commercial arrangements that are directly supported by related
revenue-producing activities.

We calculate any required pension contributions using the pro-
jected unit credit cost method. Under this method, we were not
required to make any pension contribution in 2005, but we voluntar-
ily made a $5 million contribution in August 2005. The following table
illustrates our expected future contractual obligations as of Decem-
ber 31, 2005.

AGL Resources Inc.
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Payments due before December 31,

In millions Total 2006 2007 & 2008 2009 & 2010 2011 & thereafter

Interest charges on outstanding debt1 $1,870 $ 103 $201 $200 $1,366
Pipeline charges, storage capacity and gas supply2,3 1,766 285 515 411 555
Long-term debt4 1,615 — 2 2 1,611
Short-term debt 522 522 — — —
PRP costs5 265 30 72 95 68
Operating leases6 160 27 44 33 56
Commodity and transportation charges 129 30 19 14 66
Environmental remediation costs5 97 13 27 53 4

Total $6,424 $1,010 $880 $808 $3,726
1 Floating rate debt is based on the interest rate as of December 31, 2005 and the maturity of the underlying debt instrument.
2 Charges recoverable through a PGA mechanism or alternatively billed to Marketers. Also includes demand charges associated with Sequent.
3 A subsidiary of NUI entered into two 20-year agreements for the firm transportation and storage of natural gas during 2003 with annual aggregate demand charges of approximately $5 million. As a result of our acquisition 

of NUI and in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” we valued the contracts at fair value. The $38 million allocated to accrued pipeline demand charges in our consolidated balance sheets as of 

December 31, 2005 represents our estimate of the fair value of the acquired contracts. The liability will be amortized over the remaining lives of the contracts.
4 Includes $232 million of notes payable to Trusts redeemable in 2006 and 2007.
5 Includes charges recoverable through rate rider mechanisms.
6 We have certain operating leases with provisions for step rent or escalation payments and certain lease concessions. We account for these leases by recognizing the future minimum lease payments on a straight-line basis

over the respective minimum lease terms, in accordance with SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases.” However, this accounting treatment does not affect the future annual operating lease cash obligations as shown herein.
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SouthStar has natural gas purchase commitments related to the
supply of minimum natural gas volumes to its customers. These com-
mitments are priced on an index plus premium basis. At December 31,
2005, SouthStar had obligations under these arrangements for 8 Bcf
for the year ending December 31, 2006. This obligation is not included
in the above table. SouthStar also had capacity commitments related
to the purchase of transportation rights on interstate pipelines.

We also have incurred various financial commitments in the
normal course of business. Contingent financial commitments rep-
resent obligations that become payable only if certain predefined
events occur, such as financial guarantees, and include the nature
of the guarantee and the maximum potential amount of future pay-
ments that could be required of us as the guarantor. The following
table illustrates our expected contingent financial commitments as of
December 31, 2005.

Commitments due

before December 31,

In millions Total 2006 2007 & thereafter

Standby letters of credit, 
performance/surety bonds $21 $21 $—

Cash Flow from Operating Activities We prepare our statement
of cash flows using the indirect method. Under this method, we rec-
oncile net income to cash flows from operating activities by adjusting
net income for those items that impact net income but do not result
in actual cash receipts or payments during the period. These recon-
ciling items include depreciation, undistributed earnings from equity
investments, changes in deferred income taxes, gains or losses on
the sale of assets and changes in the consolidated balance sheet
for working capital from the beginning to the end of the period.

Year-over-year changes in our operating cash flows are attrib-
utable primarily to working capital changes within our distribution
operations, wholesale services and retail energy operations segments
resulting from the impact of weather, the price of natural gas, the tim-
ing of customer collections, payments for natural gas purchases and
deferred gas cost recoveries.

We generate a large portion of our annual net income and sub-
sequent increases in our accounts receivable in the first and fourth
quarters of each year due to significant volumes of natural gas deliv-
ered by distribution operations and SouthStar to our customers dur-
ing the peak heating season. In addition, our natural gas inventories,
which usually peak on November 1, are largely drawn down in the
heating season and provide a source of cash as this asset is used
to satisfy winter sales demand.

During this period, our accounts payable increases to reflect
payments due to providers of the natural gas commodity and pipeline
capacity. The value of the natural gas commodity can vary significantly
from one period to the next as a result of the volatility in the price of
natural gas. Our natural gas costs and deferred purchased natural
gas costs due from or to our customers represent the difference
between natural gas costs that we have paid to suppliers in the past
and amounts that we have collected from customers. These natural
gas costs can cause significant variations in cash flows from period
to period.

In 2005, our net cash flow provided from operating activities
was $78 million, a decrease of $209 million or 73% from the same
period last year. The decrease was primarily a result of increased
working capital requirements including increased spending of 
$183 million for seasonal inventory injections in advance of the winter
sales demand. We spent more on these injections in 2005 primarily
because of higher natural gas prices due to the effects of the hurri-
canes in the Gulf Coast region and of the full-year impact associ-
ated with the purchase of natural gas for the utilities acquired in
November 2004 from NUI, principally for Elizabethtown Gas. These
higher natural gas prices resulted in a 45% increase in the average
cost of our natural gas inventories.

Our operating cash flow of $287 million for 2004 included
SouthStar’s operating cash flow of approximately $79 million as 
a result of our consolidation of SouthStar effective January 1, 2004.
In 2003 our operating cash flow only included amounts for cash dis-
tributions from SouthStar, consistent with the equity method of
accounting. Excluding SouthStar, our cash flow from operations for
2004 was $208 million, an increase of $86 million from 2003. Year-to-
year changes in our operating cash flow, excluding SouthStar, were
primarily the result of increased earnings of $25 million and decreased
spending for injection and purchase of natural gas inventories of 
$63 million.
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Cash Flow from Investing Activities Our investing activities con-
sisted primarily of property, plant and equipment (PP&E) expenditures
in 2005, 2004 and 2003 and our acquisitions of NUI for $116 million
and Jefferson Island for $90 million in 2004. In 2003, our investing
activities included our cash payment of $20 million for the purchase of
Dynegy Inc.’s 20% interest in SouthStar. The following table provides
additional information on our actual and estimated PP&E expenditures. 

In millions 20061 2005 2004 2003

Construction or preservation 
of distribution facilities $110 $135 $ 64 $ 60

SNG pipeline — 32 — —
PRP 30 48 95 45
Pivotal Propane plant — — 29 —
Pivotal Jefferson Island 36 8 2 —
Telecommunications 3 1 5 8
Other2 54 43 69 45

Total $233 $267 $264 $158
1 Estimated.
2 The amounts for other primarily include corporate information technology systems and infrastructure

expenditures.

The increase of $3 million or 1% in PP&E expenditures for 2005
compared to 2004 was primarily due to the $32 million acquisition
of a 250-mile pipeline in Georgia from SNG and increased expendi-
tures of $71 million for the construction of distribution facilities, includ-
ing $27 million at Elizabethtown Gas and Florida City Gas, both of
which were acquired in November 2004. Also contributing to the
increase was $6 million of additional expenditures at Pivotal Jefferson
Island, which completed a project that improved its compression
capabilities. These increases were offset by reduced PRP expendi-
tures of $47 million due to the Settlement Agreement between Atlanta
Gas Light and the Georgia Commission that extended the program
to 2013, reduced expenditures of $29 million at the Pivotal Propane
plant in Virginia as most of its construction expenditures were incurred
last year and reduced expenditures of $7 million at Sequent as its
ETRM system was implemented in 2004.

Approximately 18% of our PP&E expenditures in 2005 included
costs for the PRP, which are approved by the Georgia Commission.
In the near term, the primary financial impact to us from the PRP is
reduced cash flow from operating and investing activities, as the tim-
ing related to cost recovery through Atlanta Gas Light’s base rates,
which include an allowed rate of return on its PRP capital expendi-
tures, does not match the timing related to costs incurred.

We expect our future PRP expenditures will primarily include
larger-diameter pipe than in prior years, the majority of which is
located in more densely populated areas. The following table provides
more information on our expected PRP expenditures.

Year Miles of pipe to be replaced Expenditures (in millions)

2006 95 $ 30
2007 107 35
2008 150 37
2009 154 45
2010–2013 333 118

Totals 839 $265

The increase of $106 million or 67% in PP&E expenditures for
2004 compared to 2003 was primarily due to increased PRP expen-
ditures of $50 million and our construction of the Virginia propane
plant by Pivotal Propane for $29 million. Also contributing to the
increase were $9 million of expenditures for the construction of the
Macon peaking pipeline, $7 million for the ETRM system at Sequent,
$2 million at Pivotal Jefferson Island and $3 million at SouthStar.

Cash Flow from Financing Activities Our financing activities are
primarily composed of borrowings and payments of short-term debt,
payments of medium-term notes, borrowings of senior notes, distri-
butions to minority interests, cash dividends on our common stock
and the issuance of common stock. Our capitalization and financing
strategy is intended to ensure that we are properly capitalized with the
appropriate mix of equity and debt securities. This strategy includes
active management by us of the percentage of total debt relative to
our total capitalization, as well as the term and interest rate profile of
our debt securities.
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We also work to maintain or improve our credit ratings on our
debt to effectively manage our existing financing costs and enhance
our ability to raise additional capital on favorable terms. Factors we
consider important in assessing our credit ratings include our balance
sheet leverage, capital spending, earnings, cash flow generation, avail-
able liquidity and overall business risks. We do not have any trigger
events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in our speci-
fied credit ratings or our stock price and have not entered into any
transaction that would require us to issue equity based on credit rat-
ings or other trigger events. As of February 2006, our senior unsecured
debt ratings are BBB+ from Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (S&P),
Baa1 from Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s) and A- from Fitch 
Ratings (Fitch).

In July 2004 upon the announcement of our proposed acquisi-
tion of NUI, S&P placed our credit ratings on CreditWatch with nega-
tive implications, Moody’s affirmed our ratings but changed its rating
outlook to negative from stable, and Fitch placed our credit ratings
on Rating Watch Negative. Since the closing of the acquisition on
November 30, 2004, S&P removed us from CreditWatch and changed
our outlook to negative; Fitch took us off Rating Watch Negative and
affirmed our ratings with a stable outlook; and Moody’s changed our
outlook to stable. S&P has indicated that the negative outlook is the
result of the execution risks in integrating the NUI acquisition.

Our credit ratings may be subject to revision or withdrawal at
any time by the assigning rating organization, and each rating should
be evaluated independently of any other rating. We cannot ensure
that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a
rating will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency if,
in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. If the rating agencies
downgrade our ratings, particularly below investment grade, it may
significantly limit our access to the commercial paper market and our
borrowing costs would increase. In addition, we would likely be
required to pay a higher interest rate in future financings, and our
potential pool of investors and funding sources would decrease.

Our debt instruments and other financial obligations include
provisions that, if not complied with, could require early payment,
additional collateral support or similar actions. Our most important
default events include maintaining covenants with respect to maxi-
mum leverage ratio, insolvency events, nonpayment of scheduled
principal or interest payments, and acceleration of other financial 
obligations and change of control provisions. Our Credit Facility’s
financial covenant requires us to maintain a ratio of total debt to total
capitalization of no greater than 70%; however, our goal is to main-
tain this ratio at levels between 50% and 60% of debt to total capital-
ization. We are currently in compliance with all existing debt provisions
and covenants. For more information on our debt, see Note 9.

We believe that accomplishing these capitalization objectives
and maintaining sufficient cash flow are necessary to maintain our
investment-grade credit ratings and to allow us access to capital at
reasonable costs. The components of our capital structure, as of the
dates indicated, are summarized in the following table.

Dollars in millions Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

Short-term debt $ 522 14% $ 334 10%
Long-term debt1 1,615 45 1,623 49

Total debt 2,137 59 1,957 59
Common shareholders’ equity 1,499 41 1,385 41

Total capitalization $3,636 100% $3,342 100%
1 Net of interest rate swaps.

Short-term debt Our short-term debt is composed of bor-
rowings under our commercial paper program, Sequent’s lines of
credit, SouthStar’s line of credit and the current portion of our capi-
tal leases. Our short-term debt financing generally increases between
June and December because our payments for natural gas and
pipeline capacity are generally made to suppliers prior to the collec-
tion of accounts receivable from our customers. We typically reduce
short-term debt balances in the spring because a significant portion
of our current assets are converted into cash at the end of the win-
ter heating season.
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Our Credit Facility was amended in August 2005. Under the
terms of the amendment, the term of the Credit Facility was extended
to August 31, 2010. The aggregate principal amount available under
the amended Credit Facility was increased to $850 million, with an
option to increase the aggregate cumulative principal amount avail-
able for borrowing to $1.1 billion on not more than three occasions
during each calendar year. The increased capacity under our Credit
Facility increases our ability to borrow under our commercial paper
program. Our total cash and available liquidity under our Credit Facility
as of the dates indicated are represented in the table below.

In millions Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

Unused availability under the Credit Facility $850 $750
Cash and cash equivalents 30 49
Total cash and available liquidity 

under the Credit Facility $880 $799

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had no outstanding
borrowings under the Credit Facility. However, the availability of bor-
rowings and unused availability under our Credit Facility is limited and
subject to conditions specified within the Credit Facility, which we cur-
rently meet. These conditions include

▪ maintaining a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater 
than 70%

▪ the continued accuracy of representations and warranties contained
in the agreement

In June 2005, Sequent’s existing $25 million unsecured line of
credit was extended to July 2006. In September 2005, Sequent
entered into an agreement for an additional $20 million unsecured line
of credit scheduled to expire in September 2006. These unsecured
lines of credit, which total $45 million, are used solely for the posting
of margin deposits for NYMEX transactions, and are unconditionally
guaranteed by us. At December 31, 2005, there were no outstand-
ing amounts under these lines of credit, which is an $18 million
decrease from the same time in 2004.

In September 2005, Pivotal Utility Holdings, Inc. entered into an
agreement for a $20 million unsecured line of credit to be used solely
for the posting of margin deposits for Elizabethtown Gas’ natural gas
hedging program. The line expires in September 2006 and is uncon-
ditionally guaranteed by us. There were no amounts outstanding
under this line of credit at December 31, 2005.

SouthStar’s $75 million line of credit provides the additional
working capital needed to meet seasonal demands and is not guar-
anteed by us. This line of credit is secured by various percentages
of its accounts receivable, unbilled revenue and inventory. The line of
credit expires in April 2007 and bears interest at the prime rate and/or
London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus a margin based on 
certain financial measures. At December 31, 2005, the line of credit
had an outstanding balance of $36 million. There were no amounts
outstanding under this facility at the same time in 2004.

In 2004, we repaid $500 million outstanding under NUI’s credit
facility. Upon the repayment of the outstanding amounts, we termi-
nated NUI’s credit facility.

Long-term Debt In 2004, AGL Capital issued $250 million 
of 6% Senior Notes Due October 2034 and $200 million of 4.95%
Senior Notes Due January 2015. We fully and unconditionally guar-
antee the senior notes. The proceeds from the issuance were used to
refinance a portion of our outstanding short-term debt under our
commercial paper program.

During 2004, we also made $82 million in medium-term note
payments using proceeds from the borrowings under our commercial
paper program. For more information on our long-term debt, includ-
ing the debt assumed in the NUI acquisition, see Note 9.

Interest Rate Swaps To maintain an effective capital struc-
ture, it is our policy to borrow funds using a mix of fixed-rate debt and
variable-rate debt. We have entered into interest rate swap agree-
ments for the purpose of hedging the interest rate risk associated with
our fixed-rate and variable-rate debt obligation. At December 31,
2005, including the effects of $100 million of interest rate swaps, 66%
of our total short-term and long-term debt was fixed.

Refinancing of Gas Facility Revenue Bonds In April and
May 2005 we refinanced $67 million of our gas facility revenue bonds.
For more information, see Note 9.

Minority Interest As a result of our consolidation of South-
Star’s accounts effective January 1, 2004, we recorded Piedmont’s
portion of SouthStar’s contributed capital as a minority interest in
our consolidated balance sheets. Cash distributions of $19 million in
2005 and $14 million in 2004 for SouthStar’s dividend distributions to
Piedmont were recorded in our consolidated statement of cash flows
as a financing activity.
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Common Stock In November 2004, we completed our pub-
lic offering of 11.04 million shares of common stock, generating net
proceeds of approximately $332 million. We used the proceeds to
purchase the outstanding capital stock of NUI and to repay short-
term debt incurred to fund our purchase of Jefferson Island.

Dividends on Common Stock In 2005, we made $100 mil-
lion in common stock dividend payments. This was an increase of
$25 million or 33% from 2004. The increase was due to our 11 mil-
lion share common stock offering in November 2004, which increased
the number of shares outstanding, and to the increases in the amount
of our quarterly common stock dividends per share.

In 2004, we made $75 million in common stock dividend pay-
ments. This was an increase of $5 million or 7% from 2003. The
increase was due to our 6.4 million common stock offering in Febru-
ary 2003, which increased the number of shares outstanding, and 
to the increases in the amount of our quarterly common stock divi-
dends per share.

In the last three fiscal years, we have made the following
increases in dividends on our common stock. For information about
restrictions on our ability to pay dividends on our common stock, see
Note 9.

Quarterly Indicated 

Date of change % increase dividend annual dividend

November 2005 19% $0.37 $1.48
February 2005 7 0.31 1.24
April 2004 4 0.29 1.16
April 2003 4 0.28 1.12

Shelf Registration We currently have remaining capacity
under an October 2004 shelf registration statement of approximately
$957 million. We may seek additional financing through debt or equity
offerings in the private or public markets at any time.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make esti-
mates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, lia-
bilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities. We based our estimates on histori-
cal experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances, and we evaluate our estimates
on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ from our estimates.

Each of the following critical accounting policies involves complex sit-
uations requiring a high degree of judgment either in the application
and interpretation of existing literature or in the development of esti-
mates that impact our financial statements.

Pipeline Replacement Program Atlanta Gas Light was ordered
by the Georgia Commission (through a joint stipulation between
Atlanta Gas Light and the Commission staff) to undertake a PRP that
would replace all bare steel and cast iron pipe in its system in the state
of Georgia within a 10-year period beginning October 1, 1998. Atlanta
Gas Light initially identified, and provided notice to the Georgia 
Commission in accordance with this stipulation of, 2,312 miles of 
bare steel and cast iron pipe to be replaced. Atlanta Gas Light sub-
sequently identified an additional 320 miles of pipe subject to replace-
ment under this program.

On June 10, 2005, the Georgia Commission approved a Set-
tlement Agreement with Atlanta Gas Light that, among other things,
extends Atlanta Gas Light’s PRP by five years to require that all
replacements be completed by December 2013. The timing of
replacements was subsequently specified in an amendment to the
PRP stipulation. This amendment, which was approved by the 
Georgia Commission on December 20, 2005, requires Atlanta Gas
Light to replace all cast iron pipe and 70% of all bare steel pipe by
December 2010. The remaining 30% of bare steel pipe is required
to be replaced by December 2013. Approximately 152 miles of cast
iron and 687 miles of bare steel pipe still require replacement. The
amendment also requires an evaluation by Atlanta Gas Light and the
Georgia Commission staff of 22 miles of 24-inch pipe in Atlanta by
December 2010 to determine if such pipe requires replacement. If
replacement of this pipe is required, the pipe must be replaced by
December 2013. The additional cost to replace this pipe is projected
to be approximately $37 million. If Atlanta Gas Light does not perform
in accordance with the initial and amended PRP stipulation, it can
be assessed certain nonperformance penalties. However, to date
Atlanta Gas Light is in full compliance.

The stipulation also provides for recovery of all prudent costs
incurred in the performance of the program, which Atlanta Gas Light
has recorded as a regulatory asset. The regulatory asset has two
components:

▪ the costs incurred to date that have not yet been recovered through
rate riders

▪ the future expected costs to be recovered through rate riders
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The determination of future expected costs involves judgment.
Factors that must be considered in estimating the future expected
costs are projected capital expenditure spending and remaining footage
of infrastructure to be replaced for the remaining years of the program.
Atlanta Gas Light recorded a long-term liability of $235 million 
as of December 31, 2005 and $242 million as of December 31, 2004,
which represented engineering estimates for remaining capital expen-
diture costs in the PRP. As of December 31, 2005, Atlanta Gas Light
had recorded a current liability of $30 million, representing expected
PRP expenditures for the next 12 months. We report these estimates
on an undiscounted basis. If the recorded liability for PRP had been
higher or lower by $10 million, Atlanta Gas Light’s expected recovery
would have changed by approximately $1 million.

Environmental Remediation Liabilities Atlanta Gas Light histor-
ically reported estimates of future remediation costs based on prob-
abilistic models of potential costs. We report these estimates on an
undiscounted basis. As we continue to conduct the actual remedia-
tion and enter cleanup contracts, Atlanta Gas Light is increasingly
able to provide conventional engineering estimates of the likely costs
of many elements of its remediation program. These estimates con-
tain various engineering uncertainties, and Atlanta Gas Light continu-
ously attempts to refine and update these engineering estimates.

Our latest available estimate as of December 31, 2005 for those
elements of the remediation program with in-place contracts or engi-
neering cost estimates is $12 million for Atlanta Gas Light’s Georgia
and Florida sites. This is a reduction of $24 million from the estimate
as of December 31, 2004 of projected engineering and in-place con-
tracts, resulting from program expenditures during 2005. For elements
of the remediation program where Atlanta Gas Light still cannot per-
form engineering cost estimates, considerable variability remains in
available estimates. The estimated remaining cost of future actions at
these sites is $15 million. Atlanta Gas Light estimates certain other
costs it pays related to administering the remediation program and
remediation of sites currently in the investigation phase. Through Jan-
uary 2007, Atlanta Gas Light estimates the administration costs to
be $4 million. Beyond 2007, these costs are not estimable. 

Atlanta Gas Light’s environmental remediation liability is
included in its corresponding regulatory asset. As of December 31,
2005, the regulatory asset was $133 million, which is a combina-
tion of the accrued remediation liability and unrecovered cash expen-
ditures. Atlanta Gas Light’s estimate does not include other potential

expenses, such as unasserted property damage, personal injury or
natural resource damage claims, unbudgeted legal expenses, or
other costs for which it may be held liable but with respect to which
the amount cannot be reasonably forecast. Atlanta Gas Light’s
recovery of environmental remediation costs is subject to review by
the Georgia Commission, which may seek to disallow the recovery
of some expenses. 

In New Jersey, Elizabethtown Gas is currently conducting reme-
diation activities with oversight from the New Jersey Department of
Environmental Protection. Although the actual total cost of future envi-
ronmental investigation and remediation efforts cannot be estimated
with precision, the range of reasonably probable costs is $57 million to
$104 million. As of December 31, 2005, no value within this range is
better than any other value, so we recorded a liability of $57 million.

The NJBPU has authorized Elizabethtown Gas to recover pru-
dently incurred remediation costs for the New Jersey properties
through its remediation adjustment clause. As a result, Elizabethtown
Gas has recorded a regulatory asset of approximately $63 million,
inclusive of interest, as of December 31, 2005, reflecting the future
recovery of both incurred costs and future remediation liabilities in the
state of New Jersey. Elizabethtown Gas has also been successful in
recovering a portion of remediation costs incurred in New Jersey from
its insurance carriers and continues to pursue additional recovery. As
of December 31, 2005, the variation between the amounts of the
environmental remediation cost liability recorded in the consolidated
balance sheet and the associated regulatory asset is due to expendi-
tures for environmental investigation and remediation exceeding
recoveries from ratepayers and insurance carriers.

We also own several former NUI remediation sites located out-
side of New Jersey. One site, in Elizabeth City, North Carolina, is sub-
ject to an order by the North Carolina Department of Energy and
Natural Resources. We do not have precise estimates for the cost of
investigating and remediating this site, although preliminary estimates
for these costs range from $10 million to $17 million. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2005, we have recorded a liability of $10 million related to this
site. There is another site in North Carolina where investigation and
remediation is probable, although no regulatory order exists and we
do not believe costs associated with this site can be reasonably esti-
mated. In addition, there are as many as six other sites with which
NUI had some association, although no basis for liability has been
asserted. We do not believe that costs to investigate and remediate
these sites, if any, can be reasonably estimated at this time.
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With respect to these costs, we currently pursue or intend to
pursue recovery from ratepayers, former owners and operators and
insurance carriers. Although we have been successful in recovering a
portion of these remediation costs from our insurance carriers, we are
not able to express a belief as to the success of additional recovery
efforts. We are working with the regulatory agencies to prudently
manage our remediation costs so as to mitigate the impact of such
costs on both ratepayers and shareholders.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities SFAS 133, as updated by
SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instru-
ments and Hedging Activities” (SFAS 149), established accounting
and reporting standards which require that every derivative financial
instrument (including certain derivative instruments embedded in
other contracts) be recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset
or a liability measured at its fair value. However, if the derivative trans-
action qualifies for and is designated as a normal purchase and sale,
it is exempted from the fair value accounting treatment of SFAS 133,
as updated by SFAS 149, and is accounted for using traditional
accrual accounting.

SFAS 133 requires that changes in the derivative’s fair value be
recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting cri-
teria are met. If the derivatives meet those criteria, SFAS 133 allows
a derivative’s gains and losses to offset related results on the hedged
item in the income statement in the case of a fair value hedge, or to
record the gains and losses in other comprehensive income (OCI) until
maturity in the case of a cash flow hedge. Additionally, SFAS 133
requires that a company formally designate a derivative as a hedge
as well as document and assess the effectiveness of derivatives asso-
ciated with transactions that receive hedge accounting treatment.
Two areas where SFAS 133 applies are interest rate swaps and gas
commodity contracts at Sequent and SouthStar. Our derivative and
hedging activities are described in further detail in Note 4.

Interest Rate Swaps We designate our interest rate swaps
as fair value hedges as defined by SFAS 133, which allows us to des-
ignate derivatives that hedge exposure to changes in the fair value
of a recognized asset or liability. We record the gain or loss on fair
value hedges in earnings in the period of change, together with the
offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attributable to the risk being
hedged. The effect of this accounting is to reflect in earnings only that
portion of the hedge that is not effective in achieving offsetting
changes in fair value.

Commodity-related Derivative Instruments We are
exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of nat-
ural gas. Elizabethtown Gas utilizes certain derivatives for nontrad-
ing purposes to hedge the impact of market fluctuations on assets,
liabilities and other contractual commitments. Pursuant to SFAS 133,
such derivative products are marked to market each reporting period.
Pursuant to regulatory requirements, realized gains and losses related
to such derivatives are reflected in purchased gas costs and included
in billings to customers. Unrealized gains and losses are reflected as
a regulatory asset (loss) or liability (gain), as appropriate, in the con-
solidated balance sheet. Through Sequent and SouthStar, we use
derivative instruments to reduce our exposure to the risk of changes
in the price of natural gas. Sequent recognizes the change in value of
derivative instruments as an unrealized gain or loss in revenues in the
period when the market value of the instrument changes. Sequent
recognizes cash inflows and outflows associated with the settlement
of its risk management activities in operating cash flows, and reports
these settlements as receivables and payables in the balance sheet
separately from the risk management activities reported as energy
marketing receivables and trade payables.

Under our risk management policy, we attempt to mitigate sub-
stantially all our commodity price risk associated with Sequent’s nat-
ural gas storage portfolio and lock in the economic margin at the time
we enter into purchase transactions for our stored natural gas. We
purchase natural gas for storage when the current market price we
pay plus storage costs is less than the market price we could receive
in the future. We lock in the economic margin by selling NYMEX
futures contracts or other over-the-counter derivatives in the forward
months corresponding with our withdrawal periods. We use contracts
to sell natural gas at that future price to substantially lock in the profit
margin we will ultimately realize when the stored natural gas is actu-
ally sold. These contracts meet the definition of a derivative under
SFAS 133.

The purchase, storage and sale of natural gas are accounted
for differently from the derivatives we use to mitigate the commodity
price risk associated with our storage portfolio. The difference in
accounting can result in volatility in our reported net income, even
though the economic margin is essentially unchanged from the date
the transactions were consummated. We do not currently use hedge
accounting under SFAS 133 to account for this activity.
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Natural gas that we purchase and inject into storage is
accounted for on an accrual basis, at the lower of average cost or
market, and classified as inventory in our consolidated balance
sheets; it is no longer marked to market following our implementation
of the accounting guidance in EITF 02-03. Under current accounting
guidance, we would recognize a loss in any period when the market
price for natural gas is lower than the carrying amount of our pur-
chased natural gas inventory. Costs to store the natural gas are rec-
ognized in the period the costs are incurred. We recognize revenues
and cost of natural gas sold in our statement of consolidated income
in the period we sell gas and it is delivered out of the storage facility.

The derivatives we use to mitigate commodity price risk and
substantially lock in the margin upon the sale of stored natural gas are
accounted for at fair value and marked to market each period, with
changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains or losses in the
period of change. This difference in accounting, the accrual basis for
our storage inventory versus mark-to-market accounting for the deriv-
atives used to mitigate commodity price risk, can result in volatility in
our reported net income. 

Over time, gains or losses on the sale of storage inventory will
be offset by losses or gains on the derivatives, resulting in realization
of the economic profit margin we expected when we entered into the
transactions. This accounting difference causes Sequent’s earnings
on its storage positions to be affected by natural gas price changes,
even though the economic profits remain essentially unchanged.
Sequent manages underground storage for our utilities and holds cer-
tain capacity rights on its own behalf. The underground storage is of
two types:

▪ reservoir storage, where supplies are generally injected and with-
drawn on a seasonal basis

▪ salt dome high-deliverability storage, where supplies may be peri-
odically injected and withdrawn on relatively short notice

SouthStar also uses derivative instruments to manage expo-
sures arising from changing commodity prices. SouthStar’s objective
for holding these derivatives is to minimize volatility in wholesale com-
modity natural gas prices. A portion of SouthStar’s derivative trans-
actions are designated as cash flow hedges under SFAS 133.
Derivative gains or losses arising from cash flow hedges are recorded
in OCI and are reclassified into earnings in the same period the
underlying hedged item is reflected in the income statement. As of

December 31, 2005, the ending balance in OCI for derivative trans-
actions designated as cash flow hedges under SFAS 133 was 
$(0.8) million. Any hedge ineffectiveness, defined as when the gains
or losses on the hedging instrument do not offset the losses or gains
on the hedged item, is recorded into earnings in the period in which
it occurs. SouthStar currently has minimal hedge ineffectiveness.
SouthStar’s remaining derivative instruments are not designated as
hedges under SFAS 133. Therefore, changes in their fair value are
recorded in earnings in the period of change.

Contingencies Our accounting policies for contingencies cover a
variety of business activities, including contingencies for potentially
uncollectible receivables, rate matters, and legal and environmental
exposures. We accrue for these contingencies when our assessments
indicate that it is probable that a liability has been incurred or an asset
will not be recovered, and an amount can be reasonably estimated in
accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” We
base our estimates for these liabilities on currently available facts and
our estimates of the ultimate outcome or resolution of the liability in the
future. Actual results may differ from estimates, and estimates can be,
and often are, revised either negatively or positively, depending on
actual outcomes or changes in the facts or expectations surrounding
each potential exposure.

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans Our pension and other
postretirement plan costs and liabilities are determined on an actu-
arial basis and are affected by numerous assumptions and estimates
including the market value of plan assets, estimates of the expected
return on plan assets, assumed discount rates and current demo-
graphic and actuarial mortality data. We annually review the estimates
and assumptions underlying our pension and other postretirement
plan costs and liabilities. The assumed discount rate and the
expected return on plan assets are the assumptions that generally
have the most significant impact on our pension costs and liabilities. 

The assumed discount rate, the assumed health care cost
trend rate and assumed rates of retirement generally have the most
significant impact on our postretirement plan costs and liabilities.

The discount rate is utilized principally in calculating the actu-
arial present value of our pension and postretirement obligations 
and net pension and postretirement cost. When establishing our 
discount rate, we consider absolute high-quality corporate bond 
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rates based on Moody’s Corporate AA long-term bond rate of 5.41%
and the Citigroup Pension Liability rate of 5.51% at December 31,
2005. We further use these market indices as a comparison to a 
single equivalent discount rate derived with the assistance of our
actuarial advisors.

The actuarial assumptions used may differ materially from
actual results due to changing market and economic conditions,
higher or lower withdrawal rates, or longer or shorter life spans of par-
ticipants. These differences may result in a significant impact on the
amount of pension expense recorded in future periods.

The expected long-term rate of return on assets is utilized in
calculating the expected return on plan assets component of our
annual pension and postretirement plan cost. We estimate the
expected return on plan assets by evaluating expected bond returns,
equity risk premiums, asset allocations, the effects of active plan man-
agement, the impact of periodic plan asset rebalancing and historical
performance. We also consider the guidance from our investment
advisors in making a final determination of our expected rate of return
on assets. To the extent the actual rate of return on assets realized
over the course of a year is greater than or less than the assumed
rate, that year’s annual pension or postretirement plan cost is not
affected. Rather, this gain or loss reduces or increases future pension
or postretirement plan costs. 

Prior to 2006, we estimated the assumed health care cost
trend rate used in determining our postretirement net expense based
on our actual health care cost experience, the effects of recently
enacted legislation and general economic conditions. However, start-
ing in 2006, our postretirement plans have been capped at 2.5% for
increases in health care costs. Consequently, a one-percentage-point
increase or decrease in the assumed health care trend rate does not
materially affect our periodic benefit cost for our postretirement plans.
A one-percentage-point increase in the assumed health care cost
trend rate would increase our accumulated projected benefit obliga-
tion by $6 million. A one-percentage-point decrease in the assumed
health care cost trend rate would decrease our accumulated pro-
jected benefit obligation by $5 million. Our assumed rate of retirement
is estimated based on our annual review of our participant census
information as of the measurement date. 

At December 31, 2005, we had an increase in our minimum
pension liability of approximately $8 million, resulting in an aftertax 
loss to OCI of $5 million. This adjustment reflected our funding 

contributions to the plan and updated valuations for the projected
benefit obligation and plan assets. To the extent that our future
expenses and contributions increase as a result of the additional min-
imum pension liability, we believe that such increases are recoverable
in whole or in part under future rate proceedings or mechanisms.

Equity market performance and corporate bond rates have a
significant effect on our reported unfunded accumulated benefit obli-
gation (ABO), as the primary factors that drive the value of our
unfunded ABO are the assumed discount rate and the actual return
on plan assets. Additionally, equity market performance has a signif-
icant effect on our market-related value of plan assets (MRVPA),
which is a calculated value and differs from the actual market value of
plan assets. The MRVPA recognizes the differences between the
actual market value and expected market value of our plan assets
and is determined by our actuaries using a five-year moving weighted
average methodology. Gains and losses on plan assets are spread
through the MRVPA based on the five-year moving weighted average
methodology, which affects the expected return on plan assets com-
ponent of pension expense.

A one-percentage-point increase in the assumed discount rate
would decrease the AGL Resources Inc. Retirement Plan’s ABO by
approximately $39 million and decrease annual pension expense by
approximately $4 million. A one-percentage-point decrease in the
assumed discount rate would increase the AGL Resources Inc.
Retirement Plan’s ABO by approximately $44 million and increase
annual pension expense by approximately $4 million. Additionally, a
one-percentage-point increase or decrease in the expected return on
assets would decrease or increase the AGL Resources Inc. Retire-
ment Plan’s annual pension expense by approximately $3 million.

Additionally, in 2004 we recorded a $36 million liability for the
amount of NUI’s projected benefit obligation in excess of the fair
value of pension plan assets at the date of our acquisition of NUI.
At December 31, 2005 our accrued liability for NUI’s projected obli-
gation is $31 million, reflecting $9 million in adjustments for termi-
nations and settlement of liabilities affected by the NUI purchase
transaction offset by net periodic benefit cost of $3 million in 2005.
A one-percentage-point increase in the assumed discount rate
would decrease the NUI Corporation Retirement Plan’s ABO by
approximately $14 million and decrease annual benefit cost 
by approximately $2 million. A one-percentage-point decrease in 
the assumed discount rate would increase the NUI Corporation
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Retirement Plan’s ABO by approximately $17 million and increase
annual pension expense by approximately $1 million. In addition, a
one-percentage-point increase or decrease in the NUI Corporation 
Retirement Plan’s expected return on assets would decrease or
increase annual pension expense by approximately $1 million.

As of December 31, 2005, the market value of the pension
assets was $371 million compared to a market value of $390 mil-
lion as of December 31, 2004. The net decrease of $19 million
resulted from

▪ contributions of $5 million in August 2005
▪ contributions of $1 million in 2005 to our supplemental retire-

ment plan
▪ an actual return on plan assets of $27 million less benefits paid of

$52 million

Our $5 million in contributions to the pension plan in 2005
reduced annual pension expense by approximately $0.4 million. The
actual return on plan assets compared to the expected return on plan
assets will have an impact on our benefit obligation as of Decem-
ber 31, 2005 and our pension expense for 2006. We are unable to
determine how this actual return on plan assets will affect future ben-
efit obligation and pension expense, as actuarial assumptions and dif-
ferences between actual and expected returns on plan assets are
determined at the time we complete our actuarial evaluation as of
December 31, 2005. Our actual returns may also be positively or neg-
atively impacted as a result of future performance in the equity and
bond markets.

Accounting Developments

For information regarding accounting developments, see Note 3.

Risk Factors

The following are some of the factors that could affect our future per-

formance or could cause actual results to differ materially from those

expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements. We cannot

predict every event and circumstance that may adversely affect our

business, but the risks and uncertainties described below are the

most significant factors that we have identified at this time.

Risks Related to Our Business

Risks related to the regulation of our businesses could affect the

rates we are able to charge, our costs and our profitability.

Our businesses are subject to regulation by federal, state and local
regulatory authorities. In particular, at the federal level our distribu-
tion businesses have been regulated by the SEC under the PUHCA
and, effective February 8, 2006, will be regulated by the FERC under
the Energy Act. At the state level, our distribution businesses are reg-
ulated by the Georgia Commission, the Tennessee Authority, the
NJBPU, the Florida Commission, the Virginia Commission and the
Maryland Commission. These authorities regulate many aspects of
our distribution operations, including construction and maintenance
of facilities, operations, safety, rates that we can charge customers,
rates of return, the authorized cost of capital, recovery of pipeline
replacement and environmental remediation costs, carrying costs we
charge Marketers for gas held in storage for their customer accounts
and relationships with our affiliates. Our ability to obtain rate increases
and rate supplements to maintain our current rates of return depends
on regulatory discretion, and there can be no assurance that we will
be able to obtain rate increases or rate supplements or continue
receiving our currently authorized rates of return.

Deregulation in the natural gas industry is the separation of 
the provision and pricing of local distribution gas services into discrete
components. Deregulation typically focuses on the separation of the
gas distribution business from the gas sales business and is intended
to cause the opening of the formerly regulated sales business to alter-
native unregulated suppliers of gas sales services.

In 1997, the Georgia legislature enacted the Natural Gas Com-
petition and Deregulation Act. To date, Georgia is the only state in the
nation that has fully deregulated gas distribution operations, which
ultimately resulted in Atlanta Gas Light exiting the retail natural gas
sales business while retaining its gas distribution operations. Gas 
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marketers then assumed the retail gas sales responsibility at dereg-
ulated prices. The deregulation process required Atlanta Gas Light to
completely reorganize its operations and personnel at significant
expense. It is possible that the legislature could reverse the deregu-
lation process and require or permit Atlanta Gas Light to provide retail
gas sales service once again or require SouthStar to change the
nature of how it provides natural gas to certain customers. In addi-
tion, the Georgia Commission has statutory authority on an emer-
gency basis to order Atlanta Gas Light to temporarily provide the
same retail gas service that it provided prior to deregulation. If any of
these events were to occur, we would incur costs to reverse the
restructuring process or potentially lose the earnings opportunity
embedded within the current marketing framework. Furthermore, the
Georgia Commission has authority to change the terms under which
we charge Marketers for certain supply-related services, which could
also affect our future earnings.

We have a concentration of credit risk in Georgia, which could

expose a significant portion of our accounts receivable to col-

lection risks.

We have a concentration of credit risk related to the provision of nat-
ural gas services to Georgia Marketers. At September 30, 1998 (prior
to deregulation), Atlanta Gas Light had approximately 1.4 million end-
use customers in Georgia. In contrast, at December 31, 2005, Atlanta
Gas Light had only 10 certificated and active Marketers in Georgia,
four of which (based on customer count and including SouthStar)
accounted for approximately 33% of our consolidated operating 
margin for 2005. As a result, Atlanta Gas Light now depends on a
concentrated number of customers for revenues. The failure of these
Marketers to pay Atlanta Gas Light could adversely affect Atlanta Gas
Light’s business and results of operations and expose it to difficul-
ties in collecting Atlanta Gas Light’s accounts receivable. Additionally,
SouthStar markets directly to end-use customers and has periodically
experienced credit losses as a result of cold weather, variable prices
and customers’ inability to pay.

The cost of providing pension and postretirement health care

benefits to eligible former employees is subject to changes in

pension fund values and changing demographics and may have

a material adverse effect on our financial results.

We have a defined benefit pension plan for the benefit of substantially
all full-time employees and qualified retirees. The cost of providing

these benefits to eligible current and former employees is subject to
changes in the market value of our pension fund assets and chang-
ing demographics, including longer life expectancy of beneficiaries
and an expected increase in the number of eligible former employees
over the next five years.

Any sustained declines in equity markets and reductions in
bond yields may have a material adverse effect on the value of our
pension funds. In these circumstances, we may be required to recog-
nize an increased pension expense or a charge to our statement of
consolidated income to the extent that the pension fund values are
less than the total anticipated liability under the plans.

We face increasing competition, and if we are unable to compete

effectively, our revenues, operating results and financial condi-

tion will be adversely affected.

The natural gas business is highly competitive, and we are facing
increasing competition from other companies that supply energy,
including electric companies, oil and propane providers and, in some
cases, energy marketing and trading companies. In particular, the
success of our investment in SouthStar is affected by the competition
SouthStar faces from other energy marketers providing retail natural
gas services in the Southeast. Natural gas competes with other forms
of energy. The primary competitive factor is price. Changes in the
price or availability of natural gas relative to other forms of energy and
the ability of end-users to convert to alternative fuels affect the
demand for natural gas. In the case of commercial, industrial and agri-
cultural customers, adverse economic conditions, including higher
gas costs, could also cause these customers to bypass our systems
in favor of special competitive contracts with lower per-unit costs or
disconnect from our system.

Our wholesale services segment competes with larger, full-

service energy providers, which may limit our ability to grow 

our business.

Our wholesale services segment competes with national and regional
full-service energy providers, energy merchants, and producers and
pipelines for sales based on our ability to aggregate competitively
priced commodities with transportation and storage capacity. Some
of our competitors are larger and better capitalized than we are and
have more national and global exposure than we do. The consolida-
tion of this industry and the pricing to gain market share may affect
our margins. We expect this trend to continue in the near term, and
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the increasing competition for asset management deals could result
in downward pressure on the volume of transactions and the related
margins available in this portion of Sequent’s business.

Our asset management arrangements between Sequent and our

affiliated local distribution companies and between Sequent and

its nonaffiliated customers may not be renewed or may be

renewed at lower levels, which could have a significant impact

on Sequent’s business.

Sequent currently manages the storage and transportation assets of
our affiliates Atlanta Gas Light, Elizabethtown Gas, Virginia Natural
Gas, Florida City Gas and Chattanooga Gas and shares profits it
earns from the management of those assets with those customers
and their customers, except at Elizabethtown Gas and Elkton Gas
where Sequent is assessed an annual fixed-fee payment. In addi-
tion, Sequent has asset management agreements with certain non-
affiliated customers. Entry into and renewal of these agreements are
subject to regulatory approval. Sequent’s results could be signifi-
cantly impacted if these agreements are not renewed or are
amended or renewed with less favorable terms.

Our profitability may decline if the counterparties to Sequent’s

asset management transactions fail to perform in accordance

with Sequent’s agreements.

Sequent focuses on capturing the value from idle or underutilized
energy assets, typically by executing transactions that balance the
needs of various markets and time horizons. Sequent is exposed to
the risk that counterparties to our transactions will not perform their
obligations. Should the counterparties to these arrangements fail to
perform, we might be forced to enter into alternative hedging arrange-
ments, honor the underlying commitment at then-current market
prices or return a significant portion of the consideration received for
gas under a long-term contract. In such events, we might incur addi-
tional losses to the extent of amounts, if any, already paid to or
received from counterparties.

We have a concentration of credit risk at Sequent that could

expose us to collection risks.

We often extend credit to our counterparties. Despite performing
credit analyses prior to extending credit and seeking to effectuate net-
ting agreements, we are exposed to the risk that we may not be able
to collect amounts owed to us. If the counterparty to such a transac-
tion fails to perform and any collateral we have secured is inadequate,
we could experience material financial losses.

We have a concentration of credit risk at Sequent, which could
expose a significant portion of our credit exposure to collection risks.
Approximately 52% of Sequent’s credit exposure is concentrated in
20 counterparties. Although most of this concentration is with coun-
terparties that are either load-serving utilities or end-use customers
and that have supplied some level of credit support, default by any of
these counterparties in their obligations to pay amounts due Sequent
could result in credit losses that would negatively impact our whole-
sale services segment.

We are exposed to market risk and may incur losses in whole-

sale services.

The commodity, storage and transportation portfolios at Sequent con-
sist of contracts to buy and sell natural gas commodities, including
contracts that are settled by the delivery of the commodity or cash.
If the values of these contracts change in a direction or manner that
we do not anticipate, we could experience financial losses from our
trading activities. Value at risk (VaR) is defined as the maximum poten-
tial loss in portfolio value over a specified time period that is not
expected to be exceeded within a given degree of probability. Based
on a 95% confidence interval and employing a 1-day and a 10-day
holding period for all positions, Sequent’s portfolio of positions as of
December 31, 2005 had a 1-day holding period VaR of $0.6 million
and a 10-day holding period VaR of $1.9 million.

Our accounting results may not be indicative of the risks we are

taking or the economic results we expect due to changes in

accounting for wholesale services.

Although Sequent enters into various contracts to hedge the value of
our energy assets and operations, the timing of the recognition of
profits or losses on the hedges does not always match up with the
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profits or losses on the item being hedged. The difference in account-
ing can result in volatility in Sequent’s reported results, even though
the expected profit margin is essentially unchanged from the date the
transactions were consummated.

Our business is subject to environmental regulation in all

jurisdictions in which we operate and our costs to comply are

significant, and any changes in existing environmental regu-

lation could negatively affect our results of operations and

financial condition.

Our operations and properties are subject to extensive environmen-
tal regulation pursuant to a variety of federal, state and municipal laws
and regulations. Such environmental legislation imposes, among
other things, restrictions, liabilities and obligations in connection with
storage, transportation, treatment and disposal of hazardous sub-
stances and waste and in connection with spills, releases and emis-
sions of various substances into the environment. Environmental
legislation also requires that our facilities, sites and other properties
associated with our operations be operated, maintained, abandoned
and reclaimed to the satisfaction of applicable regulatory authorities.
Our current costs to comply with these laws and regulations are 
significant to our results of operations and financial condition. Failure
to comply with these laws and regulations and failure to obtain any
required permits and licenses may expose us to fines, penalties
and/or interruptions in our operations that could be material to our
results of operations.

In addition, claims against us under environmental laws and
regulations could result in material costs and liabilities. Existing envi-
ronmental regulations could also be revised or reinterpreted, new laws
and regulations could be adopted or become applicable to us or our
facilities, and future changes in environmental laws and regulations
could occur. With the trend toward stricter standards, greater regula-
tion, more extensive permit requirements and an increase in the num-
ber and types of assets operated by us subject to environmental
regulation, our environmental expenditures could increase in the
future, particularly if those costs are not fully recoverable from our cus-
tomers. Additionally, the discovery of presently unknown environmen-
tal conditions could give rise to expenditures and liabilities, including
fines or penalties, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations or financial condition.

We could incur additional material costs for the environmental

condition of some of our assets, including former manufactured

gas plants.

We are generally responsible for all on-site and certain off-site liabilities
associated with the environmental condition of the natural gas assets
that we have operated, acquired or developed, regardless of when the
liabilities arose and whether they are or were known or unknown. In
addition, in connection with certain acquisitions and sales of assets,
we may obtain, or be required to provide, indemnification against cer-
tain environmental liabilities. Before natural gas was widely available in
the Southeast, we manufactured gas from coal and other fuels. Those
manufacturing operations were known as manufactured gas plants, or
MGPs, which we ceased operating in the 1950s.

We have identified 10 sites in Georgia and 3 in Florida where
we, or our predecessors, own or owned all or part of an MGP site.
We are required to investigate possible environmental contamination
at those MGP sites and, if necessary, clean up any contamination. To
date, cleanup has been completed at these sites, and as of Decem-
ber 31, 2005, the soil and sediment remediation program was com-
plete for all Georgia sites, although groundwater cleanup continues.
As of December 31, 2005, projected costs associated with the MGP
sites were $31 million. For elements of the MGP program where we
still cannot provide engineering cost estimates, considerable variabil-
ity remains in available future cost estimates.

In addition, we are associated with former sites in New Jersey,
North Carolina and other states that we assumed with our acquisition
of NUI in November 2004. Material cleanups of these sites have not
been completed nor are precise estimates available for future cleanup
costs. For the New Jersey sites, cleanup cost estimates range from
$57 million to $104 million. Costs have been estimated for only 1 of
the non–New Jersey sites, for which current estimates range from
$10 million to $17 million.

Our growth may be restricted by the capital-intensive nature of

our business.

We must construct additions to our natural gas distribution system
each year to continue the expansion of our customer base. The cost
of this construction may be affected by the cost of obtaining govern-
ment approvals, development project delays or changes in project
costs. Weather, general economic conditions and the cost of funds to
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finance our capital projects can materially alter the cost of a project.
Our cash flows are not fully adequate to finance the cost of this con-
struction. As a result, we must fund a portion of our cash needs
through borrowings and the issuance of common stock. This may limit
our ability to increase infrastructure to connect customers due to lim-
its on the amount we can economically invest, which shifts costs to
potential customers. This may make it uneconomical for these poten-
tial customers to connect to our distribution systems. 

Changes in weather conditions may affect our earnings.

Weather conditions and other natural phenomena can have a large
impact on our earnings. Severe weather conditions can impact our
suppliers and the pipelines that deliver gas to our distribution system.
Extended mild weather, during either the winter period or the summer
period, can have a significant impact on demand for and the cost of
natural gas.

We have a WNA mechanism for Elizabethtown Gas, Chat-
tanooga Gas and Virginia Natural Gas that partially offsets the impact
of unusually cold or warm weather on residential and commercial cus-
tomer billings and margin. The WNA is most effective in a reasonable
temperature range relative to normal weather using historical averages.
The protection afforded by the WNA depends on continued regulatory
approval. The loss of this continued regulatory approval could make
us more susceptible to weather-related earnings fluctuations.

Inflation and increased gas costs could adversely impact our

customer base and customer collections and increase our level

of indebtedness.

Inflation has caused increases in certain operating expenses and has
required us to replace assets at higher costs. We have a process in
place to continually review the adequacy of our utility gas rates in rela-
tion to the increasing cost of providing service and the inherent reg-
ulatory lag in adjusting those gas rates. Historically, we have been able
to budget and control operating expenses and investments within the
amounts authorized to be collected in rates and intend to continue to
do so. The ability to control expenses is an important factor that will
influence future results.

Rapid increases in the price of purchased gas cause us to
experience a significant increase in short-term debt because we must
pay suppliers for gas when it is purchased, which can be significantly
in advance of when these costs may be recovered through the 

collection of monthly customer bills for gas delivered. Increases in pur-
chased gas costs also slow our utility collection efforts as customers
are more likely to delay the payment of their gas bills, leading to
higher-than-normal accounts receivable. This situation also results in
higher short-term debt levels and increased bad debt expense.
Should the price of purchased gas increase significantly in the
upcoming heating season, we would expect increases in our short-
term debt, accounts receivable and bad debt expense during 2006.

Finally, higher costs of natural gas in recent years have already
caused many of our utility customers to conserve in the use of our
gas services and could lead to even more customers utilizing such
conservation methods or switching to other more efficient competing
products. The higher costs have also allowed products utilizing
energy sources other than natural gas for applications that have tra-
ditionally used natural gas to be in a more competitive position,
encouraging some customers to move away from natural gas fired
equipment to equipment fueled by other energy sources.

A decrease in the availability of adequate pipeline transportation

capacity could reduce our revenues and profits.

Our gas supply depends on the availability of adequate pipeline trans-
portation and storage capacity. We purchase a substantial portion
of our gas supply from interstate sources. Interstate pipeline com-
panies transport the gas to our system. A decrease in interstate
pipeline capacity available to us or an increase in competition for inter-
state pipeline transportation and storage service could reduce our
normal interstate supply of gas.

Risks Related to Our Corporate 
and Financial Structure

If we breach any of the material financial covenants under our

various indentures, credit facilities or guarantees, our debt serv-

ice obligations could be accelerated.

Our existing debt and the debt of certain of our subsidiaries contain
a number of significant financial covenants. If we or any of these sub-
sidiaries breach any of the financial covenants under these agree-
ments, our debt repayment obligations under them could be
accelerated. In such event, we may not be able to refinance or repay
all our indebtedness, which would result in a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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As a result of cross-default provisions in our borrowing arrange-

ments, we may be unable to satisfy all our outstanding obliga-

tions in the event of a default on our part.

Our Credit Facility and the indenture under which Atlanta Gas Light’s
outstanding medium-term notes were issued contain cross-default
provisions. Accordingly, should an event of default occur under some
of our debt agreements, we face the prospect of being in default
under other of our debt agreements, obliged in such instance to sat-
isfy a large portion of our outstanding indebtedness and unable to
satisfy all our outstanding obligations simultaneously.

We depend on our ability to successfully access the capital mar-

kets. Any inability to access the capital or financial markets may

limit our ability to execute our business plan or pursue improve-

ments that we may rely on for future growth.

We rely on access to both short-term money markets (in the form of
commercial paper and lines of credit) and long-term capital markets
as a source of liquidity for capital and operating requirements not sat-
isfied by the cash flow from our operations. If we are not able to
access financial markets at competitive rates, our ability to implement
our business plan and strategy will be affected. Certain market dis-
ruptions may increase our cost of borrowing or affect our ability to
access one or more financial markets. Such market disruptions could
result from

▪ adverse economic conditions
▪ adverse general capital market conditions
▪ poor performance and health of the utility industry in general
▪ bankruptcy or financial distress of unrelated energy companies 

or Marketers in Georgia
▪ significant decrease in the demand for natural gas
▪ adverse regulatory actions that affect our local gas distribution 

companies
▪ terrorist attacks on our facilities or our suppliers
▪ extreme weather conditions

A downgrade in our credit rating could negatively affect our 

ability to access capital.

S&P, Moody’s and Fitch currently assign our senior unsecured debt 
a rating of BBB+, Baa1 and A-, respectively. Our commercial paper
currently is rated A-2, P-2 and F-2 by S&P, Moody’s and Fitch,
respectively. If the rating agencies downgrade our ratings, particularly

below investment grade, it may significantly limit our access to the
commercial paper market and our borrowing costs would increase.
In addition, we would likely be required to pay a higher interest rate in
future financings and our potential pool of investors and funding
sources would likely decrease.

Additionally, if our credit rating by either S&P or Moody’s falls to
non–investment grade status, we will be required to provide additional
support for certain customers of our wholesale business. As of
December 31, 2005, if our credit rating had fallen below investment
grade, we would have been required to provide collateral of approxi-
mately $51 million to continue conducting our wholesale services
business with certain counterparties.

The use of derivative contracts in the normal course of our busi-

ness could result in financial losses that negatively impact our

results of operations.

We use derivatives, including futures, forwards and swaps, to man-
age our commodity and financial market risks. We could recognize
financial losses on these contracts as a result of volatility in the mar-
ket values of the underlying commodities or if a counterparty fails to
perform under a contract. In the absence of actively quoted market
prices and pricing information from external sources, the valuation
of these financial instruments can involve management’s judgment or
use of estimates. As a result, changes in the underlying assumptions
or use of alternative valuation methods could adversely affect the
value of the reported fair value of these contracts.

We are vulnerable to interest rate risk with respect to our debt,

which could lead to changes in interest expense.

We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with the issuance of
fixed-rate and variable-rate debt. In order to maintain our desired mix
of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt, we use interest rate swap agree-
ments and exchange fixed-rate and variable-rate interest payment obli-
gations over the life of the arrangements, without exchange of the
underlying principal amounts. See Quantitative and Qualitative Disclo-
sures About Market Risk. We cannot ensure that we will be success-
ful in structuring such swap agreements to effectively manage our
risks. If we are unable to do so, our earnings may be reduced. In addi-
tion, higher interest rates, all other things equal, reduce the earnings
that we derive from transactions where we capture the difference
between authorized returns and short-term borrowings.
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Risks Related to Our Industry

Transporting and storing natural gas involves numerous risks

that may result in accidents and other operating risks and costs.

Our gas distribution activities involve a variety of inherent hazards and
operating risks, such as leaks, accidents and mechanical problems,
which could cause substantial financial losses. In addition, these risks
could result in loss of human life, significant damage to property, envi-
ronmental pollution and impairment of our operations, which in turn
could lead to substantial losses to us. In accordance with custom-
ary industry practice, we maintain insurance against some, but not all,
of these risks and losses. The location of pipelines and storage facil-
ities near populated areas, including residential areas, commercial
business centers and industrial sites, could increase the level of dam-
ages resulting from these risks. The occurrence of any of these events
not fully covered by insurance could adversely affect our financial
position and results of operations.

Natural disasters, terrorist activities and the potential for military

and other actions could adversely affect our businesses.

Natural disasters may damage our assets. The threat of terrorism
and the impact of retaliatory military and other action by the United
States and its allies may lead to increased political, economic and
financial market instability and volatility in the price of natural gas that
could affect our operations. In addition, future acts of terrorism could
be directed against companies operating in the United States, and
companies in the energy industry may face a heightened risk of
exposure to acts of terrorism. These developments have subjected
our operations to increased risks. The insurance industry has also
been disrupted by these events. As a result, the availability of insur-
ance covering risks against which we and our competitors typically
insure may be limited. In addition, the insurance we are able to obtain
may have higher deductibles, higher premiums and more restrictive
policy terms.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures 
About Market Risk

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices, interest
rates and credit. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential loss
that we may incur as a result of changes in the fair value of a partic-
ular instrument or commodity. Interest rate risk results from our port-
folio of debt and equity instruments that we issue to provide financing
and liquidity for our business. Credit risk results from the extension of
credit throughout all aspects of our business but is particularly con-
centrated at Atlanta Gas Light in distribution operations and in whole-
sale services.

Our Risk Management Committee (RMC) is responsible for
establishing the overall risk management policies and monitoring
compliance with, and adherence to, the terms within these policies,
including approval and authorization levels and delegation of these
levels. Our RMC consists of senior executives who monitor commod-
ity price risk positions, corporate exposures, credit exposures and
overall results of our risk management activities. It is chaired by our
chief risk officer, who is responsible for ensuring that appropriate
reporting mechanisms exist for the RMC to perform its monitoring
functions. Our risk management activities and related accounting
treatments are described in further detail in Note 4.

Commodity Price Risk

Retail Energy Operations SouthStar’s use of derivatives is gov-
erned by a risk management policy, created and monitored by its risk
management committee, which prohibits the use of derivatives for
speculative purposes. A 95% confidence interval is used to evaluate
VaR exposure. A 95% confidence interval means there is a 5% prob-
ability that the actual change in portfolio value will be greater than the
calculated VaR value over the holding period. We calculate VaR based
on the variance-covariance technique. This technique requires sev-
eral assumptions for the basis of the calculation, such as price volatil-
ity, confidence interval and holding period. Our VaR may not be
comparable to a similarly titled measure of another company
because, although VaR is a common metric in the energy industry,
there is no established industry standard for calculating VaR or for the
assumptions underlying such calculations. The following table pro-
vides more information on SouthStar’s 1-day and 10-day holding
period VaR.
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In millions 1-day 10-day

2005 period end $0.3 $0.8

2004 period end 0.2 0.5

SouthStar generates operating margin from the active manage-
ment of storage positions through a variety of hedging transactions
and derivative instruments aimed at managing exposures arising from
changing commodity prices. SouthStar uses these hedging instru-
ments to lock in economic margins (as spreads between wholesale
and retail commodity prices widen between periods) and thereby min-
imize its exposure to declining operating margins.

Wholesale Services This segment routinely utilizes various types
of financial and other instruments to mitigate certain commodity price
risks inherent in the natural gas industry. These instruments include a
variety of exchange-traded and over-the-counter energy contracts,
such as forward contracts, futures contracts, options contracts and
financial swap agreements. The following table includes the fair val-
ues and average values of our energy marketing and risk manage-
ment assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2005 and 2004. We
base the average values on monthly averages for the 12 months
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Average values at December 31,

In millions 2005 2004

Asset $ 83 $28
Liability 102 21

Value at December 31,

In millions 2005 2004

Asset $ 97 $36
Liability 110 19

We employ a systematic approach to evaluating and manag-
ing the risks associated with our contracts related to wholesale mar-
keting and risk management, including VaR. Similar to SouthStar,
Sequent uses a 1-day and a 10-day holding period and a 95% con-
fidence interval to evaluate its VaR exposure.

Sequent’s open exposure is managed in accordance with
established policies that limit market risk and require daily reporting of
potential financial exposure to senior management, including the chief
risk officer. Because Sequent generally manages physical gas assets
and economically protects its positions by hedging in the futures mar-
kets, its open exposure is generally minimal, permitting Sequent to

operate within relatively low VaR limits. Sequent employs daily risk
testing, using both VaR and stress testing, to evaluate the risks of its
open positions.

Sequent’s management actively monitors open commodity
positions and the resulting VaR. Sequent continues to maintain a 
relatively matched book, where its total buy volume is close to sell 
volume, with minimal open commodity risk. Based on a 95% confi-
dence interval and employing a 1-day and a 10-day holding period for
all positions, Sequent’s portfolio of positions for the 12 months ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 had the following 1-day and 
10-day holding period VaRs.

In millions 1-day 10-day

2005

Period end $0.6 $1.9

12-month average 0.4 1.2

High 1.1 3.5

Low1 0.0 0.0

2004

Period end $0.1 $0.2
12-month average 0.1 0.3
High 0.4 1.3
Low1 0.0 0.0
2003

Period end $0.3 $1.0
12-month average 0.1 0.3
High 2.5 4.7
Low1 0.0 0.0
1 $0.0 values represent amounts less than $0.1 million.

During 2005 Sequent experienced increases in its high, 
12-month average and period-end 1-day and 10-day VaR amounts.
These increases were directly associated with the market impacts and
related price volatility created by the Gulf Coast hurricanes during the
third quarter and the lingering effects through year end.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate fluctuations expose our variable-rate debt to changes in
interest expense and cash flows. Our policy is to manage interest
expense using a combination of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt. 
To facilitate the achievement of desired fixed-rate to variable-rate debt
ratios, AGL Capital entered into interest rate swaps whereby it agreed
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to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
variable amounts calculated by reference to agreed-on notional prin-
cipal amounts. These swaps are designated to hedge the fair values
of $100 million of the $300 million Senior Notes Due 2011. 

At the beginning of 2005, we had $75 million of outstanding
interest rate swap agreements associated with our Note Payable at
AGL Capital Trust II. On September 7, 2005, we terminated these
interest rate swap agreements. We received a payment of $1 mil-
lion related to this termination, which included accrued interest and
the fair value of these interest rate swap agreements at the termi-
nation date.

In September 2005, we also executed five treasury-lock agree-
ments totaling $125 million to hedge the interest rate risk associated
with an anticipated 2006 financing. The agreements will result in a
4.11% interest rate on the 10-year United States Treasury bond
against which we will be measured in issuing our own debt instru-
ments and were designated as cash flow hedges against the future
interest payments on the anticipated financing.

Credit Risk

Distribution Operations Atlanta Gas Light has a concentration
of credit risk because it bills only 10 Marketers in Georgia for its serv-
ices. The credit risk exposure to Marketers varies with the time of
the year, with exposure at its lowest in the nonpeak summer months
and highest in the peak winter months. Marketers are responsible for
the retail sale of natural gas to end-use customers in Georgia. These
retail functions include customer service, billing, collections, and the
purchase and sale of the natural gas commodity. These Marketers, in
turn, bill end-use customers. The provisions of Atlanta Gas Light’s tar-
iff allow Atlanta Gas Light to obtain security support in an amount
equal to a minimum of two times a Marketer’s highest month’s esti-
mated bill from Atlanta Gas Light. For 2005, the 4 largest Marketers
based on customer count, one of which was SouthStar, accounted
for approximately 33% of our consolidated operating margin and 45%
of distribution operations’ operating margin.

Several factors are designed to mitigate our risks from the
increased concentration of credit that has resulted from deregulation.
In addition to the security support described above, Atlanta Gas Light
bills intrastate delivery service to Marketers in advance rather than in
arrears. We accept credit support in the form of cash deposits, letters
of credit/surety bonds from acceptable issuers and corporate guar-
antees from investment-grade entities. The RMC reviews on a
monthly basis the adequacy of credit support coverage, credit rating
profiles of credit support providers and payment status of each Mar-
keter. We believe that adequate policies and procedures have been
put in place to properly quantify, manage and report on Atlanta Gas
Light’s credit risk exposure to Marketers.

Atlanta Gas Light also faces potential credit risk in connection
with assignments to Marketers of interstate pipeline transportation
and storage capacity. Although Atlanta Gas Light assigns this capac-
ity to Marketers, in the event that a Marketer fails to pay the interstate
pipelines for the capacity, the interstate pipelines would in all likelihood
seek repayment from Atlanta Gas Light. The fact that some of the
interstate pipelines require Marketers to maintain security for their obli-
gations to the interstate pipelines arising out of the assigned capac-
ity somewhat mitigates this risk.

Retail Energy Operations SouthStar credit-scores firm residential
and small commercial customers using a national credit reporting
agency and enrolls, without security, only those customers that meet
or exceed SouthStar’s credit threshold. The average credit score of
SouthStar’s Georgia customers has increased 9% since 2003.

SouthStar investigates potential interruptible and large com-
mercial customers through reference checks, review of publicly avail-
able financial statements and review of commercially available credit
reports. Prior to entering into a physical transaction, SouthStar also
assigns physical wholesale counterparties an internal credit rating and
credit limit based on their Moody’s, S&P and Fitch ratings, commer-
cially available credit reports and audited financial statements.

Wholesale Services Sequent has established credit policies to
determine and monitor the creditworthiness of counterparties, as well
as the quality of pledged collateral. Sequent also utilizes master net-
ting agreements whenever possible to mitigate exposure to counter-
party credit risk. When Sequent is engaged in more than one
outstanding derivative transaction with the same counterparty and it
also has a legally enforceable netting agreement with that counterparty,
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the “net” mark-to-market exposure represents the netting of the pos-
itive and negative exposures with that counterparty and a reasonable
measure of Sequent’s credit risk. Sequent also uses other netting
agreements with certain counterparties with whom it conducts signif-
icant transactions.

Master netting agreements enable Sequent to net certain
assets and liabilities by counterparty. Sequent also nets across prod-
uct lines and against cash collateral, provided the master netting and
cash collateral agreements include such provisions. Additionally,
Sequent may require counterparties to pledge additional collateral
when deemed necessary. Sequent conducts credit evaluations and
obtains appropriate internal approvals for its counterparty’s line of
credit before any transaction with the counterparty is executed. In
most cases, the counterparty must have a minimum long-term debt
rating of Baa3 from Moody’s and BBB- from S&P. Generally, Sequent
requires credit enhancements by way of guaranty, cash deposit or
letter of credit for transaction counterparties that do not meet the
minimum ratings threshold.

Sequent, which provides services to Marketers and utility and
industrial customers, also has a concentration of credit risk as meas-
ured by its 30-day receivable exposure plus forward exposure. As of
December 31, 2005, Sequent’s top 20 counterparties represented
approximately 52% of the total counterparty exposure of $554 million,
derived by adding together the top 20 counterparties’ exposures and
dividing by the total of Sequent’s counterparties’ exposures.

As of December 31, 2005, Sequent’s counterparties, or the
counterparties’ guarantors, had a weighted average S&P equivalent
credit rating of A-, which is consistent with the prior year. The S&P
equivalent credit rating is determined by a process of converting the
lower of the S&P or Moody’s ratings to an internal rating ranging from
9 to 1, with 9 being equivalent to AAA/Aaa by S&P and Moody’s and
1 being D or Default by S&P and Moody’s. A counterparty that does
not have an external rating is assigned an internal rating based on the
strength of the financial ratios of that counterparty.

To arrive at the weighted average credit rating, each counter-
party’s assigned internal rating is multiplied by the counterparty’s
credit exposure and summed for all counterparties. That sum is
divided by the aggregate total counterparties’ exposures, and this
numeric value is then converted to an S&P equivalent. The following
table shows Sequent’s commodity receivable and payable positions
as of December 31, 2005 and 2004.

As of:

December 31,

In millions 2005 2004

Gross receivables

Receivables with netting agreements in place:
Counterparty is investment grade $462 $378
Counterparty is non–investment grade 66 36
Counterparty has no external rating 113 78

Receivables without netting agreements in place:
Counterparty is investment grade 34 16
Counterparty is non–investment grade — 6

Amount recorded on balance sheet $675 $514
Gross payables

Payables with netting agreements in place:
Counterparty is investment grade $456 $291
Counterparty is non–investment grade 56 45
Counterparty has no external rating 255 139

Payables without netting agreements in place:
Counterparty is investment grade 4 40
Counterparty is non–investment grade — 6
Counterparty has no external rating 4 —

Amount recorded on balance sheet $775 $521

Sequent has certain trade and credit contracts that have explicit
rating trigger events in case of a credit rating downgrade. These rating
triggers typically give counterparties the right to suspend or terminate
credit if our credit ratings are downgraded to non–investment grade
status. Under such circumstances, Sequent would need to post 
collateral to continue transacting business with some of its counter-
parties. Posting collateral would have a negative effect on our liquidity.
If such collateral were not posted, Sequent’s ability to continue trans-
acting business with these counterparties would be impaired. If at
December 31, 2005 Sequent’s credit ratings had been downgraded
to non–investment grade status, the required amounts to satisfy
potential collateral demands under such agreements between
Sequent and its counterparties would have totaled $51 million.
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As of:

In millions December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 30 $ 49
Receivables

Energy marketing 675 514
Gas 303 180
Unbilled revenues 246 189
Other 11 21
Less allowance for uncollectible accounts (15) (15)

Total receivables 1,220 889
Inventories

Natural gas stored underground 509 320
Other 34 12

Total inventories 543 332
Energy marketing and risk management assets 103 44
Unrecovered environmental remediation costs—current portion 31 27
Unrecovered pipeline replacement program costs—current portion 27 24
Other current assets 78 89

Total current assets 2,032 1,454
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 4,791 4,615
Less accumulated depreciation 1,520 1,437

Property, plant and equipment—net 3,271 3,178
Deferred debits and other assets

Goodwill 422 354
Unrecovered pipeline replacement program costs 276 337
Unrecovered environmental remediation costs 165 173
Other 85 141

Total deferred debits and other assets 948 1,005
Total assets $6,251 $5,637

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets—Assets
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As of:

In millions, except share amounts December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Current liabilities

Energy marketing trade payable $ 775 $ 521
Short-term debt 522 334
Accounts payable—trade 264 207
Energy marketing and risk management liabilities—current portion 101 15
Accrued wages and salaries 43 49
Customer deposits 42 50
Deferred purchased gas adjustment 36 60
Accrued interest 32 28
Accrued pipeline replacement program costs—current portion 30 85
Accrued environmental remediation costs—current portion 13 27
Other current liabilities 81 98

Total current liabilities 1,939 1,474
Accumulated deferred income taxes 423 437
Long-term liabilities

Accrued pipeline replacement program costs 235 242
Accumulated removal costs 94 94
Accrued pension obligations 88 84
Accrued environmental remediation costs 84 63
Accrued postretirement benefit costs 54 58
Other long-term liabilities 182 141

Total long-term liabilities 737 682
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 10)
Minority interest 38 36
Capitalization

Long-term debt 1,615 1,623
Common shareholders’ equity, $5 par value; 750 million shares authorized;

77.7 million and 76.7 million shares outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2004 1,499 1,385
Total capitalization 3,114 3,008

Total liabilities and capitalization $6,251 $5,637
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets—Liabilities and Capitalization
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Years ended December 31,

In millions, except per share amounts 2005 2004 2003

Operating revenues $2,718 $1,832 $ 983
Operating expenses

Cost of gas 1,626 995 339
Operation and maintenance 477 377 283
Depreciation and amortization 133 99 91
Taxes other than income taxes 40 29 28

Total operating expenses 2,276 1,500 741
Gain on sale of Caroline Street campus — — 16
Operating income 442 332 258
Equity in earnings of SouthStar Energy Services LLC — — 46
Other losses (1) — (6)
Minority interest (22) (18) —
Interest expense (109) (71) (75)
Earnings before income taxes 310 243 223
Income taxes 117 90 87
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 193 153 136
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of $5 in taxes — — (8)
Net income $ 193 $ 153 $ 128
Per common share data
Basic

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 2.50 $ 2.30 $ 2.15
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — — (0.12)

Basic earnings per common share $ 2.50 $ 2.30 $ 2.03
Fully diluted

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle $ 2.48 $ 2.28 $ 2.13
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — — (0.12)

Fully diluted earnings per common share $ 2.48 $ 2.28 $ 2.01
Cash dividends paid per common share $ 1.30 $ 1.15 $ 1.11
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding: 

Basic 77.3 66.3 63.1
Fully diluted 77.8 67.0 63.7

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Statements of Consolidated Income
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Other Shares held

Common stock Premium on Earnings comprehensive in treasury

In millions, except per share amounts Shares Amount common stock reinvested income and trust Total

Balance as of December 31, 2002 57.8 $289 $210 $279 $(49) $(19) $ 710
Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — 128 — — 128
Other comprehensive income (OCI)—

gain resulting from unfunded pension 
obligation (net of tax of $6) — — — — 8 — 8

Unrealized gain from equity investment 
hedging activities (net of tax) — — — — 1 — 1

Total comprehensive income 137
Dividends on common stock ($1.11 per share) — — — (70) — — (70)
Issuance of common shares:

Equity offering on February 14, 2003 6.7 32 105 — — — 137
Benefit, stock compensation, dividend 

reinvestment and stock purchase plans 
(net of tax benefit of $2) — 1 11 — — 19 31

Balance as of December 31, 2003 64.5 322 326 337 (40) — 945
Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — 153 — — 153
OCI—loss resulting from unfunded 

pension obligation (net of tax benefit of $7) — — — — (11) — (11)
Unrealized gain from hedging activities (net of tax of $2) — — — — 4 — 4
Other — — — — 1 — 1

Total comprehensive income 147
Dividends on common stock ($1.15 per share) — — — (75) — — (75)
Issuance of common shares:

Equity offering on November 24, 2004 11.0 55 277 — — — 332
Benefit, stock compensation, dividend 

reinvestment and stock purchase plans 
(net of tax benefit of $5) 1.2 7 29 — — — 36

Balance as of December 31, 2004 76.7 384 632 415 (46) — 1,385
Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — 193 — — 193
OCI—loss resulting from unfunded pension 

obligation (net of tax benefit of $3) — — — — (5) — (5)
Unrealized loss from hedging activities

(net of tax benefit of $1) — — — — (2) — (2)
Total comprehensive income 186

Dividends on common stock ($1.30 per share) — — — (100) — — (100)
Issuance of common shares:

Benefit, stock compensation, dividend 
reinvestment and stock purchase plans 
(net of tax benefit of $9) 1.1 5 23 — — — 28

Balance as of December 31, 2005 77.8 $389 $655 $508 $(53) $ — $1,499
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Statements of Consolidated Common Shareholders’ Equity
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Years ended December 31,

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 193 $ 153 $ 128
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flow provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 133 99 91
Minority interest 22 18 —
Change in risk management assets and liabilities 27 (32) (1)
Deferred income taxes 17 65 55
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle — — 13
Cash received from equity interests — — 40
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries — (2) (47)
Gain on sale of Caroline Street campus — — (16)
Other noncash adjustments 12 11 10

Changes in certain assets and liabilities
Payables 311 247 61
Inventories (211) (28) (91)
Receivables (338) (264) (67)
Other—net (88) 20 (54)

Net cash flow provided by operating activities 78 287 122
Cash flows from investing activities
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment (267) (264) (158)
Sale of Saltville Gas Storage Company, LLC 66 — —
Acquisition of NUI Corporation, net of cash acquired — (116) —
Acquisition of Jefferson Island Storage & Hub, LLC — (90) —
Purchase of Dynegy Inc.’s 20% ownership interest in SouthStar Energy Services LLC — — (20)
Cash received from sale of Caroline Street campus — — 23
Sale of US Propane LP — 31 —
Other 7 17 10

Net cash flow used in investing activities (194) (422) (145)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net payments and borrowings of short-term debt 188 (480) (82)
Sale of common stock 28 36 12
Distribution to minority interest (19) (14) —
Dividends paid on common shares (100) (75) (70)
Issuances of senior notes — 450 225
Equity offering — 332 137
Sale of treasury shares — — 19
Payments of medium-term notes — (82) (207)
Other — — (3)

Net cash flow provided by financing activities 97 167 31
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (19) 32 8
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 49 17 9
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 30 $ 49 $ 17

Cash paid during the period for
Interest (net of allowance for funds used during construction of $2 million 

for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively) $ 89 $ 50 $ 60
Income taxes 89 27 23
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows
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1
Accounting Policies and Methods of Application

General

AGL Resources Inc. is an energy services holding company that 
conducts substantially all its operations through its subsidiaries.
Unless the context requires otherwise, references to “we,” “us,” “our”
or the “company” mean consolidated AGL Resources Inc. and its
subsidiaries (AGL Resources). We have prepared the accompanying
consolidated financial statements under the rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). For a glossary of key terms and refer-
enced accounting standards, see pages 18–19.

Basis of Presentation

Our consolidated financial statements as of and for the periods ended
December 31, 2005 include our accounts, the accounts of our majority-
owned and controlled subsidiaries and the accounts of variable inter-
est entities for which we are the primary beneficiary. This means that
our accounts are combined with the subsidiaries’ accounts. We have
reclassified certain amounts from prior periods to conform to the 
current-period presentation. We have eliminated any intercompany
profits and transactions between segments in consolidation; however,
we have not eliminated intercompany profits when such amounts are
probable of recovery under the affiliates’ rate regulation process.

We use the equity method when we have a 20% to 50% vot-
ing interest to account for and report investments when we exercise
significant influence but do not control and when we are not the 
primary beneficiary as defined by Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (FIN 46). FIN 46 requires the primary beneficiary of a variable
interest entity’s activities to consolidate the variable interest entity. The
primary beneficiary is the party that absorbs a majority of the
expected losses and/or receives a majority of the expected residual
returns of the variable interest entity’s activities.

We currently own a noncontrolling 70% financial interest 
in SouthStar Energy Services LLC (SouthStar), and Piedmont Natural
Gas Company, Inc. (Piedmont) owns the remaining 30%. Our 70% 

interest is noncontrolling because all significant management deci-
sions require approval by both owners. Prior to 2004, we accounted
for our 70% noncontrolling financial ownership interest in SouthStar
using the equity method of accounting because SouthStar did not
meet the definition of a variable interest entity under FIN 46. Under the
equity method, we reported our ownership interest in SouthStar as an
investment in our consolidated balance sheets, and we reported our
share of SouthStar’s earnings based on our ownership percentage in
our statements of consolidated income as a component of other
income. However, because SouthStar’s results of operations and
financial condition were material to our financial results in 2003, we
present below the summarized amounts for 100% of SouthStar.
These results are not comparable with our reported earnings or losses
from SouthStar in 2003.

In millions 2003

Revenues $746
Operating margin 124
Operating income 63
Net income from continuing operations 63

In December 2003, the FASB revised FIN 46 (FIN 46R) to add
the following conditions for determining whether an entity is a variable
interest entity:

▪ the voting rights of some investors are not proportional to their obli-
gations to absorb the expected losses of the entity, their rights to
receive the expected residual returns of the entity, or both

▪ substantially all the entity’s activities (for example, purchasing prod-
ucts and additional capital) either involve or are conducted on behalf
of an investor that has disproportionately fewer voting rights

In 2004, we determined that SouthStar was a variable interest
entity as defined in FIN 46R because our equal voting rights with
Piedmont are not proportional to our economic obligation to absorb
75% of any losses or residual returns from SouthStar. In addition,
SouthStar obtains substantially all its transportation capacity for deliv-
ery of natural gas through our wholly owned subsidiary, Atlanta Gas
Light Company (Atlanta Gas Light).

As of January 1, 2004, we adopted FIN 46R and consolidated
all SouthStar’s accounts with our subsidiaries’ accounts and elimi-
nated any intercompany balances between segments. We recorded
Piedmont’s portion of SouthStar’s earnings as a minority interest in
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our consolidated statements of income, and we recorded Piedmont’s
portion of SouthStar’s capital as a minority interest in our consolidated
balance sheet.

Prior to our sale of Saltville Gas Storage Company, LLC
(Saltville) in August 2005, we used the equity method to account for
and report our 50% interest in Saltville. Saltville was a joint venture
with a subsidiary of Duke Energy Corporation to develop a high-
deliverability natural gas storage facility in Saltville, Virginia. We used
the equity method because we exercised significant influence over but
did not control the entity and because we were not the primary ben-
eficiary as defined by FIN 46R.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Our cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on deposit,
money market accounts and certificates of deposit with original matu-
rities of three months or less.

Receivables and Allowance 
for Uncollectible Accounts

Our receivables consist of natural gas sales and transportation serv-
ices billed to residential, commercial, industrial and other customers.
We bill customers monthly, and accounts receivable are due within 
30 days. For the majority of our receivables, we establish an
allowance for doubtful accounts based on our collection experience.
On certain other receivables where we are aware of a specific cus-
tomer’s inability or reluctance to pay, we record an allowance for
doubtful accounts against amounts due to reduce the net receivable
balance to the amount we reasonably expect to collect. However, if cir-
cumstances change, our estimate of the recoverability of accounts
receivable could be different. Circumstances that could affect our esti-
mates include, but are not limited to, customer credit issues, the level
of natural gas prices, customer deposits and general economic con-
ditions. We write off accounts once we deem them to be uncollectible.

Inventories

For our regulated subsidiaries, we record natural gas stored under-
ground at weighted average costs, except for gas stored by Atlanta
Gas Light on behalf of SouthStar. For our nonregulated subsidiaries,
primarily Sequent Energy Management, L.P. (Sequent), SouthStar and
Pivotal Jefferson Island Storage & Hub, LLC (Pivotal Jefferson Island),

we account for natural gas inventory at the lower of weighted average
cost or market. For volumes of gas stored by Sequent under park and
loan arrangements that are payable or to be repaid at predetermined
dates to third parties, we record the inventory at fair value. Materials
and supplies inventories are stated at the lower of average cost 
or market.

In Georgia’s competitive environment, Marketers—that is, mar-
keters who are certificated by the Georgia Public Service Commission
(Georgia Commission) to sell retail natural gas in Georgia including
SouthStar, the marketing affiliate of Atlanta Gas Light—began selling
natural gas in 1998 to firm end-use customers at market-based
prices. Part of the unbundling process, which resulted from deregu-
lation that provides for this competitive environment, is the assign-
ment to Marketers of certain pipeline services that Atlanta Gas Light
has under contract. Atlanta Gas Light assigns, on a monthly basis,
the majority of the pipeline storage services that it has under contract
to Marketers, along with a corresponding amount of inventory.

Property, Plant and Equipment

A summary of our property, plant and equipment (PP&E) by classifi-
cation as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 is indicated in the follow-
ing table.

In millions 2005 2004

Transmission and distribution $ 3,867 $ 3,731
Storage 209 206
Other 476 418
Construction work in progress 239 260

Total gross PP&E 4,791 4,615
Accumulated depreciation (1,520) (1,437)

Total net PP&E $ 3,271 $ 3,178

Distribution Operations PP&E expenditures consist of property
and equipment that is in use, being held for future use and under con-
struction. We report it at its original cost, which includes

▪ material and labor
▪ contractor costs
▪ construction overhead costs
▪ an allowance for funds used during construction, which represents

the estimated cost of funds used to finance the construction of
major projects; they are capitalized in the rate base for ratemaking
purposes when the completed projects are placed in service
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We charge property retired or otherwise disposed of to accu-
mulated depreciation since such costs are recovered in rates.

Retail Energy Operations, Wholesale Services, Energy Invest-

ments and Corporate PP&E expenditures include property that is
in use and under construction, and we report it at cost. We record a
gain or loss for retired or otherwise disposed of property.

Depreciation Expense

We compute depreciation expense for distribution operations by
applying composite, straight-line rates (approved by the state regula-
tory agencies) to the investment in depreciable property. The compos-
ite straight-line depreciation rate for depreciable property excluding
transportation equipment for Atlanta Gas Light, Virginia Natural 
Gas, Inc. (Virginia Natural Gas) and Chattanooga Gas Company
(Chattanooga Gas) was approximately 2.6% during 2005, 2.6% dur-
ing 2004 and 2.7% during 2003. The composite, straight-line rate for
Elizabethtown Gas, Florida City Gas and Elkton Gas was approxi-
mately 3.1% during 2005 and was 3.25% for December 2004. We
depreciate transportation equipment on a straight-line basis over a
period of 5 to 10 years. We compute depreciation expense for other
segments on a straight-line basis over a period of 1 to 35 years.

Allowance for Funds Used During 
Construction (AFUDC)

The applicable state regulatory agencies authorize Atlanta Gas Light,
Elizabethtown Gas and Chattanooga Gas to record the cost of debt
and equity funds as part of the cost of construction projects in our
consolidated balance sheets and as AFUDC in the statements of con-
solidated income. The Georgia Commission has authorized a rate of
8.53%, and the Tennessee Regulatory Authority has authorized a rate
of 7.43%. The New Jersey Board of Public Utilities (NJBPU) has
authorized a variable rate based on the Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission (FERC) method of accounting for AFUDC. At Decem-
ber 31, 2005 the rate was 4.33%. The capital expenditures of our
other regulated utilities do not qualify for AFUDC treatment. 

Goodwill

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142), effec-
tive October 1, 2001. Under SFAS 142, we no longer amortize good-
will. SFAS 142 further requires us to perform an initial goodwill
impairment assessment in the year of adoption and annual impair-
ment tests thereafter. We have included $422 million of goodwill in our
consolidated balance sheets, of which $231 million is related to our
acquisition of NUI Corporation (NUI) in November 2004 (see Note 2
for further details); $170 million is related to our acquisition of 
Virginia Natural Gas in 2000, a decrease of $6 million from last year
due to a deferred income tax adjustment made in 2005; $14 million
is related to our acquisition of Jefferson Island Storage & Hub, LLC
(Jefferson Island) in October 2004; and $7 million is related to our
acquisition of Chattanooga Gas in 1988. 

We annually assess goodwill for impairment as of our fiscal year
end at a reporting unit level, which generally equates to our operating
segments as discussed in Note 14, and have not recognized any
impairment charges for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003. We also assess goodwill for impairment if events or
changes in circumstances may indicate an impairment of goodwill
exists. When such events or circumstances are present, we assess
the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the 
carrying value will be recovered through the expected future cash
flows. In the event the sum of the expected future cash flows result-
ing from the use of the asset is less than the carrying value of the
asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying
value over its fair value is recorded. We conduct this assessment 
principally through a review of financial results, changes in state and
federal legislation and regulation, and the periodic regulatory filings for
our regulated utilities.

Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes

The reporting of our assets and liabilities for financial accounting 
purposes differs from the reporting for income tax purposes. The 
principal differences between net income and taxable income relate
to the timing of deductions, primarily due to the benefits of tax depre-
ciation since we generally depreciate assets for tax purposes over a
shorter period of time than for book purposes. We report the tax
effects of depreciation and other differences in those items as
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deferred income tax assets or liabilities in our consolidated balance
sheets. Investment tax credits of approximately $19 million previously
deducted for income tax purposes for Atlanta Gas Light, Chattanooga
Gas and Elizabethtown Gas have been deferred for financial account-
ing purposes and are being amortized as credits to income over 
the estimated lives of the related properties in accordance with reg-
ulatory requirements.

Revenues

Distribution Operations We record revenues when services are
provided to customers. Those revenues are based on rates approved
by the regulatory state commissions of our utilities.

As required by the Georgia Commission, in July 1998, Atlanta
Gas Light began billing Marketers in equal monthly installments for
each residential, commercial and industrial customer’s distribution
costs. As required by the Georgia Commission, effective February 1,
2001, Atlanta Gas Light implemented a seasonal rate design for the
calculation of each residential customer’s annual straight-fixed-
variable (SFV) capacity charge, which is billed to Marketers and
reflects the historic volumetric usage pattern for the entire residential
class. Generally, this change results in residential customers being
billed by Marketers for a higher capacity charge in the winter months
and a lower charge in the summer months. This requirement has an
operating cash flow impact but does not change revenue recognition. 
As a result, Atlanta Gas Light continues to recognize its residential
SFV capacity revenues for financial reporting purposes in equal
monthly installments.

Any difference between the billings under the seasonal rate
design and the SFV revenue recognized is deferred and reconciled to
actual billings on an annual basis. Atlanta Gas Light had unrecovered
seasonal rates of approximately $11 million as of December 31, 2005
and 2004 (included as current assets in the consolidated balance
sheets) related to the difference between the billings under the sea-
sonal rate design and the SFV revenue recognized.

The Elizabethtown Gas, Virginia Natural Gas, Florida City Gas,
Chattanooga Gas and Elkton Gas rate structures include volumetric
rate designs that allow recovery of costs through gas usage. Rev-
enues from sales and transportation services are recognized in the
same period in which the related volumes are delivered to customers.
Sales revenues from residential and certain commercial and industrial
customers are recognized on the basis of scheduled meter readings.

In addition, revenues are recorded for estimated deliveries of gas, not
yet billed to these customers, from the meter reading date to the end
of the accounting period. These are included in the consolidated bal-
ance sheets as unbilled revenue. For other commercial and indus-
trial customers and all wholesale customers, revenues are based on
actual deliveries to the end of the period.

The tariffs for Elizabethtown Gas, Virginia Natural Gas and
Chattanooga Gas contain weather normalization adjustments (WNAs)
that largely mitigate the impact of unusually cold or warm weather on
customer billings and operating margin. The WNA’s purpose is to
reduce the effect of weather on customer bills by reducing bills when
winter weather is colder than normal and increasing bills when
weather is warmer than normal.

Wholesale Services Wholesale services’ revenues are recorded
when services are provided to customers. Intercompany profits from
sales between segments are eliminated in the corporate segment and
are recognized as goods or services sold to end-use customers.
Transactions that qualify as derivatives under SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (SFAS
133), are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recorded as
revenues in our statements of income.

Prior to 2003, in accordance with SFAS 133, we accounted for
nonderivative energy and energy-related activities in accordance with
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 98-10, “Accounting for
Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management Activi-
ties” (EITF 98-10). Under these methods, we recorded energy com-
modity contracts (including physical transactions and financial
instruments) at fair value and reflected unrealized gains and/or losses
in earnings in the period of change. Effective January 1, 2003, we
adopted EITF 02-03, “Issues Involved in Accounting for Contracts
under EITF Issue No. 98-10, ‘Accounting for Contracts Involved in
Energy Trading and Risk Management Activities’” (EITF 02-03), 
which rescinded the provisions of EITF 98-10 and reached two gen-
eral conclusions:

▪ Contracts that do not meet the definition of a derivative under 
SFAS 133 should not be marked to fair market value.

▪ Revenues should be shown in the statement of consolidated
income net of costs associated with trading activities, whether or
not the trades are physically settled.
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As a result of our adoption of EITF 02-03, we adjusted the 
carrying value of our nonderivative trading instruments (principally
storage capacity contracts) to zero and now account for them using
the accrual method of accounting. In addition, we adjusted the value
of our natural gas inventories used in wholesale services to the lower
of average cost or market (they were previously recorded at fair value).
This resulted in the cumulative effect of a change in accounting prin-
ciple in our statements of consolidated income of $13 million ($8 mil-
lion net of taxes). We also began reporting our trading activity on a net
basis (revenues net of associated costs). This reclassification had no
impact on our previously reported net income or shareholders’ equity.

Cost of Gas

Excluding Atlanta Gas LIght, we charge our utility customers for the
natural gas they consume using purchased gas adjustment (PGA)
mechanisms set by the state regulatory agencies. Under the PGA, we
defer (that is, include as a current asset or liability in the consolidated
balance sheets and exclude from the statements of consolidated
income) the difference between the actual cost of gas and what is col-
lected from or billed to customers in a given period. The deferred
amount is either billed or refunded to our customers prospectively
through adjustments to the commodity rate.

Stock-based Compensation

We have several stock-based employee compensation plans and
account for these plans under the recognition and measurement prin-
ciples of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (APB 25), and related
interpretations. For our stock option plans, we generally do not reflect
stock-based employee compensation cost in net income, as options
for those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the
underlying common stock on the date of grant. For our stock appre-
ciation rights, we reflect stock-based employee compensation cost
based on the fair value of our common stock at the balance sheet
date since these awards constitute a variable plan under APB 25. The
following table illustrates the effect on our net income and earnings
per share had we applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS 123).

In millions, except per share amounts 2005 2004 2003

Net income, as reported $ 193 $ 153 $ 128
Deduct: Total stock-based employee 

compensation expense determined 
under fair value based method for 
all awards, net of related tax effect (1) (1) (1)

Pro-forma net income $ 192 $ 152 $ 127
Earnings per share:
Basic—as reported $2.50 $2.30 $2.03
Basic—pro-forma $2.48 $2.28 $2.02
Fully diluted—as reported $2.48 $2.28 $2.01
Fully diluted—pro-forma $2.47 $2.26 $2.00

Comprehensive Income

Our comprehensive income includes net income plus other compre-
hensive income (OCI), which includes other gains and losses affect-
ing shareholders’ equity that accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (GAAP) exclude from net income.
Such items consist primarily of unrealized gains and losses on certain
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges and minimum pension 
liability adjustments. The following table illustrates our OCI activity
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Cash flow hedges:
Net derivative unrealized gains 

(losses) arising during the period 
(net of $3, $3 and $1 in taxes) $ 5 $ 6 $ (1)

Less reclassification of realized 
(gains) losses included in income 
(net of $4, $1 and $2 in taxes) (7) (2) 2

Unfunded pension obligation 
(net of $3, $7 and $6 in taxes) (5) (11) 8

Other (net of tax) — 1 —
Total $ (7) $ (6) $ 9
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Earnings Per Common Share

We compute basic earnings per common share by dividing our
income available to common shareholders by the daily weighted aver-
age number of common shares outstanding. Fully diluted earnings
per common share reflect the potential reduction in earnings per com-
mon share that could occur when potentially dilutive common shares
are added to common shares outstanding.

We derive our potentially dilutive common shares by calculat-
ing the number of shares issuable under performance units and stock
options. The future issuance of shares underlying the performance
units depends on the satisfaction of certain performance criteria. The
future issuance of shares underlying the outstanding stock options
depends on whether the exercise prices of the stock options are less
than the average market price of the common shares for the respec-
tive periods. No items are antidilutive. The following table shows the
calculation of our fully diluted earnings per share for the periods pre-
sented if performance units currently earned under the plan ultimately
vest and if stock options currently exercisable at prices below the
average market prices are exercised.

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Denominator for basic 
earnings per share1 77.3 66.3 63.1

Assumed exercise of 
potential common shares 0.5 0.7 0.6

Denominator for fully diluted 
earnings per share 77.8 67.0 63.7

1 Daily weighted average shares outstanding.

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
The most significant estimates include our regulatory accounting, the
allowance for doubtful accounts, allowance for contingencies, pipeline
replacement program (PRP) accruals, environmental liability accruals,
unbilled revenue recognition, pension and postretirement obligations,
derivative and hedging activities, and purchase price allocations.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2
Acquisition of NUI

On November 30, 2004, we acquired NUI for approximately $825 mil-
lion, including the assumption of $709 million in debt. The acquisition
significantly expands our existing natural gas utilities, storage and
pipeline businesses. During 2005, we adjusted our purchase price allo-
cation by $74 million for additional known items, including adjustments
related to pension obligations; severance; lease obligations related to
NUI’s former corporate offices; environmental remediation liabilities;
income tax liabilities; and asset sales. In connection with the acquisi-
tion, we incurred $25 million in employee-related restructuring charges.
As of December 31, 2005, $5 million of these payments remained to
be paid. Our purchase price allocation as of December 31, 2004 and
2005 and the goodwill adjustments are indicated in the following table. 

Dec. 31, Dec. 31,

In millions 2004 Adjustments 2005

Purchase price $ 825 $ — $ 825

Current assets 299 (1) 298

Property, plant and equipment 612 (15) 597

Other long-term assets 117 (21) 96

Goodwill 157 74 231

Current liabilities excluding debt (108) (4) (112)

Short-term debt and capital leases (502) — (502)

Long-term debt and capital leases (207) — (207)

Other long-term liabilities (143) (31) (174)

Equity 225 2 227

We believe the acquisition resulted in the recognition of good-
will primarily because of the strength of NUI’s underlying assets and
the synergies and opportunities in the regulated utilities. 
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The table below reflects the unaudited pro-forma results of AGL
Resources and NUI for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2003 as if the acquisition and related financing had taken place on
January 1. The pro-forma results are not necessarily indicative of the
results that would have occurred if the acquisition had been in effect
for the periods presented. In addition, the pro-forma results are not
intended to be a projection of future results and do not reflect any
synergies that might be achieved from combining the operations or
eliminating significant expenses that NUI incurred in its last year of
operations. Our results of operations for 2004 include one month of
the acquired operations of NUI.

In millions, except per share amounts 2004 2003

Operating revenue $2,343 $1,630
Income before cumulative effect 

of change in accounting principle 105 88
Net income 105 74
Net income per fully diluted share 1.44 1.05

Sale of Saltville In August 2005, we sold our 50% interest in
Saltville and associated subsidiaries (Virginia Gas Pipeline and Virginia
Gas Storage) to a subsidiary of Duke Energy Corporation, the other
50% partner in the Saltville joint venture. We acquired these assets as
part of our purchase of NUI. We received $66 million in cash at clos-
ing, which included $4 million in working capital adjustments, and
used the proceeds to repay debt and for other general corporate pur-
poses. The transaction was reflected as a decrease of $4 million in
goodwill associated with the NUI acquisition.

Sale of Other NUI Assets In 2005, we sold an appliance business
in Florida and Virginia Gas Distribution Company for proceeds total-
ing $7 million, which approximated their amounts on our consolidated
balance sheets and have been recorded as adjustments to goodwill.

3
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

SFAS 123(R) In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R),
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS 123R). SFAS
123R revises the guidance in SFAS 123 and supersedes APB 25 and
its related implementation guidance. SFAS 123R focuses primarily on
the accounting for share-based payments to employees in exchange
for services, and it requires a public entity to measure and recognize
compensation cost for these payments. Our share-based payments
are typically in the form of stock option and performance unit awards.
The primary change in accounting under SFAS 123R is related to the
requirement to recognize compensation cost for stock option awards
that was not recognized under APB 25. SFAS 123R requires com-
pensation cost to be measured based on the fair value of the equity
or liability instruments issued. For stock option awards, fair value
would be estimated using an option pricing model such as the Black-
Scholes model.

SFAS 123R is effective for equity compensation expense in fis-
cal years beginning after December 15, 2005, and we will adopt it
prospectively on January 1, 2006. We have assessed the impact
SFAS 123R will have on our consolidated financial statements, and
we believe the pro-forma effects on our earnings of recognizing com-
pensation expense related to our stock option awards, contained in
Note 1, serves as a reasonable proxy for the impact of this statement
(approximately $1 million net of income taxes for 2006 and 2007
based on unvested stock options as of December 31, 2005).

AGL Resources Inc.



78

FIN 47 In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation 
No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143” (FIN 47). Asset retirement
obligations (AROs) are legal obligations associated with the retirement
of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction,
development and/or normal operation of a long-lived asset, except
for certain obligations of lessees. FIN 47 clarifies that liabilities asso-
ciated with asset retirement obligations whose timing or settlement
method are conditional on future events should be recorded at fair
value as soon as fair value is reasonably estimable. FIN 47 also pro-
vides guidance on the information required to reasonably estimate the
fair value of the liability. FIN 47 is intended to result in

▪ more consistent recognition of liabilities relating to AROs among
companies

▪ more information about expected future cash outflows associated
with those obligations stemming from the retirement of the asset(s)

▪ more information about investments in long-lived assets because
additional asset retirement costs will be recognized by increasing
the carrying amounts of the assets identified to be retired

FIN 47 is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15,
2005. We adopted the provisions of FIN 47 during the fourth quarter
of 2005. The impact of adoption was not material.

4
Risk Management

Our risk management activities are monitored by our Risk Manage-
ment Committee (RMC). The RMC consists of senior management
and is charged with reviewing and enforcing our risk management
activities. Our risk management policies limit the use of derivative
financial instruments and physical transactions within predefined risk
tolerances associated with pre-existing or anticipated physical natu-
ral gas sales and purchases and system use and storage. We use the
following derivative financial instruments and physical transactions to
manage commodity price risks:

▪ forward contracts
▪ futures contracts
▪ options contracts
▪ financial swaps
▪ storage and transportation capacity transactions

Interest Rate Swaps

To maintain an effective capital structure, it is our policy to borrow
funds using a mix of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt. We have
entered into interest rate swap agreements through our wholly
owned subsidiary, AGL Capital Corporation (AGL Capital), for the
purpose of managing the interest rate risk associated with our fixed-
rate and variable-rate debt obligations. We designated these interest
rate swaps as fair value hedges as prescribed by SFAS 133, which
allows us to designate derivatives that hedge exposure to changes
in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability. We record the gain
or loss on fair value hedges in earnings in the period of change,
together with the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attrib-
utable to the risk being hedged.

We adjust the carrying value of each interest rate swap to its fair
value at the end of each period, with an offsetting and equal adjust-
ment to the carrying value of the debt securities whose fair value is
being hedged. Consequently, our earnings are not affected negatively
or positively by changes in the fair value of the interest swaps.

AGL Resources Inc.

NOTES



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 79

As of December 31, 2005, a notional principal amount of 
$100 million of these interest rate swap agreements effectively con-
verted the interest expense associated with a portion of our senior
notes from fixed rates to variable rates based on an interest rate equal
to the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), plus a spread deter-
mined at the swap date. The floating rate swap rate for our interest
rate swaps for the year ended December 31, 2005 was 7.21%.

At the beginning of 2005, we had $75 million of outstanding
interest rate swap agreements associated with our Note Payable at
AGL Capital Trust II. On September 7, 2005, we terminated these inter-
est rate swap agreements. We received a payment of $1 million related
to this termination, which included accrued interest and the fair value of
these interest rate swap agreements at the termination date.

In September 2005, we also executed five treasury-lock agree-
ments totaling $125 million to hedge the interest rate risk associated
with an anticipated 2006 financing. The agreements will result in a
4.11% interest rate on the 10-year United States Treasury bond
against which we will be measured in issuing our own debt securities
and the agreements were designated as cash flow hedges against
the future interest payments on the anticipated financing. The fair
value of this agreement was $3 million at December 31, 2005, with
the increase in the fair value included as a credit to OCI.

Commodity-related Derivative Instruments

Elizabethtown Gas A program mandated by the NJBPU requires
Elizabethtown Gas to utilize certain derivatives to hedge the impact of
market fluctuations in natural gas prices. Pursuant to SFAS 133, such
derivative products are marked to market each reporting period. In
accordance with regulatory requirements, realized gains and losses
related to these derivatives are reflected in purchased gas costs and
ultimately included in billings to customers. As of December 31, 2005,
Elizabethtown Gas had entered into New York Mercantile Exchange
(NYMEX) futures contracts to purchase approximately 8.3 billion cubic
feet (Bcf) of natural gas and the fair values of these derivatives were
reflected in our consolidated financial statements as an asset of 
$17 million and a liability of $21 million. Approximately 81% of these
contracts have a duration of one year or less, and none of these con-
tracts extends beyond October 2007.

Sequent We are exposed to risks associated with changes in the
market price of natural gas. Sequent uses derivative financial instru-
ments to reduce our exposure to the risk of changes in the prices of
natural gas. The fair value of these derivative financial instruments
reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay to ter-
minate or close the contracts at the reporting date, taking into
account the current unrealized gains or losses on open contracts. We
use external market quotes and indices to value substantially all the
financial instruments we use.

We mitigate substantially all the commodity price risk associ-
ated with Sequent’s natural gas portfolio by locking in the economic
margin at the time we enter into natural gas purchase transactions for
our stored natural gas. We purchase natural gas for storage when the
difference in the current market price we pay to buy and transport
natural gas plus the cost to store the natural gas is less than the mar-
ket price we can receive in the future, resulting in a positive net profit
margin. We use NYMEX futures contracts and other over-the-counter
derivatives to sell natural gas at that future price to substantially lock
in the profit margin we will ultimately realize when the stored gas is
actually sold. These futures contracts meet the definition of deriva-
tives under SFAS 133, are recorded at fair value and are marked to
market in our consolidated balance sheets, with changes in fair value
recorded in earnings in the period of change. The purchase, trans-
portation, storage and sale of natural gas are accounted for on a
weighted average basis rather than on the mark-to-market basis we
utilize for the derivatives used to mitigate the commodity price risk
associated with our storage portfolio. This difference in accounting
can result in volatility in our reported net income, even though the
economic margin is essentially unchanged from the date the transac-
tions were consummated.

At December 31, 2005, Sequent’s commodity-related deriva-
tive financial instruments represented purchases (long) of 411 Bcf and
sales (short) of 464 Bcf, with approximately 94% of these scheduled
to mature in less than two years and the remaining 6% in three to nine
years. At December 31, 2005, the fair values of these derivatives were
reflected in our consolidated financial statements as an asset of 
$80 million and a liability of $97 million. Excluding the cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle in 2003, our unrealized loss
was $30 million in 2005, and we had unrealized gains of $22 million
in 2004 and $1 million in 2003.
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SouthStar The commodity-related derivative financial instruments
(futures, options and swaps) used by SouthStar manage exposures
arising from changing commodity prices. SouthStar’s objective for
holding these derivatives is to utilize the most effective method to
reduce or eliminate the impact of this exposure. We have designated
a portion of SouthStar’s derivative transactions as cash flow hedges
under SFAS 133. We record derivative gains or losses arising from
cash flow hedges in OCI and reclassify them into earnings in the same
period as the settlement of the underlying hedged item. We record
any hedge ineffectiveness, defined as when the gains or losses on the
hedging instrument do not offset and are greater than the losses or
gains on the hedged item, in cost of gas in our statement of consol-
idated income in the period in which it occurs. SouthStar currently has
minimal hedge ineffectiveness. We have not designated the remain-
der of SouthStar’s derivative instruments as hedges under SFAS 133
and, accordingly, we record changes in their fair value in earnings in
the period of change.

At December 31, 2005, the fair values of these derivatives were
reflected in our consolidated financial statements as an asset of 
$7 million and a liability of $4 million. The maximum maturity of open
positions is less than one year and represents purchases and sales of
3.2 Bcf.

SouthStar also enters both exchange and over-the-counter
derivative transactions to hedge commodity price risk. Credit risk 
is mitigated for exchange transactions through the backing of 
the NYMEX’s member firms. For over-the-counter transactions,
SouthStar utilizes master netting arrangements to reduce overall
credit risk. As of December 31, 2005, SouthStar’s maximum expo-
sure to any single over-the-counter counterparty was $2 million.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Atlanta Gas Light Concentration of credit risk occurs at Atlanta
Gas Light for amounts billed for services and other costs to its cus-
tomers, which consist of 10 Marketers in Georgia. The credit risk
exposure to Marketers varies seasonally, with the lowest exposure in
the nonpeak summer months and the highest exposure in the peak
winter months. Marketers are responsible for the retail sale of natu-
ral gas to end-use customers in Georgia. These retail functions
include customer service, billing, collections, and the purchase and

sale of natural gas. Atlanta Gas Light’s tariff allows it to obtain secu-
rity support in an amount equal to a minimum of two times a 
Marketer’s highest month’s estimated bill from Atlanta Gas Light.

Wholesale Services Sequent has a concentration of credit risk for
services it provides to marketers and to utility and industrial cus-
tomers. This credit risk is measured by 30-day receivable exposure
plus forward exposure, which is generally concentrated in 20 of its
customers. Sequent evaluates the credit risk of its customers using a
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (S&P) equivalent credit rating,
which is determined by a process of converting the lower of the S&P
or Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s) rating to an internal rating
ranging from 9.00 to 1.00, with 9.00 being equivalent to AAA/Aaa
by S&P and Moody’s and 1.00 being equivalent to D or Default by
S&P and Moody’s. A customer that does not have an external rating
is assigned an internal rating based on Sequent’s analysis of the
strength of its financial ratios. At December 31, 2005, Sequent’s top
20 customers represented approximately 52% of the total credit expo-
sure of $554 million, derived by adding together the top 20 customers’
exposures and dividing by the total of Sequent’s counterparties’ expo-
sures. Sequent’s customers or the customers’ guarantors had a
weighted average S&P equivalent rating of A- at December 31, 2005.

The weighted average credit rating is obtained by multiplying
each customer’s assigned internal rating by its credit exposure and
then adding the individual results for all counterparties. That total is
divided by the aggregate total exposure. This numeric value is con-
verted to an S&P equivalent.

Sequent has established credit policies to determine and mon-
itor the creditworthiness of counterparties, including requirements for
posting of collateral or other security, as well as the quality of pledged
collateral. Collateral or credit security is most often in the form of
cash or letters of credit from an investment-grade financial institution,
but may also include cash or U.S. Government Securities held by a
trustee. When Sequent is engaged in more than one outstanding
derivative transaction with the same counterparty and it also has a
legally enforceable netting agreement with that counterparty, the
“net” mark-to-market exposure represents the netting of the positive
and negative exposures with that counterparty and a reasonable
measure of Sequent’s credit risk. Sequent also uses other netting
agreements with certain counterparties with which it conducts sig-
nificant transactions.
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5
Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

We have recorded regulatory assets and liabilities in our consolidated
balance sheets in accordance with SFAS No. 71, “Accounting for the
Effects of Certain Types of Regulation” (SFAS 71). Our regulatory
assets and liabilities, and associated liabilities for our unrecovered
PRP costs and unrecovered environmental remediation costs (ERC),
are summarized in the table below.

December 31,

In millions 2005 2004

Regulatory assets

Unrecovered PRP costs $303 $361
Unrecovered ERC 196 200
Unrealized loss on hedging derivatives 17 6
Unrecovered postretirement benefit costs 14 14
Unrecovered seasonal rates 11 11
Unrecovered PGA 8 2
Regulatory tax asset 1 2
Other 9 20

Total regulatory assets $559 $616
Regulatory liabilities

Accumulated removal costs $ 94 $ 94
Deferred PGA 36 60
Unrealized gain on hedging derivatives 21 6
Unamortized investment tax credit 19 20
Regulatory tax liability 15 14
Other 6 12

Total regulatory liabilities 191 206
Associated liabilities

PRP costs 265 327
ERC 97 90

Total associated liabilities 362 417
Total regulatory and associated liabilities $553 $623

Our regulatory assets are recoverable through either rate riders
or base rates specifically authorized by a state regulatory commission.
Base rates are designed to provide both a recovery of cost and a
return on investment during the period rates are in effect. As such, all
our regulatory assets are subject to review by the respective state reg-
ulatory commission during any future rate proceedings. In the event
that the provisions of SFAS 71 were no longer applicable, we would
recognize a write-off of net regulatory assets (regulatory assets less
regulatory liabilities) that would result in a charge to net income, which
would be classified as an extraordinary item. However, although the
natural gas distribution industry is becoming increasingly competitive,
our utility operations continue to recover their costs through cost-
based rates established by the state regulatory commissions. As a
result, we believe that the accounting prescribed under SFAS 71
remains appropriate. It is also our opinion that all regulatory assets are
recoverable in future rate proceedings, and therefore we have not
recorded any regulatory assets that are recoverable but are not yet
included in base rates or contemplated in a rate rider.

All the regulatory assets included in the table above are
included in base rates except for the unrecovered PRP costs, unre-
covered ERC and deferred PGA, which are recovered through spe-
cific rate riders. The rate riders that authorize recovery of unrecovered
PRP costs and the deferred PGA include both a recovery of costs
and a return on investment during the recovery period. We have two
rate riders that authorize the recovery of unrecovered ERC. The ERC
rate rider for Atlanta Gas Light only allows for recovery of the costs
incurred and the recovery period occurs over the five years after the
expense is incurred. ERC associated with the investigation and reme-
diation of Elizabethtown Gas remediation sites located in the state
of New Jersey are recovered under a remediation adjustment clause
and include the carrying cost on unrecovered amounts not currently
in rates.

The regulatory liabilities are refunded to ratepayers through a
rate rider or base rates. If the regulatory liability is included in base
rates, the amount is reflected as a reduction to the rate base in set-
ting rates.
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Pipeline Replacement Program

The PRP, ordered by the Georgia Commission to be administered by
Atlanta Gas Light, requires, among other things, that Atlanta Gas Light
replace all bare steel and cast iron pipe in its system in the state of
Georgia within a 10-year period beginning October 1, 1998. Atlanta
Gas Light identified, and provided notice to the Georgia Commission
of, 2,312 miles of pipe to be replaced. Atlanta Gas Light has subse-
quently identified an additional 320 miles of pipe subject to replace-
ment under this program. If Atlanta Gas Light does not perform in
accordance with this order, it will be assessed certain nonperformance
penalties. October 1, 2005 marked the beginning of the eighth year of
the 10-year PRP.

The order also provides for recovery of all prudent costs incurred
in the performance of the program, which Atlanta Gas Light has
recorded as a regulatory asset. Atlanta Gas Light will recover from end-
use customers, through billings to Marketers, the costs related to the
program net of any cost savings from the program. All such amounts
will be recovered through a combination of SFV rates and a pipeline
replacement revenue rider. The regulatory asset has two components:

▪ the costs incurred to date that have not yet been recovered through
the rate rider

▪ the future expected costs to be recovered through the rate rider

On June 10, 2005, Atlanta Gas Light and the Georgia Commis-
sion entered into a Settlement Agreement that, among other things,
extends Atlanta Gas Light’s PRP by five years to require that all
replacements be completed by December 2013. The timing of
replacements was subsequently specified in an amendment to the
PRP stipulation. This amendment, which was approved by the Georgia
Commission on December 20, 2005, requires Atlanta Gas Light to
replace all cast iron pipe and 70% of all bare steel pipe by Decem-
ber 2010. The remaining 30% of bare steel pipe is required to be
replaced by December 2013. The amendment requires an evaluation
by Atlanta Gas Light and the Georgia Commission staff of 22 miles of
24-inch pipe in Atlanta by December 2010 to determine if such pipe
requires replacement. If replacement of this pipe is required, the pipe
must be replaced by December 2013. The additional cost to replace
this pipe is projected to be approximately $37 million.

Under the Settlement Agreement, base rates charged to cus-
tomers will remain unchanged through April 30, 2010, but Atlanta Gas
Light will recognize reduced base rate revenues of $5 million on an
annual basis through April 30, 2010. The five-year total reduction in
recognized base rate revenues of $25 million will be applied to the
allowed amount of costs incurred to replace pipe, which will reduce
the amounts recovered from customers under the PRP rider. The Set-
tlement Agreement also set the per customer PRP rate that Atlanta
Gas Light will charge a fixed rate at $1.29 per customer per month
from May 2005 through September 2008 and at $1.95 from October
2008 through December 2013 and includes a provision that allows
for a true-up of any over- or under-recovery of PRP revenues that may
result from a difference between PRP charges collected through fixed
rates and actual PRP revenues recognized through the remainder of
the program.

The Settlement Agreement also allows Atlanta Gas Light to
recover through the PRP $4 million of the $32 million capital costs
associated with its purchase of 250 miles of pipeline in central Georgia
from Southern Natural Gas Company, a subsidiary of El Paso Corpo-
ration. The remaining capital costs are included in Atlanta Gas Light’s
rate base and collected through base rates.

Atlanta Gas Light has recorded a long-term regulatory asset of
$276 million, which represents the expected future collection of both
expenditures already incurred and expected future capital expendi-
tures to be incurred through the remainder of the program. Atlanta
Gas Light has also recorded a current asset of $27 million, which rep-
resents the expected amount to be collected from customers over the
next 12 months. The amounts recovered from the pipeline replace-
ment revenue rider during the last three years were

▪ $26 million in 2005
▪ $28 million in 2004
▪ $15 million in 2003

As of December 31, 2005, Atlanta Gas Light had recorded a
current liability of $30 million, representing expected program expen-
ditures for the next 12 months, and a long-term liability of $235 mil-
lion, representing expected program expenditures from 2007 through
the end of the program in 2013.
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Atlanta Gas Light capitalizes and depreciates the capital expen-
diture costs incurred from the PRP over the life of the assets. Opera-
tion and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. Recoveries,
which are recorded as revenue, are based on a formula that allows
Atlanta Gas Light to recover operation and maintenance costs in
excess of those included in its current base rates, depreciation
expense and an allowed rate of return on capital expenditures. In the
near term, the primary financial impact to Atlanta Gas Light from the
PRP is reduced cash flow from operating and investing activities, as
the timing related to cost recovery does not match the timing of when
costs are incurred. However, Atlanta Gas Light is allowed the recovery
of carrying costs on the under-recovered balance resulting from the
timing difference.

Environmental Remediation Costs

We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations gov-
erning environmental quality and pollution control. These laws and
regulations require us to remove or remedy the effect on the envi-
ronment of the disposal or release of specified substances at cur-
rent and former operating sites.

Atlanta Gas Light The presence of coal tar and certain other
byproducts of a natural gas manufacturing process used to produce
natural gas prior to the 1950s has been identified at or near 10 for-
mer Atlanta Gas Light operating sites in Georgia and at 3 sites of
predecessor companies in Florida. Atlanta Gas Light has active envi-
ronmental remediation or monitoring programs in effect at 10 of these
sites. Two sites in Florida are currently in the investigation or prelimi-
nary engineering design phase, and one Georgia site has been
deemed compliant with state standards. 

Atlanta Gas Light has customarily reported estimates of future
remediation costs for these former sites based on probabilistic mod-
els of potential costs. These estimates are reported on an undis-
counted basis. As cleanup options and plans mature and cleanup
contracts are entered into, Atlanta Gas Light is better able to pro-
vide conventional engineering estimates of the likely costs of reme-
diation at its former sites. These estimates contain various engineering
uncertainties, but Atlanta Gas Light continuously attempts to refine
and update these engineering estimates.

Atlanta Gas Light’s current engineering estimate projects costs
of $12 million to complete site remediation in Georgia and Florida,
excluding monitoring. This is a reduction of $24 million from last year’s
estimate, resulting primarily from program expenditures. During the
same 12-month period Atlanta Gas Light realized changes in its future
cost estimates totaling $6 million related to

▪ an increase in the contract value at its Augusta, Georgia site for
treatment of two areas and a reduction of $2 million in groundwater
costs related to active treatment system operations

▪ a decrease at its Savannah, Georgia site of $4 million for ground-
water treatment costs and contractual liability

▪ a decrease of $1 million at its Griffin, Georgia site for groundwater
treatment costs

▪ an increase of $1 million for additional remediation and investigative
costs at its various sites in Georgia and Florida

The current estimate for the remaining cost of future actions
at these former operating sites is $15 million, which may change
depending on whether future measures for groundwater will be
required. Atlanta Gas Light estimates certain other costs related to
administering the remediation program, including administrative costs,
to be $4 million.

These liabilities do not include other potential expenses, such
as unasserted property damage claims, personal injury or natural
resource damage claims, unbudgeted legal expenses or other costs
for which Atlanta Gas Light may be held liable but with respect to
which it cannot reasonably estimate an amount. As of December 31,
2005, the remediation expenditures expected to be incurred over the
next 12 months are reflected as a current liability of $10 million.
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The ERC liability is included as a corresponding regulatory
asset, which is a combination of accrued ERC and unrecovered cash
expenditures for investigation and cleanup costs. Atlanta Gas Light
has three ways of recovering investigation and cleanup costs. First,
the Georgia Commission has approved an ERC recovery rider. The
ERC recovery mechanism allows for recovery of expenditures over a
five-year period subsequent to the period in which the expenditures
are incurred. Atlanta Gas Light expects to collect $29 million in rev-
enues over the next 12 months under the ERC recovery rider, which
is reflected as a current asset. The amounts recovered from the ERC
recovery rider during the last three years were

▪ $28 million in 2005
▪ $25 million in 2004
▪ $23 million in 2003

The second way to recover costs is by exercising the legal
rights Atlanta Gas Light believes it has to recover a share of its costs
from other potentially responsible parties, typically former owners or
operators of these sites. There were no material recoveries from
potentially responsible parties during 2005, 2004 or 2003. The third
way to recover costs is from the receipt of net profits from the sale
of remediated property. There were no sales of property during 2005.

Elizabethtown Gas In New Jersey, Elizabethtown Gas is currently
conducting remediation activities with oversight from the New Jersey
Department of Environmental Protection. Although we cannot esti-
mate the actual total cost of future environmental investigation and
remediation efforts with precision, based on probabilistic models sim-
ilar to those used at Atlanta Gas Light’s former operating sites, the
range of reasonably probable costs is $57 million to $104 million. As
of December 31, 2005, no value within this range was a better esti-
mate than any other value, so we have recorded a liability equal to the
low end of that range, or $57 million.

Prudently incurred remediation costs for the New Jersey prop-
erties have been authorized by the NJBPU to be recoverable in rates
through a remediation adjustment clause. As a result, Elizabethtown
Gas has recorded a regulatory asset of approximately $63 million,
inclusive of interest, as of December 31, 2005, reflecting the future
recovery of both incurred costs and accrued carrying charges. 
Elizabethtown Gas has also been successful in recovering a portion
of remediation costs incurred in New Jersey from its insurance carri-
ers and continues to pursue additional recovery.

Sites in North Carolina We also own a former NUI remediation
site in Elizabeth City, North Carolina that is subject to a remediation
order by the North Carolina Department of Energy and Natural
Resources. We currently have only partial information regarding envi-
ronmental impacts at the Elizabeth City site, and therefore we can
make quantitative cost estimates only for limited components of a site
cleanup. However, experience at other similar sites suggests that
costs for remediation of this site will likely range from $10 million to
$17 million. As of December 31, 2005, we have recorded a liability
of $10 million related to this site.

There is one other site in North Carolina where investigation
and remediation is likely, although no remediation order exists and
we do not believe costs associated with this site can be reasonably
estimated. In addition, there are as many as six other sites with which
NUI had some association, although no basis for liability has been
asserted, and accordingly we have not accrued any remediation 
liability. There are currently no cost recovery mechanisms for the
environmental remediation sites in North Carolina.
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6
Employee Benefit Plans

Pension Benefits

We sponsor two tax-qualified defined benefit retirement plans for 
our eligible employees, the AGL Resources Inc. Retirement Plan 
(AGL Retirement Plan) and the NUI Corporation Retirement Plan 
(NUI Retirement Plan). A defined benefit plan specifies the amount
of benefits an eligible participant eventually will receive using informa-
tion about the participant.

We generally calculate the benefits under the AGL Retirement
Plan based on age, years of service and pay. The benefit formula for
the AGL Retirement Plan is a career average earnings formula, except
for participants who were employees as of July 1, 2000 and who
were at least 50 years of age as of that date. For those participants,
we use a final average earnings benefit formula, and will continue to
use this benefit formula for such participants until June 2010, at which
time any of those participants who are still active will accrue future
benefits under the career average earnings formula.

The NUI Retirement Plan is a qualified noncontributory defined
benefit retirement plan that covers substantially all of NUI’s employ-
ees except Florida City Gas union employees, who participate in a
union-sponsored multiemployer plan. Pension benefits are based on
years of credited service and final average compensation.

Effective with our acquisition of NUI in November 2004, we
now administer the NUI Retirement Plan. Throughout 2005, we main-
tained existing benefits for NUI employees, including participation in
the NUI Retirement Plan. Beginning in 2006, eligible participants in the
NUI Retirement Plan will become eligible to participate in the 
AGL Retirement Plan and the benefits of those participants under the
NUI Retirement Plan were frozen as of December 31, 2005, result-
ing in a $15 million reduction to the NUI Retirement Plan’s projected
benefit obligation as of December 31, 2005. Participants in the NUI
Retirement Plan have the option of receiving a lump sum distribution

upon retirement for all benefits earned through December 31, 2005.
This option is not permitted under the AGL Retirement Plan. The fol-
lowing table presents details about our pension plans.

AGL Retirement Plan NUI Retirement Plan

Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, 

In millions 2005 2004 2005 2004

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation 
at beginning of year $340 $314 $144 $144

Service cost 6 5 4 —
Interest cost 19 19 8 1
Plan amendments — — (15) —
Actuarial loss (gain) 14 21 (4) —
Benefits paid (20) (19) (32) (1)
Benefit obligation 

at end of year $359 $340 $105 $144
Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets 
at beginning of year $279 $259 $111 $108

Actual return on plan assets 21 26 6 4
Employer contribution 6 13 — —
Benefits paid (20) (19) (32) (1)
Fair value of plan assets 

at end of year $286 $279 $ 85 $111
Funded status

Plan assets less than benefit 
obligation at end of year $ (73) $ (61) $ (20) $ (33)

Unrecognized net loss 119 108 4 —
Unrecognized prior 

service benefit (10) (11) (15) (3)
Accrued (prepaid) pension cost1 $ 36 $ 36 $ (31) $ (36)
Amounts recognized in 

the statement of financial 

position consist of

Prepaid benefit cost $ 42 $ 43 $ — $ —
Accrued benefit liability (7) (7) (31) (36)
Accumulated OCI (92) (84) — —
Net amount recognized 

at year end $ (57) $ (48) $ (31) $ (36)
1 The prepaid pension cost for the NUI Retirement Plan at December 31, 2005 was adjusted for termina-

tions and settlement of liabilities for participants affected by our acquisition of NUI in November 2004. We

recorded the associated $9 million reduction in our benefit obligation as a reduction to goodwill. 
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The accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) and other informa-
tion for the AGL Retirement Plan and the NUI Retirement Plan are set
forth in the following table.

AGL Retirement Plan NUI Retirement Plan

Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, 

In millions 2005 2004 2005 2004

Projected benefit obligation $359 $340 $105 $144
ABO 343 327 105 118
Fair value of plan assets 286 279 85 111
Increase in minimum liability 

included in OCI 8 18 — —
Components of net 

periodic benefit cost

Service cost $ 6 $ 5 $ 4 $ —
Interest cost 19 19 8 1
Expected return on plan assets (24) (23) (9) (1)
Net amortization (1) (1) — —
Recognized actuarial loss 7 5 — —
Net annual pension cost $ 7 $ 5 $ 3 $ —

The following table sets forth the assumed weighted average
discount rates and rates of compensation increase used to determine
benefit obligations at the balance sheet dates.

AGL and NUI Retirement Plans

Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

Discount rate 5.5% 5.8%
Rate of compensation increase 4.0% 4.0%

We consider a number of factors in determining and selecting
assumptions for the overall expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets. We consider the historical long-term return experience of our
assets, the current and expected allocation of our plan assets, and

expected long-term rates of return. We derive these expected long-
term rates of return with the assistance of our investment advisors and
generally base these rates on a 10-year horizon for various asset
classes, our expected investments of plan assets and active asset
management as opposed to investment in a passive index fund. We
base our expected allocation of plan assets on a diversified portfolio
consisting of domestic and international equity securities, fixed income,
real estate, private equity securities and alternative asset classes.

The following tables present the assumed weighted average
discount rate, expected return on plan assets and rate of compensa-
tion increase used to determine net periodic benefit cost at the begin-
ning of the period, which was January 1.

AGL Retirement Plan

Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

Discount rate 5.8% 6.3%
Expected return on plan assets 8.8% 8.8%
Rate of compensation increase 4.0% 4.0%

NUI Retirement Plan

Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

Discount rate 5.8% 5.8%
Expected return on plan assets 8.5% 8.5%
Rate of compensation increase 4.0% 4.0%

We consider a number of factors in determining and selecting
our assumptions for the discount rate at December 31. We consider
certain market indices, including the Moody’s Corporate AA long-term
bond rate of 5.41% and the Citigroup Pension Liability rate of 5.51%,
at December 31, 2005. We further use these market indices as a
comparison to a single equivalent discount rate derived with the
assistance of our actuarial advisors. The single equivalent discount
rate is based on a yield-to-maturity regression analysis of a portfolio
of corporate bonds rated AA by Moody’s and that have cash outflows
consistent with payouts from our retirement plans. This analysis as 
of December 31, 2005 produced a single equivalent discount rate 
of 5.63%. Consequently, we selected a discount rate of 5.5% as of
December 31, 2005, following our review of these various factors.
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Our actual retirement plans’ weighted average asset allocations
at December 31, 2005 and 2004 and our target asset allocation
ranges are as follows.

Target range AGL Retirement Plan

allocation of assets 2005 2004

Equity 40%–85% 66% 71%
Fixed income 25%–50% 25% 25%
Real estate and other 0%–10% 8% 3%
Cash 0%–10% 1% 1%

Target range NUI Retirement Plan

allocation of assets 2005 2004

Equity 40%–85% 88% 72%
Fixed income 25%–50% 12% 28%
Real estate and other 0%–10% — —
Cash 0%–10% — —

The Retirement Plan Investment Committee (the Committee)
appointed by our Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the
investments of the retirement plan. Further, we have an Investment
Policy (the Policy) for the retirement plans that aims to preserve the
retirement plans’ capital and maximize investment earnings in excess
of inflation within acceptable levels of capital market volatility. To
accomplish this goal, the retirement plan assets are actively managed
to optimize long-term return while maintaining a high standard of port-
folio quality and proper diversification.

The Policy’s risk management strategy establishes a maximum
tolerance for risk in terms of volatility to be measured at 75% of the
volatility experienced by the S&P 500. We will continue to more
broadly diversify retirement plan investments to minimize the risk of
large losses in a single asset class. The Policy’s permissible invest-
ments include domestic and international equities (including convert-
ible securities and mutual funds), domestic and international fixed
income (corporate and U.S. government obligations), cash and cash
equivalents and other suitable investments. The asset mix of these
permissible investments is maintained within the Policy’s target allo-
cations as included in the table above, but the Committee can vary
allocations between various classes and/or investment managers in
order to improve investment results.

Equity market performance and corporate bond rates have a
significant effect on our reported unfunded ABO, as the primary fac-
tors that drive the value of our unfunded ABO are the assumed dis-
count rate and the actual return on plan assets. Additionally, equity
market performance has a significant effect on our market-related
value of plan assets (MRVPA), which is a calculated value and differs
from the actual market value of plan assets. The MRVPA recognizes
the difference between the actual market value and expected market
value of our plan assets and is determined by our actuaries using a
five-year moving weighted average methodology. Gains and losses
on plan assets are spread through the MRVPA based on the five-year
moving weighted average methodology, which affects the expected
return on plan assets component of pension expense.

Our employees do not contribute to the retirement plans. We
fund the plans by contributing at least the minimum amount required
by applicable regulations and as recommended by our actuary. How-
ever, we may also contribute in excess of the minimum required
amount. We calculate the minimum amount of funding using the 
projected unit credit cost method. We do not expect to make any
contribution to the pension plans in 2006.

Postretirement Benefits

We sponsor two defined benefit postretirement health care plans for
our eligible employees, the AGL Resources Inc. Postretirement Health
Care Plan (AGL Postretirement Plan) and the NUI Corporation Postre-
tirement Health Care Plan (NUI Postretirement Plan), which we
acquired upon our acquisition of NUI. Eligibility for these benefits is
based on age and years of service.

The NUI Postretirement Plan provides certain medical and den-
tal health care benefits to retirees, other than retirees of Florida City
Gas, depending on their age, years of service and start date. The NUI
Postretirement Plan is contributory, and NUI funded a portion of these
future benefits through a Voluntary Employees’ Beneficiary Associa-
tion. Effective July 2000, NUI no longer offered postretirement bene-
fits other than pensions for any new hires. In addition, NUI capped its
share of costs at $500 per participant per month for retirees under
age 65, and at $150 per participant per month for retirees over age
65. Beginning in 2006, eligible participants in the NUI Postretirement
Plan will become eligible to participate in the AGL Postretirement Plan.
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The AGL Postretirement Plan covers all eligible AGL Resources
employees who were employed as of June 30, 2002, if they reach
retirement age while working for us. The state regulatory commissions
have approved phase-ins that defer a portion of other postretirement
benefits expense for future recovery. We recorded a regulatory asset
for these future recoveries of $14 million as of December 31, 2005
and $14 million as of December 31, 2004. In addition, we recorded a
regulatory liability of $3 million as of December 31, 2005 and $2 mil-
lion as of December 31, 2004 for our expected expenses under the
AGL Postretirement Plan.

Effective December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 was signed into law.
This act provides for a prescription drug benefit under Medicare 
Part D as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care
benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equiva-
lent to Medicare Part D.

On July 1, 2004, the AGL Postretirement Plan was amended to
remove prescription drug coverage for Medicare-eligible retirees effec-
tive January 1, 2006. Certain grandfathered NUI retirees participating
in the NUI Postretirement Plan will continue receiving a prescription
drug benefit through some period of time. The AGL Postretirement
Plan’s accumulated postretirement benefit obligation decreased by
approximately $24 million and net annual cost decreased by $2 million
due to the elimination of prescription drug coverage for Medicare-
eligible retirees. The 2004 net periodic postretirement benefit cost
reflects both the plan amendment to remove prescription drug cover-
age under the AGL Postretirement Plan, described above, and the 
federal subsidy for NUI grandfathered retirees. The following table
presents details about our postretirement benefits.

AGL Postretirement Plan NUI Postretirement Plan

Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, 

In millions 2005 2004 2005 2004

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation 
at beginning of year $ 98 $134 $ 23 $ 23

Service cost 1 1 — —
Interest cost 5 7 1 —
Plan amendments — (24) (7) —
Actuarial (gain) loss (6) (12) 3 —
Benefits paid (9) (8) (2) —
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 89 $ 98 $ 18 $ 23
Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets 
at beginning of year $ 49 $ 44 $ 9 $ 9

Actual return on plan assets 4 5 — —
Employer contribution 6 8 2 —
Benefits paid (9) (8) (2) —
Fair value of plan assets 

at end of year $ 50 $ 49 $ 9 $ 9
Funded status

ABO in excess of plan assets $(39) $ (49) $ (9) $(14)
Unrecognized loss 22 30 2 —
Unrecognized transition amount 1 1 — —
Unrecognized prior 

service benefit (23) (26) (6) —
Accrued benefit cost $(39) $ (44) $(13) $(14)
Amounts recognized in 

the statement of financial 

position consist of

Prepaid benefit cost $ — $ — $ — $ —
Accrued benefit liability (39) (44) (13) (14)
Accumulated OCI — — — —
Net amount recognized 

at year end $(39) $ (44) $(13) $(14)
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The following table presents details on the components of our
net periodic benefit cost at the balance sheet dates for our retirement
plans. Amounts for the NUI Postretirement Plan were not material 
in 2004.

AGL NUI 

Postretirement Plan Postretirement Plan

In millions 2005 2004 2005

Service cost $ 1 $ 1 $—

Interest cost 5 7 1

Expected return on plan assets (4) (3) —

Amortization of prior service cost (3) (2) (1)

Recognized actuarial loss 1 1 —

Net periodic postretirement 
benefit cost $— $ 4 $—

The following tables present our weighted average assumed
rates used to determine benefit obligations at the beginning of the
period, January 1 for the AGL Postretirement Plan and December 1
for the NUI Postretirement Plan, and our weighted average assumed
rates used to determine net periodic benefit cost at the beginning of
these same periods.

AGL Postretirement Plan

2005 2004

Discount rate—benefit obligation 5.5% 5.8%
Discount rate—net periodic benefit cost 5.8% 6.3%
Expected return on plan assets 8.8% 8.8%
Rate of compensation increase 4.0% 4.0%

NUI Postretirement Plan

2005 2004

Discount rate—benefit obligation 5.5% 5.8%
Discount rate—net periodic benefit cost 5.8% 5.8%
Expected return on plan assets 3.0% 2.0%
Rate of compensation increase —% —%

For information on the discount rate assumptions used for 
our postretirement plans, see discussion contained in Note 6 under
Pension Benefits.

We consider the same factors in determining and selecting our
assumptions for the overall expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets as those considered in determining and selecting the overall
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for our retirement
plans. For purposes of measuring our accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation, the assumed pre-Medicare and post-Medicare
health care inflation rates are as follows.

AGL Postretirement Plan

Pre-Medicare cost Post-Medicare cost

Assumed health care cost trend rates (pre–65 years old) (post–65 years old)

at December 31, 2005 2004 2005 2004

Health care costs trend 
assumed for next year 2.5% 11.3% 2.5% 11.3%

Rate to which the cost trend 
rate gradually declines 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%

Year that the rate reaches 
the ultimate trend rate N/A 2006 N/A 2006

NUI 

Assumed health care cost trend rates Postretirement Plan

at December 31, 2005 2004

Health care costs trend 
assumed for next year 2.5% 9.0%

Rate to which the cost trend 
rate gradually declines 2.5% 5.0%

Year that the rate reaches 
the ultimate trend rate N/A 2008

Effective January 2006, our health care cost trend rates for
both the AGL Postretirement and NUI Postretirement Plans have been
capped at 2.5%. This cap limits the increase in our contributions to
the annual change in the consumer price index (CPI). An annual CPI
rate of 2.5% was assumed for future years. 

Assumed health care cost trend rates impact the amounts
reported for our health care plans. A one-percentage-point change
in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have the follow-
ing effects for the AGL Postretirement Plan and the NUI Postretire-
ment Plan.
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AGL Postretirement Plan

One-percentage-point

In millions Increase Decrease

Effect on total of service 
and interest cost $— $—

Effect on accumulated 
postretirement benefit obligation 4 (3)

NUI Postretirement Plan

One-percentage-point

In millions Increase Decrease

Effect on total of service 
and interest cost $— $—

Effect on accumulated 
postretirement benefit obligation 2 (1)

The following table presents expected benefit payments cov-
ering the periods 2006 through 2015 for our qualified pension plans,
unqualified pension plans and postretirement health care plans. There
will be benefit payments under these plans beyond 2015.

For the year ended Dec. 31, (in millions) AGL Retirement Plan AGL Postretirement Plan

2006 $ 19 $ 6
2007 19 6
2008 19 6
2009 19 6
2010 19 6
2011–2015 105 31

For the year ended Dec. 31, (in millions) NUI Retirement Plan NUI Postretirement Plan

2006 $ 7 $1
2007 7 1
2008 7 1
2009 7 1
2010 8 1
2011–2015 45 5

Our investment policies and strategies for our postretirement
plans, including target allocation ranges, are similar to those for our
retirement plans. We fund the plans annually; retirees contribute 20%
of medical premiums, 50% of the medical premium for spousal cov-
erage and 100% of the dental premium. Our postretirement plans,
weighted average asset allocations for 2005 and 2004 and our target
asset allocation ranges are as follows.

Target asset

allocation ranges 2005 2004

Equity 40%–85% 52% 67%
Fixed income 25%–50% 46% 32%
Real estate and other 0%–10% 1% —%
Cash 0%–10% 1% 1%

Employee Savings Plan Benefits

We sponsor the Retirement Savings Plus Plan (RSP), a defined con-
tribution benefit plan that allows eligible participants to make contri-
butions to their accounts up to specified limits. Under the RSP, we
made matching contributions to participant accounts in the follow-
ing amounts:

▪ $5 million in 2005
▪ $5 million in 2004
▪ $4 million in 2003

We also sponsor the Nonqualified Savings Plan (NSP), an
unfunded, nonqualified plan similar to the RSP. The NSP provides
an opportunity for eligible employees who could reach the maximum
contribution amount in the RSP to contribute additional amounts 
for retirement savings. Our contributions to the NSP have not been
significant in any year.

Effective December 1, 2004, all NUI employees participating
in NUI’s qualified defined contribution benefit plan were eligible to
participate in the RSP, and those who were participants in NUI’s non-
qualified defined contribution plan became eligible to participate in
the NSP.
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7
Stock-based and Other Incentive 
Compensation Plans

Employee Stock-based Compensation Plans 
and Agreements

We currently sponsor the following stock-based compensation plans.

▪ The Long-Term Incentive Plan (1999) (LTIP) provides for grants of
incentive and nonqualified stock options, performance units and
shares of restricted stock to key employees. The LTIP authorizes the
issuance of up to 9.5 million shares of our common stock.

▪ A predecessor plan, the Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (LTSIP),
provides for grants of incentive and nonqualified stock options,
shares of restricted stock and stock appreciation rights to key
employees. Following shareholder approval of the LTIP, no further
grants have been made under the LTSIP.

▪ The Officer Incentive Plan (Officer Plan) provides for grants of non-
qualified stock options and shares of restricted stock to new-hire
officers. The Officer Plan authorizes the issuance of up to 600,000
shares of our common stock.

▪ Stock appreciation rights (SARs) have been granted to key employ-
ees under individual agreements that permit the holder to receive
cash in an amount equal to the difference between the fair market
value of a share of our common stock on the date of exercise and
the SAR base value. A total of 26,863 SARs were outstanding as of
December 31, 2005.

▪ The 1996 Non-Employee Directors Equity Compensation Plan
(Directors Plan) originally provided for the grant of nonqualified stock
options and shares of restricted stock to nonemployee directors
as payment of their annual retainer. In December 2002, the Direc-
tors Plan was amended to eliminate the granting of stock options.
As a result, the Directors Plan now provides solely for the issuance
of our common stock. The Directors Plan authorizes the issuance
of up to 200,000 shares of our common stock.

▪ The Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) is a nonqualified, broad-
based employee stock purchase plan for eligible employees. The
ESPP authorizes the issuance of up to 600,000 shares of our com-
mon stock.

Incentive and Nonqualified Stock Options

We grant incentive and nonqualified stock options at the fair market
value on the date of grant. The vesting of incentive options is subject
to a statutory limitation of $100,000 per year under Section 422A of
the Internal Revenue Code. Otherwise, nonqualified options generally
become fully exercisable not earlier than six months after the date 
of grant and generally expire 10 years after the date of grant. Partic-
ipants realize value from option grants only to the extent that the fair
market value of our common stock on the date of exercise of the
option exceeds the fair market value of the common stock on the
date of grant.

The following table summarizes activity related to grants of
stock options for key employees and nonemployee directors. 

Number of Weighted average

options exercise price

Outstanding—December 31, 2002 3,633,957 $20.55
Granted 939,262 26.76
Exercised (863,112) 20.08
Forfeited (199,137) 22.00
Outstanding—December 31, 2003 3,510,970 $22.25
Granted 103,900 29.72
Exercised (1,050,053) 20.90
Forfeited (390,745) 22.44
Outstanding—December 31, 2004 2,174,072 $23.23
Granted 1,014,121 33.80

Exercised (846,465) 22.60

Forfeited (120,483) 32.38

Outstanding—December 31, 2005 2,221,245 $27.79
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Summarized below are outstanding options that are fully 
exercisable.

Weighted average

Exercisable at: Number of options exercise price

December 31, 2003 2,154,877 $20.47
December 31, 2004 1,658,260 $22.04
December 31, 2005 1,275,689 $23.46

Our stock-based employee compensation plans are accounted
for under the recognition and measurement principles of APB 25 and
related interpretations. For our stock option plans, we generally do not
reflect stock-based employee compensation cost in net income, as
options for those plans had an exercise price equal to the market
value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. For our
SARs, we reflect stock-based employee compensation cost based
on the fair value of our common stock at the balance sheet date since
these awards constitute a variable plan under APB 25.

In accordance with the fair value method of determining com-
pensation expense, we used the Black-Scholes pricing model and the
estimates listed below for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003.

2005 2004 2003

Expected life (years) 7 7 7
Interest rate 4.0% 3.7% 3.8%
Volatility 17.3% 16.9% 19.2%
Dividend yield 3.7% 3.9% 4.2%
Fair value of options granted $4.70 $3.72 $3.75

The compensation costs that have been charged against
income for performance units, restricted stock and other stock-based
awards were $5 million in 2005, $7 million in 2004 and $8 million 
in 2003.

Stock Appreciation Rights

We have granted SARs, which are payable in cash, at fair market
value on the date of grant. SARs generally become fully exercisable
not earlier than 12 months after the date of grant and generally expire
six years after that date. Participants realize value from SAR grants
only to the extent that the fair market value of our common stock on
the date of exercise of the SAR exceeds the fair market value of the
common stock on the date of grant.

We recognize the intrinsic value of the SARs as compensation
expense over the vesting period. Compensation expense for 2005,

AGL Resources Inc.
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Information about outstanding and exercisable options as of December 31, 2005 is as follows.

Options outstanding Options exercisable

Weighted average remaining Weighted average Weighted average

Range of exercise prices Number of options contractual life (in years) exercise price Number of options exercise price

$13.75 to $17.49 2,199 4.0 $16.99 2,199 $16.99
$17.50 to $19.99 56,295 2.1 $18.82 56,295 $18.82
$20.00 to $24.10 714,623 4.3 $21.10 714,623 $21.10
$24.11 to $30.00 487,255 7.3 $27.00 454,840 $26.97
$30.01 to $34.00 792,052 8.8 $33.09 46,453 $31.00
$34.01 to $39.50 168,821 7.6 $36.65 1,279 $35.81
Outstanding—December 31, 2005 2,221,245 6.8 $27.79 1,275,689 $23.46
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2004 and 2003 was immaterial. The following table summarizes activ-
ity related to grants of SARs.

Weighted average 

Number of SARs exercise price

Outstanding as of December 31, 2002 141,253 $23.50
Issued 45,790 24.30
Exercised (17,718) 23.50
Forfeited (9,368) 23.99
Outstanding as of December 31, 2003 159,957 $23.70
Issued — —
Exercised (60,262) 23.70
Forfeited (72,832) 23.50
Outstanding as of December 31, 2004 26,863 $24.24
Issued — —

Exercised — —

Forfeited — —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2005 26,863 $24.24

Performance Units

In general, a performance unit is an award of the right to receive (i) an
equal number of shares of company common stock or (ii) cash, subject
to the achievement of certain pre-established performance criteria. Per-
formance units are subject to certain transfer restrictions and forfeiture
upon termination of employment. In January 2005, we granted
restricted stock units and performance cash units to a select group of
officers as described below.

Restricted Stock Units In general, a restricted stock unit is an
award that represents the opportunity to receive a specified number
of shares of our common stock, subject to the achievement of cer-
tain pre-established performance criteria.

In January 2005, we granted to a select group of officers a total
of 86,800 restricted stock units (the 2005 restricted stock units) under
the LTIP, of which 77,300 of these units were outstanding as of
December 31, 2005. The 2005 restricted stock units had a 12-month
performance measurement period related to management’s success
in integrating its acquisitions and generating improvement in earnings
from these acquired businesses. The performance measure was
achieved during 2005. On January 3, 2006, the 2005 restricted stock
units were converted to an equal number of shares of our common
stock and are now subject to time-based vesting.

Performance Cash Units In general, a performance cash unit 
is an award that represents the opportunity to receive a cash 
award, subject to the achievement of certain pre-established per-
formance criteria.

In January 2005, we granted performance cash units to a
select group of officers under the LTIP. The performance cash units
represent a maximum aggregate payout of $3 million. The perform-
ance cash units have a performance measurement period that ranges
from 12 to 36 months and a performance measure that relates to our
internal measure of total shareholder return. As of December 31,
2005, based on our anticipated performance, we had recorded a
liability of $2 million for these performance cash units. In addition, in
2005, we granted performance cash units to select executives that
were intended to recognize the executive’s promotion into key sen-
ior leadership roles and retain the executives.

At the end of the performance measurement period for the 
12-month performance cash units (December 31, 2005), the perform-
ance measure was achieved and in January 2006 an aggregate of
$743,680 was paid.

2002 Performance Unit Awards In February 2002, we granted to
a select group of officers a total of 1.5 million performance units with
a performance measurement period that ended December 31, 2004.
The amount actually earned was based on the highest average clos-
ing price of our common stock over any 10 consecutive trading days
during the performance measurement period and could range from a
minimum of 10% to 100% of the units granted. During a portion of the
performance measurement period, these units were eligible for divi-
dend credits based on vested performance units. Of the 1.5 million
units that were granted, 1 million units were eligible for vesting at
December 31, 2004. Upon vesting, at the election of the participant
the performance units were payable in shares of our common stock,
or up to 50% in cash.

These units were paid out as follows:

▪ $2.6 million paid in cash
▪ $2.8 million withheld to cover applicable taxes
▪ 35,342 shares of common stock with an approximate value of 

$1.2 million
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Stock and Restricted Stock Awards

In general, we refer to an award of our common stock that is subject
to time-based vesting or achievement of performance measures as
“restricted stock.” Restricted stock awards are subject to certain
transfer restrictions and forfeiture upon termination of employment.

Stock Awards Under the Directors Plan, each nonemployee direc-
tor receives an annual retainer that has an aggregate value of
$60,000. At the election of each director, the annual retainer is paid
in cash (with a $30,000 limit) and/or shares of our common stock or
is deferred and invested in common stock equivalents under the 1998
Common Stock Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors. Upon
initial election to our Board of Directors, each nonemployee director
receives 1,000 shares of common stock as of the first day of his or
her service. Shares issued under the Directors Plan are 100% vested
and nonforfeitable as of the date of grant.

Restricted Stock Awards In January 2005, we granted to a select
group of executive officers a total of 41,200 shares of restricted stock
under the LTIP, of which 34,200 shares were outstanding as of
December 31, 2005. The restricted stock awards had a 12-month
performance measurement period with a performance measure
related to management’s success in integrating its acquisitions and
generating improvement in earnings from these acquired businesses.
At the end of the performance measurement period (December 31,
2005), the performance measure was achieved, one-third of the
shares vested, and the balance is now subject to time-based vesting.
In addition, in 2005, we granted shares of restricted stock to select
executives that were intended to recognize the executive’s promotion
into key senior leadership roles and retain the executives.

We awarded shares of restricted stock to our key employees
and shares of company stock to our nonemployee directors, net of
forfeitures, in the following amounts:

20051 2004 2003

Employees 133,542 51,300 244,128
Nonemployee directors 7,621 8,727 12,152
Total 141,163 60,027 256,280
Weighted average fair value 

at year end $34.44 $32.45 $27.15
1 Includes 35,342 shares that were converted as a result of the 2002 performance units that vested.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the ESPP, employees may purchase shares of our common
stock in quarterly intervals at 85% of fair market value. Employee con-
tributions under the ESPP may not exceed $25,000 per employee
during any calendar year. As of December 31, 2005, our employees
had purchased a total of 40,927 shares leaving 485,819 shares avail-
able for purchase. The ESPP expires January 31, 2015.

2005 2004 2003

Shares purchased on 
the open market 40,927 35,789 24,871

Average per share 
purchase price $ 30.52 $ 25.20 $ 22.08

Purchase price discount $220,847 $159,144 $97,400

8
Common Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholder Rights Plan

On March 6, 1996, our Board of Directors adopted a Shareholder
Rights Plan. The plan contains provisions to protect our shareholders
in the event of unsolicited offers to acquire us or other takeover bids
and practices that could impair the ability of the Board of Directors to
fully represent shareholders’ interests. As required by the Shareholder
Rights Plan, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of one pre-
ferred share purchase right (a Right) for each outstanding share of our
common stock, with distribution made to shareholders of record on
March 22, 1996.

The Rights, which will expire March 6, 2006, are represented by
and traded with our common stock. The Rights are not currently exer-
cisable and do not become exercisable unless a triggering event
occurs. One of the triggering events is the acquisition of 10% or more
of our common stock by a person or group of affiliated or associated
persons (subject to certain exceptions). Unless previously redeemed,
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upon the occurrence of one of the specified triggering events, each
Right will entitle its holder to purchase one one-hundredth of a share
of Class A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at a purchase price of
$60. Each preferred share will have 100 votes, voting together with the
common stock. Because of the nature of the preferred shares’ divi-
dend, liquidation and voting rights, one one-hundredth of a share of
preferred stock is intended to have the value, rights and preferences
of one share of common stock. As of December 31, 2005, 1 million
shares of Class A Junior Participating Preferred Stock were reserved
for issuance under that plan.

Dividends

We derive a substantial portion of our consolidated assets, earnings
and cash flow from the operation of regulated utility subsidiaries,
whose legal authority to pay dividends or make other distributions to
us is subject to regulation. Our common shareholders may receive
dividends when declared at the discretion of our Board of Directors.
Dividends may be paid in cash, stock or other form of payment, and
payment of future dividends will depend on our future earnings, cash
flow, financial requirements and other factors, some of which are
noted below. In certain cases, our ability to pay dividends to our com-
mon shareholders is limited by the following:

▪ our ability to satisfy our obligations under certain financing agree-
ments, including debt-to-capitalization and total shareholders’
equity covenants

▪ our ability to satisfy our obligations to any preferred shareholders
▪ restrictions under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935,

as amended (PUHCA) on our payment of dividends out of capital or
unearned surplus without prior permission from the SEC (the
PUHCA is repealed effective February 8, 2006)

Additionally, under Georgia law, the payment of cash dividends
to the holders of our common stock is limited to our legally available
assets and subject to the prior payment of dividends on any out-
standing shares of preferred stock and junior preferred stock. Our

assets are not legally available for paying cash dividends if, after pay-
ment of the dividend,

▪ we could not pay our debts as they become due in the usual course
of business, or

▪ our total assets would be less than our total liabilities plus, subject to
some exceptions, any amounts necessary to satisfy (upon dissolu-
tion) the preferential rights of shareholders whose preferential rights
are superior to those of the shareholders receiving the dividends

The following table provides information on increases in our
quarterly common stock dividends over the last three years.

Quarterly Indicated 

Date % change dividend annual dividend

November 2005 19% $0.37 $1.48
February 2005 7 0.31 1.24
April 2004 4 0.29 1.16
April 2003 4 0.28 1.12

Share Repurchase Program

In February 2006, our Board of Directors authorized a plan to repur-
chase up to 8 million shares of our outstanding common stock over
a five-year period. These purchases are intended to principally offset
share issuances under our employee incentive compensation plans,
director plans, and dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plans.
Stock repurchases under this program may be made in the open
market or in private transactions at times and in amounts that we
deem appropriate. However, there is no guarantee as to the exact
number of additional shares that may be repurchased, and we may
terminate or limit the stock repurchase program at any time. We will
hold the repurchased shares as treasury shares.
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9
Debt

Our issuance of various securities, including long-term and short-term debt, is subject to customary approval or authorization by state and fed-
eral regulatory bodies, including state public service commissions, the SEC and the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC). On April 1,
2004, we received approval from the SEC, under the PUHCA, for the renewal of our financing authority to issue securities through April 2007. In
August 2005, the Energy Policy Act of 2005 (Energy Act) was enacted which repealed the PUHCA, effective February 8, 2006. The Energy Act
provided the FERC with granting of previous financing authorizations approvals that were previously required by the SEC under the PUHCA. The
following table provides more information on our various securities.

Outstanding as of:

Dollars in millions Year(s) due Interest rate1 Dec. 31, 2005 Dec. 31, 2004

Short-term debt

Commercial paper2 2006 4.5% $ 485 $ 314
SouthStar line of credit3 2006 7.3 36 —
Sequent line of credit4 2006 — — 18
Capital leases 2006 4.9 1 2

Total short-term debt5 4.8% $ 522 $ 334
Long-term debt—net of current portion

Medium-term notes 2012–2027 6.6–9.1% $ 208 $ 208
Senior notes 2011–2013 4.5–7.1 975 975
Gas facility revenue bonds, net of unamortized issuance costs 2022–2034 3.2–5.7 199 199
Notes payable to Trusts 2037–2041 8.0–8.2 232 232
Capital leases 2013 4.9 6 8
Interest rate swaps 2011 7.2 (5) 1

Total long-term debt5 6.1% $1,615 $1,623
Total debt5 5.8% $2,137 $1,957

1 As of December 31, 2005.
2 The daily weighted average interest rate was 3.6% for 2005 and 1.6% for 2004.
3 The daily weighted average interest rate was 6.8% for 2005.
4 The daily weighted average interest rate was 2.0% for 2004.
5 Weighted average interest rate, including interest rate swaps if applicable and excluding debt issuance and other financing-related costs.

Short-term Debt

Our short-term debt at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was composed of borrowings under our commercial paper program that consisted of short-
term, unsecured promissory notes with maturities ranging from 3 to 56 days; current portions of our capital lease obligations; SouthStar’s line of
credit; and Sequent’s line of credit.

Commercial Paper On August 30, 2005, we amended our Credit Facility that supports our commercial paper program. Under the terms of
the amendment, the aggregate principal amount available under the Credit Facility was increased from $750 million to $850 million and we have
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the option to increase the aggregate principal amount available 
for borrowing to $1.1 billion on not more than three occasions 
during each calendar year. The amended Credit Facility expires on
August 31, 2010.

SouthStar Line of Credit In April 2004, the SouthStar line of credit
was extended to April 2007. This line is collateralized by various 
percentages of eligible accounts receivable, unbilled revenue and
inventory of SouthStar. The base rate on the line is the prime rate
and/or LIBOR plus a margin based on certain financial measures. We
do not guarantee or provide any other form of security for the repay-
ment of any outstanding indebtedness.

Sequent Line of Credit In June 2005, Sequent’s $25 million unse-
cured line of credit was extended to July 2006. In September 2005,
Sequent entered into an additional $20 million unsecured line of credit
scheduled to expire in September 2006. These unsecured lines of
credit, which total $45 million and bear interest at the federal funds
effective rate plus 0.5%, are used solely for the posting of margin
deposits for New York Mercantile Exchange transactions and are
unconditionally guaranteed by AGL Resources.

Pivotal Utility Holdings Line of Credit In September 2005, 
Pivotal Utility entered into a $20 million unsecured line of credit expir-
ing on September 30, 2006. This line of credit supports Elizabethtown
Gas’ hedging program and bears interest at the federal funds effec-
tive rate plus 0.5%, is used solely for the posting of deposits and is
unconditionally guaranteed by us. For more information on Elizabeth-
town Gas’ hedging program, see Note 4.

Long-term Debt

Our long-term debt matures more than one year from the date of
issuance and consists of medium-term notes Series A, Series B and
Series C, which we issued under an indenture dated December 1,
1989; senior notes; gas facility revenue bonds; notes payable to
Trusts; and capital leases. The notes are unsecured and rank on par-
ity with all our other unsecured indebtedness. Our annual maturities
of long-term debt are as follows:

▪ $4 million in 2007–2010
▪ $1,611 million in 2011 and beyond

Senior Notes The following table provides more information on our
senior notes, which were issued to refinance portions of our existing

short-term debt and medium-term notes, to finance acquisitions and
for general corporate purposes.

Issue date Amount (in millions) Interest rate Maturity

February 2001 $300 7.125% January 2011
July 2003 225 4.45 April 2013
September 2004 250 6.0 October 2034
December 2004 200 4.95 January 2015

In March 2003, we entered into interest rate swaps of $100 mil-
lion to effectively convert a portion of the fixed-rate interest obligation
on the $300 million in Senior Notes Due 2011 to a variable-rate 
obligation. We pay floating interest each January 14 and July 14 at
six-month LIBOR plus 3.4%. The effective variable interest rate at
December 31, 2005 was 7.2%. These interest rate swaps expire 
January 14, 2011, unless terminated earlier. For more information
on our interest rate swaps, see Note 4.

The trustee with respect to all of the above-referenced senior
notes is the Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A. (Bank of New
York), pursuant to an indenture dated February 20, 2001. We fully and
unconditionally guarantee all our senior notes.

Gas Facility Revenue Bonds Pivotal Utility has $200 million of
indebtedness pursuant to gas facility revenue bonds. We do not guar-
antee or provide any other form of security for the repayment of this
indebtedness. Pivotal Utility is party to a series of loan agreements
with the New Jersey Economic Development Authority (NJEDA) pur-
suant to which the NJEDA has issued four series of gas facility rev-
enue bonds:

▪ $47 million of bonds at adjusting rates due October 1, 2022
▪ $20 million of bonds at adjusting rates due October 1, 2024
▪ $39 million of bonds at variable rates due June 1, 2026 

(variable bonds)
▪ $55 million of bonds at 5.7% due June 1, 2032
▪ $40 million of bonds at 5.25% due November 1, 2033

In April 2005, we refinanced $20 million of our Gas Facility Rev-
enue Bonds Due October 1, 2024. The original bonds had a fixed
interest rate of 6.4% per year and were refunded with $20 million of
adjustable-rate gas facility revenue bonds. The maturity date of these
bonds remains October 1, 2024. The new bonds were issued at an
initial annual interest rate of 2.8% and initially have a 35-day auction
period where the interest rate will adjust every 35 days. The interest
rate at December 31, 2005 was 3.3%.
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In May 2005, we refinanced an additional $47 million in Gas
Facility Revenue Bonds Due October 1, 2022 and bearing interest
at an annual fixed rate of 6.35%. The new bonds were issued at an
initial annual interest rate of 2.9% and initially have a 35-day auction
period where the interest rate will adjust every 35 days. The maturity
date remains October 1, 2022. The interest rate at December 31,
2005 was 3.2%.

The variable bonds contain a provision whereby the holder can
“put” the bonds back to the issuer. In 1996, Pivotal Utility executed
a long-term Standby Bond Purchase Agreement (SBPA) with a syn-
dicate of banks, which was amended and restated on June 1, 2005.
Under the terms of the SBPA, as further amended, the participating
banks are obligated under certain circumstances to purchase variable
bonds that are tendered by the holders thereof and not remarketed
by the remarketing agent. Such obligation of the participating banks
would remain in effect until the June 1, 2010 expiration of the SBPA,
unless it is extended or earlier terminated.

Notes Payable to Trusts In June 1997, we established AGL Cap-
ital Trust I (Trust I), a Delaware business trust, of which AGL
Resources owns all the common voting securities. Trust I issued and
sold $75 million of 8.17% capital securities (liquidation amount $1,000
per capital security) to certain initial investors. Trust I used the pro-
ceeds to purchase 8.17% junior subordinated deferrable interest
debentures issued by us. Trust I capital securities are subject to
mandatory redemption at the time of the repayment of the junior sub-
ordinated debentures on June 1, 2037, or the optional prepayment
by us after May 31, 2007.

In March 2001, we established AGL Capital Trust II (Trust II), a
Delaware business trust, of which AGL Capital owns all the common
voting securities. In May 2001, Trust II issued and sold $150 million of
8.00% capital securities (liquidation amount $25 per capital security).
Trust II used the proceeds to purchase 8.00% junior subordinated
deferrable interest debentures issued by us. The proceeds from the
issuance were used to refinance a portion of our existing short-term
debt under the commercial paper program. Trust II capital securities
are subject to mandatory redemption at the time of the repayment
of the junior subordinated debentures on May 15, 2041, or the
optional prepayment by AGL Capital after May 21, 2006. Additionally
we entered into interest rate swaps to effectively convert a portion of
the fixed-rate interest obligation on our notes payable to Trusts to a
variable-rate obligation. At the beginning of 2005, we had $75 million
of outstanding interest rate swap agreements associated with our

Note Payable at AGL Capital Trust II. On September 7, 2005, we ter-
minated these interest rate swap agreements. We received a payment
of $1 million related to this termination, which included accrued inter-
est and the fair value of these interest rate swap agreements at the
termination date.

The trustee is the Bank of New York with respect to the 8.17%
capital securities pursuant to an indenture dated June 11, 1997, and
with respect to the 8.00% capital securities pursuant to an indenture
dated May 21, 2001. We fully and unconditionally guarantee all our
Trust I and Trust II obligations for the capital securities.

Other Preferred Securities As of December 31, 2005, we had 
10 million shares of authorized, unissued Class A junior participating
preferred stock, no par value, and 10 million shares of authorized,
unissued preferred stock, no par value.

Capital Leases Our capital leases consist primarily of a sale/lease-
back transaction completed in 2002 by Florida City Gas related to
its gas meters and other equipment and will be repaid over 11 years.
Pursuant to the terms of the lease agreement, Florida City Gas is
required to insure the leased equipment during the lease term. In
addition, at the expiration of the lease term, Florida City Gas has the
option to purchase the leased meters from the lessor at their fair mar-
ket value.

Default Events

Our Credit Facility financial covenants and the PUHCA require us to
maintain a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than
70%. As of December 31, 2005 this ratio was 59%. Our debt instru-
ments and other financial obligations include provisions that, if not
complied with, could require early payment, additional collateral sup-
port or similar actions. Our most important default events include

▪ a maximum leverage ratio
▪ insolvency events and nonpayment of scheduled principal or inter-

est payments
▪ acceleration of other financial obligations
▪ change of control provisions

We do not have any trigger events in our debt instruments that
are tied to changes in our specified credit ratings or our stock price
and have not entered into any transaction that requires us to issue
equity based on credit ratings or other trigger events. We are currently
in compliance with all existing debt provisions and covenants.

AGL Resources Inc.
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10
Commitments and Contingencies

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

We have incurred various contractual obligations and financial commitments in the normal course of our operating and financing activities. Con-
tractual obligations include future cash payments required under existing contractual arrangements, such as debt and lease agreements. These
obligations may result from both general financing activities and from commercial arrangements that are directly supported by related revenue-
producing activities. We calculate any expected pension contributions using the projected unit credit cost method. Under this method, we were
not required to make any pension contribution in 2005, but we voluntarily made a $5 million contribution in August 2005. The following table illus-
trates our expected future contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2005.

Payments due before December 31,

In millions Total 2006 2007 & 2008 2009 & 2010 2011 & thereafter

Interest charges1 $1,870 $ 103 $201 $200 $1,366
Pipeline charges, storage capacity and gas supply2,3 1,766 285 515 411 555
Long-term debt4 1,615 — 2 2 1,611
Short-term debt 522 522 — — —
PRP costs5 265 30 72 95 68
Operating leases6 160 27 44 33 56
Commodity and transportation charges 129 30 19 14 66
Environmental remediation costs5 97 13 27 53 4

Total $6,424 $1,010 $880 $808 $3,726
1 Floating rate debt is based on the interest rate as of December 31, 2005 and the maturity of the underlying debt instrument.
2 Charges recoverable through a PGA mechanism or alternatively billed to Marketers. Also includes demand charges associated with Sequent.
3 A subsidiary of NUI entered into two 20-year agreements for the firm transportation and storage of natural gas during 2003 with aggregate annual demand charges of approximately $5 million. As a result of our acquisition

of NUI and in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” the contracts were valued at fair value. The $38 million currently allocated to accrued pipeline demand charges in our consolidated balance sheets

represents our estimate of the fair value of the acquired contracts. The liability will be amortized over the remaining life of the contracts.
4 Includes $232 million of notes payable to Trusts redeemable in 2006 and 2007.
5 Charges recoverable through rate rider mechanisms.
6 We have certain operating leases with provisions for step rent or escalation payments, or certain lease concessions. We account for these leases by recognizing the future minimum lease payments on a straight-line basis

over the respective minimum lease terms in accordance with SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases.” However, this accounting treatment does not affect the future annual operating lease cash obligations as shown herein.
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SouthStar has natural gas purchase commitments related to the
supply of minimum natural gas volumes to its customers. These com-
mitments are priced on an index plus premium basis. At December 31,
2005, SouthStar had obligations under these arrangements for 8 Bcf
for the year ending December 31, 2006. This obligation is not included
in the above table. SouthStar also had capacity commitments related
to the purchase of transportation rights on interstate pipelines.

We also have incurred various financial commitments in the
normal course of business. Contingent financial commitments rep-
resent obligations that become payable only if certain predefined
events occur, such as financial guarantees, and include the nature
of the guarantee and the maximum potential amount of future pay-
ments that could be required of us as the guarantor. The following
table illustrates our expected contingent financial commitments as of
December 31, 2005.

Commitments due

before December 31,

In millions Total 2006 2007 & thereafter

Standby letters of credit, 
performance/surety bonds $21 $21 $—

Rental Expense 

We incurred $26 million, $22 million and $22 million in rental expense
in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Litigation

We are involved in litigation arising in the normal course of business.
We believe the ultimate resolution of such litigation will not have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results
of operations or cash flows.

11
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of our
long-term debt including any current portions included in our consol-
idated balance sheets.

In millions Carrying amount Estimated fair value

As of December 31, 2005 $1,615 $1,784

As of December 31, 2004 1,623 1,816

The estimated fair values are determined based on interest
rates that are currently available for issuance of debt with similar terms
and remaining maturities. For the notes payable to Trusts, we used
quoted market prices and dividend rates for preferred stock with sim-
ilar terms.

Considerable judgment is required to develop the fair value esti-
mates; therefore, the values are not necessarily indicative of the
amounts that could be realized in a current market exchange. The fair
value estimates are based on information available to management
as of December 31, 2005. We are not aware of any subsequent fac-
tors that would significantly affect the estimated fair value amounts.
For more information about the fair values of our interest rate swaps,
see Note 4.

AGL Resources Inc.
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12
Income Taxes

We have two categories of income taxes in our statements of consol-
idated income: current and deferred. Current income tax expense
consists of federal and state income tax less applicable tax credits
related to the current year. Deferred income tax expense generally is
equal to the changes in the deferred income tax liability and regula-
tory tax liability during the year.

Investment Tax Credits

Deferred investment tax credits associated with distribution opera-
tions are included as a regulatory liability in our consolidated balance
sheets (see Note 5). These investment tax credits are being amortized
over the estimated life of the related properties as credits to income
in accordance with regulatory requirements. We reduce income tax
expense in our statements of consolidated income for the investment
tax credits and other tax credits associated with our nonregulated
subsidiaries. Components of income tax expense shown in the state-
ments of consolidated income are as follows.

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Current income taxes
Federal $ 84 $25 $20
State 18 1 13

Deferred income taxes
Federal 17 60 52
State — 5 3

Amortization of investment tax credits (2) (1) (1)
Total $117 $90 $87

The reconciliations between the statutory federal income tax
rate, the effective rate and the related amount of tax for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are presented below.

Dollars in millions Amount % of pretax income

2005

Computed tax expense at statutory rate $109 35.0%

State income tax, net of federal 
income tax benefit 11 3.7

Amortization of investment tax credits (2) (0.6)

Flexible dividend deduction (2) (0.6)

Other—net 1 0.2

Total income tax expense 
at effective rate $117 37.7%

2004

Computed tax expense at statutory rate $ 85 35.0%
State income tax, net of federal

income tax benefit 9 3.5
Amortization of investment tax credits (1) (0.6)
Flexible dividend deduction (2) (0.6)
Other—net (1) (0.2)

Total income tax expense 
at effective rate $ 90 37.1%

2003

Computed tax expense at statutory rate $ 78 35.0%
State income tax, net of federal 

income tax benefit 8 3.8
Amortization of investment tax credits (1) (0.6)
Flexible dividend deduction (1) (0.6)
Other—net 3 1.4

Total income tax expense 
at effective rate $ 87 39.0%
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Accumulated Deferred Income Tax Assets 
and Liabilities

We report some of our assets and liabilities differently for financial
accounting purposes than we do for income tax purposes. We report
the tax effects of the differences in those items as deferred income
tax assets or liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. We meas-
ure the assets and liabilities using income tax rates that are currently
in effect. Because of the regulated nature of the utilities business,
we recorded a regulatory tax liability in accordance with SFAS 
No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (SFAS 109), which we are
amortizing over approximately 30 years (see Note 5). Our deferred tax
assets include an additional pension liability of $37 million, which
increased $3 million from 2004 in accordance with SFAS 109 (see
Note 6).

As indicated in the table below, our deferred tax assets and 
liabilities include certain items we acquired from NUI. We have 
provided a valuation allowance for some of these items that reduces
our net deferred tax assets to amounts we believe are more likely than
not to be realized in future periods. With respect to our continuing

operations, we have net operating losses in various jurisdictions.
Components that give rise to the net accumulated deferred income
tax liability are as follows.

As of: 

December 31,

In millions 2005 2004

Accumulated deferred income tax liabilities

Property—accelerated depreciation and 
other property-related items $494 $323

Other 39 238
Total accumulated deferred 

income tax liabilities 533 561
Accumulated deferred income tax assets

Deferred investment tax credits 7 8
Deferred pension additional minimum liability 37 34
Net operating loss—NUI1 26 31
Net operating loss—Virginia Gas 

Distribution Company2 0 6
Capital loss carryforward3 4 5
Alternative minimum tax credit4 8 7
Other 37 41

Total accumulated deferred 
income tax assets 119 132

Valuation allowances5 (9) (8)
Total accumulated deferred 

income tax assets, net of 
valuation allowance 110 124

Net accumulated deferred tax liability $423 $437
1 Includes NUI’s federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $62 million that expire in 2024.
2 Includes Virginia Gas Distribution Company, which was sold in December 2005.
3 Expires December 31, 2007.
4 Generated by NUI and can be carried forward indefinitely to reduce future tax liability.
5 Increase to valuation allowance is primarily due to increase in net operating losses on NUI headquarters

that are not usable in New Jersey.
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13
Related Party Transactions

We previously recognized revenue and had accounts receivable from
our affiliate, SouthStar, as detailed in the table below. As a result of
our adoption of FIN 46R on January 1, 2004, we consolidated all
SouthStar’s accounts with our subsidiaries’ accounts and eliminated
any intercompany balances between segments.

In millions 2003

Recognized revenue $169
Accounts receivable 11

14
Segment Information

Prior to 2005, our business was organized into three operating seg-
ments based on similarities in economic characteristics, products and
services, types of customers, methods of distribution and regulatory
environments as well as the manner in which we manage these seg-
ments and our internal management information flows.

Beginning in 2005 we added an additional segment, retail
energy operations, which consists of the operations of SouthStar, our
retail gas marketing subsidiary that conducts business primarily in
Georgia. We added this segment as a result of the way management
views its operations and in consideration of the impact of our acqui-
sitions of NUI and Jefferson Island in the fourth quarter of 2004. The
addition of this segment also is consistent with our desire to provide
transparency and visibility to SouthStar on a stand-alone basis and to
provide additional visibility to the remaining businesses in the energy
investments segment, principally Pivotal Jefferson Island and Pivotal
Propane of Virginia, Inc. (Pivotal Propane), which are more closely
related in structure and operation.

We have recast the segment information for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003 in accordance with the guidance set
forth in SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Information,” as shown in the tables on pages 105–107.
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Our four operating segments are now as follows:

▪ Distribution operations consists primarily of

▪ Atlanta Gas Light

▪ Chattanooga Gas

▪ Elizabethtown Gas

▪ Elkton Gas

▪ Florida City Gas

▪ Virginia Natural Gas
▪ Retail energy operations consists of SouthStar
▪ Wholesale services consists of Sequent
▪ Energy investments consists primarily of

▪ AGL Networks, LLC

▪ Pivotal Jefferson Island

▪ Pivotal Propane

We treat corporate, our fifth segment, as a nonoperating busi-
ness segment, and it currently includes AGL Resources, AGL Services
Company, Pivotal Energy Development and the effect of intercompany
eliminations. We eliminated intersegment sales for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 from our statements of consoli-
dated income.

We evaluate segment performance based primarily on the non-
GAAP measure of earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT), which
includes the effects of corporate expense allocations. EBIT is a non-
GAAP measure that includes operating income, other income, equity
in SouthStar’s income in 2003, donations, minority interest in 2005
and 2004 and gains on sales of assets. Items that we do not include
in EBIT are financing costs, including interest and debt expense,
income taxes and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle, each of which we evaluate on a consolidated level. We
believe EBIT is a useful measurement of our performance because it
provides information that can be used to evaluate the effectiveness of
our businesses from an operational perspective, exclusive of the costs
to finance those activities and exclusive of income taxes, neither of
which is directly relevant to the efficiency of those operations.

You should not consider EBIT an alternative to, or a more
meaningful indicator of our operating performance than, operating
income or net income as determined in accordance with GAAP. In
addition, our EBIT may not be comparable to a similarly titled meas-
ure of another company. The reconciliations of EBIT to operating
income and net income for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 are presented below.

In millions 2005 2004 2003

Operating revenues $2,718 $1,832 $983
Operating expenses 2,276 1,500 741
Gain on sale of Caroline Street campus — — 16
Operating income 442 332 258
Other income (1) — 40
Minority interest (22) (18) —
EBIT 419 314 298
Interest expense 109 71 75
Earnings before income taxes 310 243 223
Income taxes 117 90 87
Income before cumulative effect 

of change in accounting principle 193 153 136
Cumulative effect of change 

in accounting principle — — (8)
Net income $ 193 $ 153 $128

AGL Resources Inc.
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Summarized income statement, balance sheet and capital expenditure information by segment as of and for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003 is shown in the following tables.

Distribution Retail energy Wholesale Energy Corporate and Consolidated 

In millions operations operations services investments intersegment eliminations AGL Resources

2005

Operating revenues from external parties $1,571 $996 $ 95 $ 56 $ — $2,718

Intersegment revenues1 182 — — — (182) —

Total revenues 1,753 996 95 56 (182) 2,718

Operating expenses
Cost of gas 939 850 3 16 (182) 1,626

Operation and maintenance 372 58 39 17 (9) 477

Depreciation and amortization 114 2 2 5 10 133

Taxes other than income taxes 32 1 1 1 5 40

Total operating expenses 1,457 911 45 39 (176) 2,276

Operating income (loss) 296 85 50 17 (6) 442

Minority interest — (22) — — — (22)

Other income (loss) 3 — (1) 2 (5) (1)

EBIT $ 299 $ 63 $ 49 $ 19 $ (11) $ 419

Identifiable assets $4,720 $342 $1,058 $350 $(219) $6,251

Investment in joint ventures — — — — — —

Total assets $4,720 $342 $1,058 $350 $(219) $6,251

Goodwill $ 408 $ — $ — $ 14 $ — $ 422

Capital expenditures $ 215 $ 4 $ 1 $ 9 $ 38 $ 267

AGL Resources Inc.



106

Distribution Retail energy Wholesale Energy Corporate and Consolidated 

In millions operations operations services investments intersegment eliminations AGL Resources

2004

Operating revenues from external parties $ 926 $827 $ 54 $ 25 $ — $1,832
Intersegment revenues1 185 — — — (185) —

Total revenues 1,111 827 54 25 (185) 1,832
Operating expenses

Cost of gas 471 695 1 12 (184) 995
Operation and maintenance 286 60 27 5 (1) 377
Depreciation and amortization 85 2 1 2 9 99
Taxes other than income taxes 23 — 1 1 4 29

Total operating expenses 865 757 30 20 (172) 1,500
Operating income (loss) 246 70 24 5 (13) 332
Earnings in equity interests — — — 2 — 2
Minority interest — (18) — — — (18)
Other income (loss) 1 — — — (3) (2)

EBIT $ 247 $ 52 $ 24 $ 7 $ (16) $ 314
Identifiable assets $4,383 $244 $ 696 $386 $ (86) $5,623
Investment in joint ventures — — — 235 (221) 14

Total assets $4,383 $244 $ 696 $621 $(307) $5,637
Goodwill $ 340 $ — $ — $ 14 $ — $ 354
Capital expenditures $ 205 $ 4 $ 8 $ 36 $ 11 $ 264
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Distribution Retail energy Wholesale Energy Corporate and Consolidated 

In millions operations operations services investments intersegment eliminations AGL Resources

2003

Operating revenues1 $ 936 $ — $ 41 $ 6 $ — $ 983
Operating expenses

Cost of gas 337 — 1 1 — 339
Operation and maintenance 261 — 20 9 (7) 283
Depreciation and amortization 81 — — 1 9 91
Taxes other than income taxes 24 — — — 4 28

Total operating expenses 703 — 21 11 6 741
Gain (loss) on sale of Caroline Street campus2 21 — — — (5) 16
Operating income (loss) 254 — 20 (5) (11) 258
Donation to private foundation (8) — — — — (8)
Earnings in equity interests — 46 — 2 — 48
Other income (loss) 1 — — — (1) —

EBIT $ 247 $ 46 $ 20 $ (3) $(12) $ 298
Identifiable assets $3,325 $ — $ 460 $ 90 $ 2 $3,877
Investment in joint ventures — 71 — 30 — 101

Total assets $3,325 $ 71 $ 460 $120 $ 2 $3,978
Goodwill $ 177 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 177
Capital expenditures $ 126 $ — $ 2 $ 8 $ 22 $ 158

AGL Resources Inc.

1 Intersegment revenues—Wholesale services records its energy marketing and risk management revenue

on a net basis. The following table provides detail of wholesale services’ total gross revenues and gross

sales to distribution operations.

Third-party gross Intersegment Total gross

In millions revenues revenues revenues

2005 $6,017 $792 $6,809

2004 4,378 369 4,747

2003 3,298 353 3,651

2 The gain before income taxes of $16 million on the sale of our Caroline Street campus was recorded as

operating income (loss) in two of our segments. A gain of $21 million on the sale of the land was recorded

in distribution operations and a write-off of $5 million on the buildings and their contents was recorded

in our corporate segment.
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15
Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Our quarterly financial data for 2005, 2004 and 2003 are summarized below. The variance in our quarterly earnings is the result of the seasonal
nature of our primary business.

In millions, except per share amounts March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2005

Operating revenues $ 908 $ 430 $ 387 $ 993

Operating income 181 66 54 141

Net income 88 24 15 66

Basic earnings per share 1.15 0.31 0.19 0.86

Fully diluted earnings per share 1.14 0.30 0.19 0.85

2004

Operating revenues $ 651 $ 294 $ 262 $ 625
Operating income 133 53 46 100
Net income 66 21 20 46
Basic earnings per share 1.02 0.34 0.31 0.64
Fully diluted earnings per share 1.00 0.33 0.31 0.64
2003

Operating revenues $ 353 $ 187 $ 166 $ 277
Operating income 101 41 58 58
Income before cumulative effect of change 

in accounting principle 60 19 22 35
Net income 52 19 22 35
Basic earnings per share before cumulative change 

in accounting principle 0.99 0.30 0.35 0.54
Basic earnings per share 0.86 0.30 0.35 0.54
Fully diluted earnings per share before cumulative change 

in accounting principle 0.98 0.29 0.34 0.54
Fully diluted earnings per share 0.85 0.29 0.34 0.54

Our basic and fully diluted earnings per common share are calculated based on the weighted daily average number of common shares and
common share equivalents outstanding during the quarter. Those totals differ from the basic and fully diluted earnings per share shown in the
statements of consolidated income, which are based on the weighted average number of common shares and common share equivalents out-
standing during the entire year.
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Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining ade-
quate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based
on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Com-
mission (COSO).

Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal 

Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effec-
tive as of December 31, 2005 in providing reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the prepara-
tion of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. Our manage-
ment’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report. 

February 6, 2006

D. Raymond Riddle
Interim Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Andrew W. Evans
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders 
of AGL Resources Inc.:

We have completed integrated audits of AGL Resources Inc.’s 2005
and 2004 consolidated financial statements and of its internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 and an audit of its
2003 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the stan-
dards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Our opinions on AGL Resources Inc.’s 2005, 2004, and 2003
consolidated financial statements and on its internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on our audits and
the reports of other auditors, are presented below.

Consolidated Financial Statements 

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors,
the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of AGL Resources Inc. and its sub-
sidiaries at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America.These finan-
cial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial state-
ments based on our audits. We did not audit the 2004 and 2003
financial statements of SouthStar Energy Services LLC, a joint ven-
ture in which a subsidiary of the Company has a non-controlling 70%
financial interest, which statements reflect total assets of $243 mil-
lion as of December 31, 2004 and total revenues of $827 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. The Company’s equity in earn-
ings in SouthStar Energy Services LLC was $46 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003. Those statements were audited by other
auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to us, and our
opinion expressed herein, insofar as it relates to the amounts included
for SouthStar Energy Services LLC., is based solely on the report of
the other auditors. We conducted our audits of these statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of
financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits and the report of other audi-
tors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, AGL Resources Inc. and subsidiaries changed its method of
accounting for realized gains and losses on derivative energy com-
modity contracts as of January 1, 2003, and its method of account-
ing for variable interest entities as of January 1, 2004. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Manage-
ment’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing
on page 109 of AGL Resources Inc. Annual Report to Shareholders,
that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is
fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Further-
more, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal 

Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Com-
pany’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effective-
ness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effective-
ness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial
reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over
financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assess-
ment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we 
consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

AGL Resources Inc.
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial state-
ments for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and 
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detec-
tion of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finan-
cial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projec-
tions of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 6, 2006

The Executive Committee and Members
SouthStar Energy Services LLC

We have audited the balance sheet of SouthStar Energy Services LLC
as of December 31, 2004, and the related statements of income,
changes in members’ capital, and cash flow for each of the two years
in the period ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the finan-
cial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting prin-
ciples used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above pre-
sent fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of SouthStar
Energy Services LLC at December 31, 2004, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period
ended December 31, 2004 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. 

Atlanta, Georgia 
February 4, 2005
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Corporate Headquarters
AGL Resources Inc., Ten Peachtree Place, N.E., Atlanta, GA 30309;
404-584-4000; website: aglresources.com.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare serves as our transfer agent and registrar and can
help with a variety of stock-related matters, including name and
address changes; transfer of stock ownership; lost certificates; and
Form 1099s.

Inquiries may be directed to: AGL Resources Shareholder 
Services, c/o Computershare Trust Company, N.A., P.O. Box 43010,
Providence, RI 02190-3010; toll-free 800-633-4236; website: 
www-us.computershare.com.

Available Information
A copy of this Annual Report, as well as our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K, other reports that we file with or furnish to the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC) and our recent news releases 
are available free of charge at our website aglresources.com as soon
as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such reports 
with, or furnish such reports to, the SEC. These reports and news
releases are also available through a toll-free interactive shareholder
information line at 877-ATG-NYSE (877-284-6973). The information
contained on our website does not constitute incorporation by refer-
ence of the information contained on the website and should not be
considered part of this document.

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K includes the certifications 
of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by
Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Addition-
ally, we will file with the New York Stock Exchange, as required, the
certification by our chief executive officer that he is not aware of any
violation of New York Stock Exchange corporate governance listing
standards following the 2006 Annual Shareholder Meeting.

Our corporate governance guidelines; our code of ethics; our
code of business conduct; and the charters of our Board committees
are available on our website.

The above information will also be furnished free of charge
upon written request to our Investor Relations department at: 
AGL Resources, Investor Relations, Dept. 1071, Ten Peachtree Place,
N.E., Atlanta, GA 30309; 404-584-3801.

Institutional Investor Inquiries
Institutional investors and securities analysts should direct inquiries to:
Steve Cave, Director, Investor Relations, c/o AGL Resources, Investor
Relations, Dept. 1071, Ten Peachtree Place, N.E., Atlanta, GA 30309;
404-584-3801; scave@aglresources.com.

Annual Meeting
The 2006 annual meeting of shareholders will be held Wednesday,
May 3, 2006, at Twelve Hotel Atlantic Station (17th and State Streets,
N.W.), Atlanta, Georgia 30363.

ResourcesDIRECT™ 
New investors may make an initial investment, and shareholders of
record may acquire additional shares of our common stock, through
ResourcesDIRECT™ without paying brokerage fees or service
charges. Initial cash investments, quarterly cash dividends and/or
optional cash purchases may be invested through the plan, subject
to certain requirements. To obtain a copy of the plan prospectus and
enrollment materials, contact our transfer agent, call our toll-free inter-
active shareholder line at 877-ATG-NYSE (877-284-6973) or visit our
website at aglresources.com.

Stock Price and Dividend Information
Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under
the symbol ATG. At January 31, 2006, there were approximately
10,979 record holders of our common stock. Quarterly information
concerning our high and low prices and cash dividends that we paid
in 2005 and 2004 is as follows:

2005 

Sales price of common stock Cash dividend per

Quarter ended High Low common share

March 31, 2005 $36.09 $32.00 $0.31
June 30, 2005 38.89 33.37 $0.31
September 30, 2005 39.32 35.29 $0.31
December 31, 2005 37.54 32.23 $0.37

2004

Sales price of common stock Cash dividend per

Quarter ended High Low common share

March 31, 2004 $30.63 $27.87 $0.28
June 30, 2004 29.41 26.50 $0.29
September 30, 2004 31.27 28.60 $0.29
December 31, 2004 33.65 30.11 $0.29

We pay dividends four times a year: March 1, June 1, Septem-
ber 1 and December 1. We have paid 233 consecutive quarterly div-
idends beginning in 1948. Dividends are declared at the discretion
of our Board of Directors, and future dividends will depend on our
future earnings, cash flow, financial requirements and other factors.
In February 2005, we increased the quarterly dividend to $0.31 per
common share and in November of 2005, it was increased to $0.37
per common share.

Preferred Securities
Our preferred securities are listed and traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the ticker symbol ATG_P.
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Board of Directors
Wyck A. Knox, Jr.4*,5,6

Partner

Kilpatrick Stockton LLP

Augusta, GA

Director since 1998

Michael J. Durham1*,4

Founder, President and

Chief Executive Officer

Cognizant Associates, Inc.

Dallas, TX

Director since 2003

Henry C. Wolf 1,4

Vice Chairman and

Chief Financial Officer

Norfolk Southern Corporation

Norfolk, VA

Director since 2004

Thomas D. Bell, Jr.2,7

Vice Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Officer

Cousins Properties Incorporated

Atlanta, GA

Director since 2004

Bettina M. Whyte 2,3,7

Managing Director

AlixPartners, LLC

New York, NY

Director since 2004

James A. Rubright2,3,5,6*

Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

Rock-Tenn Company

Norcross, GA

Director since 2001

Felker W. Ward, Jr.5*,6,7*

Managing Member

Pinnacle Investment Advisors, LLC

Union City, GA

Director since 1988

Charles R. Crisp3*,6,7

Former President, Chief Executive

Officer and Director

Coral Energy, a subsidiary of Shell Oil Company

Houston, TX

Director since 2003

Dennis M. Love1,7

President and Chief Executive Officer

Printpack Inc.

Atlanta, GA

Director since 1999

D. Raymond Riddle†,5

Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

National Service Industries, Inc.

Atlanta, GA

Director since 1978

Arthur E. Johnson2*,4

Senior Vice President

Lockheed Martin Corporation

Bethesda, MD

Director since 2002

Dean R. O’Hare4,6

Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chubb Corporation

Warren, NJ

Director since 2005

John W. Somerhalder II

President and Chief Executive Officer

AGL Resources Inc.

Atlanta, GA

Director since 2006

* Committee chair
† Chairman of the Board
1 Audit
2 Compensation and Management Development
3 Corporate Development
4 Environmental and Corporate Responsibility
5 Executive
6 Finance and Risk Management
7 Nominating and Corporate Governance

All members of the Audit, Compensation and Management Development, 
and Nominating and Corporate Governance committees are “independent” 
as defined under applicable rules and regulations. 

Executive Officers
John W. Somerhalder II, President and Chief Executive Officer

Kevin P. Madden, Executive Vice President, External Affairs

R. Eric Martinez, Jr., Executive Vice President, Utility Operations

Paul R. Shlanta, Executive Vice President, General Counsel and 

Chief Ethics and Compliance Officer

Andrew W. Evans, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Melanie M. Platt, Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Directors and Officers
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